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ne CNUbp Lorporation

In 1882, Thomas Caldecot Chubb and his son Percy
opened a marine underwriting business in the

seaport district of New York City. The Chubbs were

adept at turning risk into success, often by helping
policyholders prevent disasters before they occurred. By the turn of the
century, Chubb had established strong relationships with the insurance
agents and brokers who placed their clients’ business with Chubb
underwriters.

“Never compromise integrity,” a Chubb principle, captures the spirit of
our companies. Each member of the Chubb organization seeks to stand
apart by bringing quality, fairness and integrity to each transaction.

The Chubb Corporation was formed in 1967 and was listed on the
New York Stock Exchange in 1984. Today, Chubb stands among the
largest property and casualty insurers in the United States and the world.
Chubb’s 12,300 employees serve customers from offices throughout North
America, Europe, South America and the Pacific Rim.

The principles of financial stability, product innovation and excellent
service combined with the high caliber of our employees are the mainstays

of our organization.
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John D. Finnegan, Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Dear Fellow Shareholder:

[ am plessed to report that 2003 was an outstanding year of
achievement for Chubb, with record earnings per share. Moreover,
Chubb’s stock price reflected our strong operating performance, with the

value of Chubb shares increasing by more than 30% during the vear.

Let me summarize Chubb’s 2003 highlights. Net written premiums

grew 22% to $11.1 billion, and earned premiums were up 26% to

$10.2 billion. This marked the first time in Chubb's history that our 2003 Business Mix
by Net Written Premiums
. . . 1. ($ in billions)
annual earned and written premiums passed the milestone of $10 billion.
Commercial Perscnal
Insurance Insurance

Net income grew to $4.46 per share from $1.29 per share in 2002. $4.1 $2.6

Operating income, which we define as net income excluding realized
investment gains and losses, grew to a record $4.16 per share, up from
$1.16 per share in 2002. These record per-share earnings reflected a
continued favorable insurance environment, combined with far greater

focus and execution in Chubb’s core property and casualty businesses.

Specialty
) i ) i Insurance
Equally important, we took a number of actions that resulted in our ending $4.4




Record per-share

earnings reflected a
continued favorable
insurance environment,
combined with far greater
focus and execution in
Chubb'’s core property

and casualty businesses.
Equally important, we
took a number of actions
that resulted in our ending
2003 with considerably
fewer troubling
uncertainties than were
hanging over us at the

onset of the year.

2003 with considerably fewer troubling uncertainties than were hanging

over us at the onset of the year.

Chubb Commercial Insurance (CCI) was our standout performer in
2003. CCI grew its net written premiums by 21% and produced an
outstanding combined ratio of 89.2%, a 3.9 percentage point improvement
over 2002, excluding asbestos and environmental (A&E) charges in both.
years. Including the A&E charges, the combined ratio was 95.9% in 2003
and 118.6% in 2002. CCI wrote $1.2 billion of new business worldwide

in 2003.

CCI’s continued excellent performance represents the culmination
of actions initiated in the soft market of the late 1990’s. At that time,
following unacceptable loss experience, we began re-underwriting our
book of business. We exited historically foss-prone segments of business,
and for those we continued to write, we raised rates and tightened terms
and conditions. All of this seems easy now, but these actions were taken
with great risk of losing business at the time. However, we stayed the

course, and as a result today we have a bigger and far stronger CCI.

For Chubb Specialty Insurance (CSI), financial results were affected
by unfavorable developments in our Executive Protection (EP) and
Financial Institutions (FI) lines related to claims occurring before 2003.
The adverse development was due in large part to directors & officers and
errors & omissions claims related to corporate failures and allegations of

management misconduct and accounting irregularities in recent years.

In response to these problems, we have substantially increased rates,
walked away from some of the most loss-prone segments of our business,

lowered limits, and tightened terms and conditions. As a result, we believe




the EP and F1 business we are currently putting on the books should be Two examples of our
profitable, as it realizes the benefits of these higher rates, lower limits and sharpened focus were our
improved coatractual terms. restructuring of operations
on Continental Europe and

Overall, CSI premiums grew 31% in 2003, and the combined ratio
' ' our exit from the credit

was 100.0%. Our unfavorable results in EP and FI were offset by earnings
in our other specialty lines. Notably, Chubb Re had a spectacular year, derivatives business. !
doubling premiums to $984 million and producing a combined ratio of

93.5%.

Chubb Personal Insurance (CPI) produced premium growth of 12%
and had a combined ratio of 98.2%, including 7.9 points of catastrophe
losses. Excluding catastrophe losses in both years, CPI’'s combined ratio
improved 5.4 points over 2002. To curb mold losses resulting from water

damage, we have instituted exclusions or sublimits for mold and are

charging higher premiums for mold coverage.

Chubb also benefited in 2003 from a turnaround in our overseas
operations. Canada had a record year, and our Asia Pacific and Latin
American operations were profitable. Most importantly, Chubb Europe
enjoyed a dramatic turnaround, becoming a substantial profit contributor

after five successive years of underwriting losses.

Earlﬂr in 2003, we decided to exit the personal lines business on the
Continent and concentrate on our profitable personal lines business in
the United Kingdom and in Ireland. This facilitated a comprehensive
restructuring in Europe, which involved consolidating some branches and |

trimming bzck our work force.

In Apri! 2003, I announced that we would exit the credit derivatives

_business of Chubb Financial Solutions (CFS) and run off its portfolio. CFS {




The Chubb organization

in 2003 demonstrated a
new vigor in execution by
maintaining underwriting
discipline in a heightened
competitive.environment
and by achieving significant
gains in expense

management.

From left: John J. Degnan, Vice Chairman and Chief Administrative Officer; Thomas F. Motamed,
Vice Chairman and Chief Operating Officer; and Michael O'Reilly, Vice Chairman and Chief
Financial Officer.

consumed capital and management resources that could be more profitably
deployed in our core property and casualty insurance businesses. Over the
past few quarters, we have made great progress in running off the CFS
portfolio. From a peak level of $43 billion as of mid-year 2003, we have

reduced our notional exposure to $21 billion as of the end of February 2004.

The Chubb organization in 2003 demonstrated a new vigor in
execution by maintaining underwriting discipline in a heightened
competitive environment. Everyone in the Chubb organization is now

focused on enhancing the bottom line through disciplined underwriting.

In addition to our underwriting initiatives, we achieved significant
gains in expense management by enhancing our focus on the cost side of
the business. This resulted in substantial productivity increases, as we
reduced the size of our core insurance operations work force by 5% while

continuing to grow the business. Our expense ratio improved to 30.4%

from 31.3% in 2002 and fell below 30% in the fourth quarter.




The financial impact of our emphasis on focus and execution is seen
in our results for 2003. Our combined ratio of 95.5% was 2 percentage
points better than in 2002, excluding A&E charges in both years.
Including the A&E charges, the combined ratio was 98.0% in 2003 and
106.7% in 2002.

During 2003 we also took several actions to reduce risk.

Our gross losses from the September 11, 2001 attack on the World

Trade Center were about $3.2 billion, but because we had more than

$2.5 billion of reinsurance, we announced in 2001 that we estimated our
net cost would be approximately $645 million. As we announced in 2002,
certain of our reinsurers questioned the interpretation and/or application
of some provisions of our property per risk reinsurance agreements as they
related to September 11th claims. Early in 2003, we reached agreements
with all of our reinsurers, enabling us to reaffirm our net cost estimate of

$645 million.

Regarding CFS, we reached an agreement that replaces our
$3.9 billion of notional exposure on two troubled credit default swaps
with a new principal and interest guarantee that caps our exposure at
$500 million, while also postponing by several years the dates of any
potential payments we might have to make. This agreement entailed a

net cost of $96 million, reducing our 2003 earnings per share by 34 cents.

The substantial progress in our core businesses in 2003 was partly
offset by the cost of strengthening our asbestos reserves for the second
consecutive year. When we took $700 million of asbestos and
environmental reserve strengthening charges in the second half of 2002,

we thought we had put the problem behind us. After a review in late 2003

The substantial progress
evident in our core
businesses in 2003 was
partly offset by the cost of
strengthening our asbestos
reserves for the second

consecutive year.




The outlook for 2004

is good, and we're
expecting another year
of progress and record
earnings. We are deter-
mined to translate the
value of the Chubb
franchise into sustained
profitability and rewards

for our shareholders.

of our reserve needs based on the most recent data available, we
strengthened our asbestos reserves by $250 million, reducing our operating

income per share by 90 cents.

During the year, we strengthened our capital position by completing
two successful offerings totaling $1.8 billion of equity and debt, bringing
our 2003 year-end debt-to-total-capital ratio to 24.8%. If we treat the
equity units sold in 2002 and 2003 as equity (as most rating agencies do),
the ratio was 15.5%. We now have the capital we need to take advantage

of growth opportunities over the next several years.

Although insurance rates are increasing at a slower pace than they
were a year ago, they are still increasing. The outlook for 2004 is good,
and we're expecting another year of progress and record earnings. We are
determined to translate the value of the Chubb franchise into sustained

profitability and rewards for our shareholders.

[ am grateful for the warm welcome and support I have enjoyed
over my first full year at Chubb from employees, customers, producers,
shareholders and our Board of Directors. I am especially grateful to our
lead director, Joel ]J. Cohen, for his wisdom, support and encouragement

during the period he served as Chairman of the Board.

D Fivmgpoc

John D. Finnegan
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

March 5, 2004



Translating the Chubb Brand into Shareholder Value

Vlue creation is the goal of
all business enterprises. At
Chubb, we believe that the best
way to create value for our
shareholders is to differentiate our
services on the basis of quality,
consistency and integrity. In a
business like ours, where the
value of the product is fully
appreciated only after the buyer
suffers a loss, a strong brand
cannot be created overnight. It
must be developed, proven and
reinforced over time — customer
by customert, claim by claim — by
employees who believe that
customers have a right to expect
more from a company like ours.
We also believe that financial
strength and brand strength are
closely linked. While Chubb has
long been known for sustained
financial strength, we were
particularly pleased that of the
15 property and casualty insurers
recently recognized by A.M. Best
for sustaining ratings of A+ or
higher for half a century, three
were members of the Chubb
Group: Federal Insurance
Company, Great Northern
Insurance Company and Vigilant

Insurance Company.

Our message to customers is
simple: we are a company of
specialists, backed by financial
strength, who will help protect
what you value and settle your
claims with speed, fairness and
compassion. Because we
continually find new ways to
distinguish our service from that
of our competitors, this simple
message continues to resonate
with our customers throughout
the world.

Profiled on the following
pages are eight customers who
have experienced first-hand what
the Chubb brand signifies. “The
best claim service” are the words
most often used by customers,
agents and brokers when describ-
ing their experience with Chubb,
and for good reason. Whether a
field underwriter, a loss control
manager, a claims adjuster or a
service representative, each of us
at Chubb embraces our responsi-
bility for perpetuating and
enhancing the distinct value of
the Chubb brand. By safeguarding
our customers’ interests with
premier products and unparalleled
service, we are able to command a
fair price, earn a profit and create

value for our shareholders.

We believe that the best
way to create value for

our shareholders is to
differentiate our service
from that of our
competitors.... We will
help protect what you
value and settle your claims
with speed, fairness and

compassion.
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rinity Health has a rich

tradition of serving those in
need. The nation’s third-largest
Catholic health care system was
founded by nuns who treated Civil
War wounded and aided the poor
and the sick in the 19th century.
This tradition still thrives
throughout its 45 hospitals and

" numerous outpatient facilities,

long-term care facilities, home
health offices and hospice
programs in seven states. Its vision
— to set the standard for health
systems of the 21st century —
is pursued with passion by its
caregivers, staff members,
physicians and leadership. “Our
tradition has been one of meeting
community needs and accepting
the inherent risks of change while
remaining centered in faith and
hope,” explains Rebecca Havlisch,
Trinity’s Vice President, Insurance
and Risk Management Services.
“Chubb’s willingness to tailor loss
control services and training to our
needs helps us control those risks
so we can focus on delivering high
quality patient care that is both
compassionate and safe.”

Photo: At St. Joseph Mercy Hospital in
Ypsilanti, Michigan are (left to right)
Rebecca Havlisch, Vice President,
Insurance and Risk Management
Services; Jonathan Chambers, Chubb’s
Property Underwriter in Hartford,
Connecticut; and Stephanie Large,
Financial Manager of Insurance
Operations at Insurance and Risk
Management Services.
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The Culinary Institute
of America

ow housed in a former Jesuit

seminary overlooking the
Hudson River in New York, The
Culinary Institute of America has
prepared more than 35,000
students to enter the food service
industry since first opening its
doors in 1946. Back then, the
Institute functioned as a training
school for

World War
I veterars,
featuring
instruction
in basic food
preparation
and menu
planning. In

Mary Jo Retz, Senior response to
Underwriter, and James increased

Bohren, Loss Control d

o . emand from
Specialist, both in Chubb’s
Westchester, New York office. the fOOd

service

industry for well-rounded
culinarians, the college has
evolved to offer both bachelor’s
and associate degrees. Their
programs emphasize progressive,
professional, hands-on learning in
the college’s kitchens, bakeshops
and restaurants. Chubb likewise
understands the value of keeping
pace with the changing needs of
growing customers. “Chubb and
the Institute are partners who
understand that providing
customers with a level of service
beyond the expected will build
long-term loyalty and consistent
results,” says Charles O'Mara,
Senior Vice President of Finance
and Administration at the
Institute. “A shared commitment
to excellence is what solidifies our
relationship.”

Photo: At The Culinary Institute of
America’s (CIA) main campus in Hyde
Park, New York are (left to right) Charles
O'Mara, CFO, ClA; Chef Martin Frei,
Associate Professor, CIA, Richard Cullen,
Director of Safety, CIA; and James
Wellock, Vice President and Branch
Manager, Marshall & Sterfing Insurance.
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Wen asked to sum up the
value that Chubb provides

his company, Eric Bloem,
Heineken’s Corporate Risk
Manager, is quick to answer.
“Chubb works with us as a team
to resolve claim matters swiftly; in
the process, they also help support
our number one objective: to
protect the Heineken brand
name.” Headquartered in
Amsterdam, the world’s largest
beer exporter can trace its roots to
Gerard Heineken'’s purchase of a
16th century Dutch brewery.
While it remains a family business
today, the multinational Heineken
company was already going global
in 1931 when it expanded its
brewery and distribution opera-
tions into the Asia Pacific region.
Today, the company’s improve-
ments in technology and brewing
techniques have boosted produc-
tion to more than one billion liters
annually, enabling Heineken to
keep pace with demand for the
world’s most recognized inter-
national beer brand. Long popular
in the United States, the first
shipment of Heineken beer was
unloaded at the port in Hoboken,
New Jersey just three days after the
end of Prohibition. It remains one
of America’s top imported beer
brands today.

Photo: Gathered at Heineken's original
brewery in Amsterdam are (left to right)
Monigue Kooijman, Chubb’s
Commercial insurance Manager in
Amsterdam; Marjanvan der Burg, Aon;
and Eric Bloem, Heineken's Corporate
Risk Manager.

10
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Limitedqd oo

00, Inc. recognized an under-

served retail market early on
and made it their mission not just
to capture it, but to define it. A
Chubb customer since 2000, this
spin-off of The Limited Inc. is a
leading retailer of apparel, lifestyle
and personal care products for
fashion-aware, trend-setting girls
ages 7 to 14 years. A visit to one of
Limited Too's retail locations
leaves no doubt that the company
knows its customer; as their
marketing literature declares, “It’s
all about girls!” In addition to its
over 500 specialty stores located in
malls throughout the United
States and in Puerto Rico, Too
attracts its 'tween customers
through an innovative “catazine”
(part catalog and part magazine)
and an online store. In recent
years, a strong brand identity and
right-on merchandise mix have
fueled substantial growth for this
customer savvy company, and
Chubb has kept pace every step of
the way. Says Kurt Gatterdam, Too
Inc.’s Manager, Treasury & Risk
Management, “Chubb has
consistently lived up to its
reputation by demonstrating
expertise, reliability and flexibility
in developing creative solutions to
our issues.”

Photo: At a Limited Too location in
Columbus, Ohio are (left to right) Paity
Payton, Account Executive, The Hylant
Group, Kurt Gatterdam, Manager,
Treasury & Risk Management, Too, and
David Corry, Chubb’s Regional Casualty
Manager in Cincinnati, Ohio.
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Tom Bales and
Connie Ryan

11,

ur home represents not

only a sizable portion of
our assets,” says Tom Bales, “but
also a significant investment in
planning and building a living
space that is uniquely ours. We
need to be confident that we will
be made whole if anything
happens to it.” The contemporary
home of Tom Bales and Connie
Ryan is indeed a one-of-a-kind
residence that reflects the passions
and priorities of this Florida
couple and their three young
children. Mr. Bales, an MIT
graduate and mechanical engineer,
knew from the start that the
design for his family’s dream home
needed to include a home theater,
a two-story library, workshops and
laboratories, a sewing room for
Connie and plenty of play space
for the children. Named “Star
House,” its crowning glory is a
rotating observatory that looks out
onto water from three sides and is
topped by a 14-foot copper domre.
Enhancing an interior constructed
of materials that include blue
pearl granite, marble, Brazilian
cherry, cypress and inlaid brass are
exquisite collections of art glass
and grandfather clocks. “Star
House — and its owners — are
truly special,” says Sherry Greene,
Vice President of Hilb Rogal &
Hobbs’s South Florida office,
who recommended Chubb’s
Masterpiece® program to the couple
in 1992. “Chubb was able to
respond to unusual and complex
coverage needs while providing -
the peace of mind, flexibility and
control that Tom and Connie
were looking for.”

13
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ounded in a lower Manhattan

loft in 1853, Steinway & Sons
has been handcrafting fine pianos
for more than 150 years. Re-
nowned for their incomparable
sound, Steinway pianos have been
the choice of distinguished concert
artists past and present, including
Sergei Rachmaninoff, George
Gershwin, Vladimir Horowitz,
Van Cliburn, Billy Joel and Harry
Connick, Jr. Now a multinational
organization with manufacturing
facilities in the United States and
Europe, the company depends on
Chubb for a well-designed
insurance program which, like a
Steinway, is built to exacting
specifications. Says Dennis
Hanson, Steinway’s Chief
Financial Officer, “Chubb’s
flexibility in underwriting, global
capabilities and superior financial
rating meet the uncompromising
standards of excellence that
govern all of Steinway’s business
practices.” As another team of
specialists steeped in tradition,
Chubb takes great pride in earning
the trust of this best-in-class
company.

Photo: At Steinway’s manufacturing
facility in Astoria, New York are (left

to right) Dennis Hanson, Chief Financial
Officer, Steinway & Sons; Ben Rockwel],
Chubb’s Risk Management Practice
Leader for Michigan, and Lynn Jekkals,
Director, Aon Risk Services, Inc. of
Michigan.
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Terry Family

hen it came to
demonstrating the
exceptional value of a Masterpiece®
policy to lan Terry, Chubb had no |
problem making its case. Mr. Terry,
a Senior Litigation Partner at
Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer, a
leading international law firm, has
been insuring his homes and autos
in Great Britain and France with
Chubb since 2002. Last year, Mr.
Terry’s luxury SUV was stolen
from outside his London home.
Chubb immediately arranged for a
comparable four-wheel drive car to
be provided until his claim was
settled. Twenty-seven days after i
the theft, an officer from the
Paddington police station called
Mr. Terry. The good news: his car
had been found in good condition.
The bad news: the car was in
police custody in Malaga, Spair,
having been used by the thieves to
carry out a drug heist. Spanish
authorities investigating the crime
were not likely to release the car
for up to a year. Chubb viewed this
as a total loss and agreed to pay
Mr. Terry the full agreed value of i
the car. Says broker James Agnew |
of Stackhouse Poland, “In the end, :
\
|

Mr. Terry received a better

settlement than the trade market
value of the stolen car and could
simply replace it with the same
model SUV.” Adds Mr. Terty,

“This was an unusual situation to

say the least. Chubb’s sense of ‘
fairness and attention to detail was |
very impressive.”

15
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A not-for-profit builder of
residential homes in 89
countries, Habitat for Humanity
sprang from an Alabama couple’s
heartfelt desire to improve the
lives of others. In 1976, millionaire
and founder Millard Fuller and his
wife Linda sold their possessions,
gave their money to the poor, and
made it their mission to promote
and make real the concept of
“partnership housing.” Nearly 25
years and more than 150,000
homes later, the Fullers have
realized their vision: people in
need of adequate shelter working
side by side with volunteers to
build simple houses worldwide.
Chubb’s multinational capabilities
help Habitat’s risk management
team protect the organization’s
interests wherever that vision
takes them around the world. Says
Regina Hopkins, Vice President
and General Counsel for Habitat
for Humanity International, “We
work where

people are most
in need, so we
often find
ourselves in
locations where
the average
business does
_ A not go. Chubb
Elizabeth Nicholas, Chubbs | has been able to
. Senior Underwriting Officer id ith
in Florham Park, New Jersey. provide us wit
the coverage we

need even in the most difficult of
circumstances.”

Photo: At a Habitat for Humanity
project are (left to right) Michael Parr,
Senior Vice President, Accordia; Lizabeth
| Parks, Staff Attorney-Risk Management;
| and Regina M. Hopkins, Vice President
and General Counsel, Habitat for
Humanity.
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PART 1.
Item 1. Business

General

The Chubb Corporation (Chubb) was incorporated as a business corporation under the laws of
the State of New Jersey in June 1967. Chubb and its subsidiaries are referred to collectively as the
Corporation. Chubb is a holding company for a family of property and casualty insurance companies
known informally as the Chubb Group of Insurance Companies (the P&C Group). Since 1882, the
P&C Group has provided property and casualty insurance to businesses and individuals around the
world. According to A.M. Best, the P&C Group is the 12th largest U.S. property and casualty insurance
group based on 2002 net written premiums.

Chubb Financial Solutions (CFS) was organized in 2000 to develop and provide customized risk-
financing services through both the capital and insurance markets. CFS’s non-insurance business was
primarily structured credit derivatives, principally as a counterparty in portfolio credit default swaps.
In the second quarter of 2003, the Corporation implemented a plan to exit the credit derivatives
business and is running off the financial products portfolio of CFS. Additional information related to
CFS’s operations is presented in the Chubb Financial Solutions section of Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A).

At December 31, 2003, the Corporation had total assets of $38.4 billion and shareholders’ equity of
$8.5 billion. Revenues, income before income tax and assets for each operating segment for the three
years ended December 31, 2003 are included in Note (15) of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements. The Corporation employed approximately 12,300 persons worldwide on December 31, 2003,

The Corporation’s principal executive offices are located at 15 Mountain View Road, Warren, New
Jersey 07061-1615, and our telephone number is (908) 903-2000.

The Corporation’s internet address is www.chubb.com. The Corporation’s annual report on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act are

available free of charge on this website as soon as reasomably practicable after they have been
~ electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Corporation’s
Corporate Governance Guidelines, charters of certain key committees of its Board of Directors,
Restated Certificate of Incorporation, By-Laws, Code of Business Conduct and Code of Ethics for CEO
and Senior Financial Officers are also available on the Corporation’s website or by writing to the
Corporation’s Corporate Secretary.

Property and Casualty Insurance

The P&C Group is divided into three strategic business units. Chubb Commercial Insurance offers
a full range of commercial customer insurance products, including coverage for multiple peril,
casualty, workers’ compensation and property and marine. Chubb Commercial Insurance is known for
writing niche business, where our expertise can add value for our agents, brokers and policyholders.
Chubb Specialty Insurance offers a wide variety of specialized executive protection and professional
liability products for privately and publicly owned companies, financial institutions, professional firms
and healthcare organizations. Chubb Specialty Insurance also includes our surety and accident
businesses, as well as our reinsurance assumed business produced by Chubb Re. Chubb Personal
Insurance offers products for individuals with fine homes and possessions who require more coverage
choices and higher limits than standard insurance policies.

The P&C Group provides insurance coverages principally in the United States, Canada, Europe,
Australia, and parts of Latin America and Asia. Revenues of the P&C Group by geographic area for the
three years ended December 31, 2003 are included in Note (15) of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

The principal members of the P&C Group are Federal Insurance Company (Federal), Pacific
Indemnity Company (Pacific Indemnity), Vigilant Insurance Company (Vigilant), Great Northern
Insurance Company (Great Northern), Chubb Custom Insurance Company (Chubb Custom), Chubb
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National Insurance Company (Chubb National), Chubb Indemnity Insurance Company (Chubb
Indemnity), Chubb Insurance Company of New Jersey (Chubb New Jersey), Texas Pacific Indemnity
Company, Northwestern Pacific Indemnity Company, Executive Risk Indemnity Inc. (Executive Risk
Indemnity), Executive Risk Specialty Insurance Company (Executive Risk Specialty) and Quadrant
Indemnity Company (Quadrant) in the United States, as well as Chubb Atlantic Indemnity Ltd. (a
Bermuda company), Chubb Insurance Company of Canada, Chubb Insurance Company of Europe,
S.A., Chubb Insurance Company of Australia Limited, Chubb Argentina de Seguros, S.A. and Chubb do
Brasil Companhia de Seguros.

Federal is the manager of Vigilant, Pacific Indemnity, Great Northern, Chubb National, Chubb
Indemnity, Chubb New Jersey, Executive Risk Indemnity, Executive Risk Specialty and Quadrant.
Federal also provides certain services to other members of the P&C Group. Acting subject to the
supervision and control of the Boards of Directors of the members of the P&C Group, Federal provides
day to day executive management and operating personnel and makes available the economy and
flexibility inherent in the common operation of a group of insurance companies.

Premiums Written

A summary of the P&C Group’s premiums written during the past three years is shown in the
following table:

Direct Reinsurance Reinsurance Net
Premiums Premiums Premiums Premiums
Year Written Assumed (a) Ceded (a) Written
{(in millions) '
2001 ... . $ 7,534.3 $ 5252 $1,098.0 $ 6,961.5
2002 ... 9,799.3 806.1 1,558.1 9,047.3

2003 ... 11,337.7 1,266.0 1,535.8 11,067.9

(a) Intercompany items eliminated.

The net premiums written during the last three vears for major classes of the P&C Group’s
business are included in the Property and Casualty Insurance Results — Underwriting Results section
of MD&A.

- One or-more members of the P&C Group are licensed and-transactbusiness—in—each of the———————

50 states of the United States, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, Canada,

Europe, Australia, and parts of Latin America and Asia. In 2003, approximately 82% of the
P&C Group’s direct business was produced in the United States, where the P&C Group’s businesses
enjoy broad geographic distribution with a particularly strong market presence in the Northeast. The
four states accounting for the largest amounts of direct premiums written were New York with 12%,
California with 10%, Texas with 6% and New Jersey with 5%. No other state accounted for 5% of such
premiums. Approximately 10% of the P&C Group’s direct premiums written was produced in Europe
and 4% was produced in Canada.

Underwriting Results

A frequently used industry measurement of property and casualty insurance underwriting results
is the combined loss and expense ratio. The P&C Group uses the combined loss and expense ratio
calculated in accordance with statutory accounting principles. This ratio is the sum of the ratio of
incurred losses and related loss adjustment expenses to premiums earned (loss ratio) plus the ratic of
underwriting expenses to premiums written (expense ratio) after reducing both premium amounts by
dividends to policyholders. When the combined ratio is under 100%, underwriting results are
generally considered profitable; when the combined ratio is over 100%, underwriting results are
generally considered unprofitable. Investment income is not reflected in the combined ratio. The
profitability of property and casualty insurance companies depends on the results of both underwriting
operations and investments.



The combined loss and expense ratios during the last three years in total and for the major classes
of the P&C Group’s business are included in the Property and Casualty Insurance Results —
Underwriting Results section of MD&A.,

Another frequently used measurement in the property and casualty insurance industry is the ratio
of statutory net premiums written to policyholders” surplus. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, such ratio
for the P&C Group was 1.74 and 2.00, respectively.

Producing and Servicing of Business

In the United States and Canada, the P&C Group is represented by approximately 3,000
independent agencies and accepts business on a regular basis from an estimated 1,000 insurance
brokers. In most instances, these agencies and brokers also represent other companies that compete
with the P&C Group. The P&C Group’s branch and service offices assist these agencies and brokers in
producing and servicing the P&C Group’s business. In addition to the administrative offices in Warren
and Whitehouse Station, New Jersey, the P&C Group has seven zone offices and branch and service
offices throughout the United States and Canada.

The P&C Group’s overseas business is developed by its foreign agencies and brokers through local
branch offices of the P&C Group and by its United States and Canadian agencies and brokers. In
conducting its overseas business, the P&C Group reduces the risks relating to currency fluctuations by
maintaining investments in those foreign currencies in which the P&C Group has loss reserves and
other liabilities. Such investments have characteristics similar to liabilities in those currencies. The net
asset or lizbility exposure to the various foreign currencies is regularly reviewed.

Business for the P&C Group is also produced through participation in certain underwriting pools
and syndicates. Such pools and syndicates provide underwriting capacity for risks which an individual
insurer cannot prudently underwrite because of the magnitude of the risk assumed or which can be
more effectively handled by one organization due to the need for specialized loss control and other
services.

Reinsurance

In accordance with the normal practice of the insurance industry, the P&C Group assumes and
cedes reinsurance with other insurers or reinsurers. Reinsurance is ceded to provide greater
diversification of risk and to limit the P&C Group’s maximum net loss arising from large risks or from
hazards of potential catastrophic events. -

Ceded reinsurance contracts do not relieve the P&C Group of its primary obligation to the
~ policyholders. Thus, a credit exposure exists with respect to reinsurance ceded to the extent that any
reinsurer is unable to meet the obligations assumed under the reinsurance contracts. The collectibility
of reinsurance is subject to the solvency of the reinsurers and other factors. The P&C Group is
selective in regard to its reinsurers, placing reinsurance with only those reinsurers with strong balance
sheets and superior underwriting ability. The P&C Group monitors the financial strength of its
reinsurers on an ongoing basis. As a result, uncollectible amounts have not been significant.

A large portion of the P&C Group’s ceded reinsurance is effected under contracts known as
treaties under which all risks meeting prescribed criteria are automatically covered. Most of the P&C
Group’s traaty reinsurance arrangements consist of excess of loss and catastrophe contracts with other
insurers or reinsurers which protect against a specified part or all of certain types of losses over
stipulated amounts arising from any one occurrence or event. In certain circumstances, reinsurance is
also effected by negotiation on individual risks. The amount of each risk retained by the P&C Group is
subject to maximum limits which vary by line of business and type of coverage. Retention limits are
continually reviewed and are revised periodically as the P&C Group’s capacity to underwrite risks
changes. :




For a further discussion of the cost and availability of reinsurance, see the Property and Casualty
Insurance Results — Underwriting Results section of MD&A.

Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses and Related Amounts Recoverable from Reinsurers

Insurance companies are required to establish a liability in their accounts for the ultimate costs
(including loss adjustment expenses) of claims that have been reported but not settled and of claims
that have been incurred but not reported. Insurance companies are also required to report as assets the
portion of such liability that will be recovered from reinsurers.

The process of establishing the liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses is complex
and imprecise as it must take into consideration many variables that are subject to the outcome of
future events. As a result, subjective judgments as to our ultimate exposure to losses are an integral
component of our loss reserving process.

The P&C Group’s estimates of losses for reported claims are established judgmentally on an
individual case basis. Such estimates are based on the P&C Group’s particular experience with the
type of risk involved and its knowledge of the circumstances surrounding each individual claim. These
estimates are reviewed on a regular basis or as additional facts become known. The reliability of the
estimation process is monitored through comparison with ultimate settlements.

The P&C Group’s estimates of losses for unreported claims are principally derived from analyses
of historical patterns of the development of paid and reported losses by accident year for each class of
business. This process relies on the basic assumption that past experience, adjusted for the effects of
current developments and likely trends, is an appropriate basis for predicting future outcomes. For
certain classes of business where anticipated loss experience is less predictable because of the small
number of claims and/or erratic claim severity patterns, the P&C Group’s estimates are based on both
expected and actual reported losses. Salvage and subrogation estimates are developed from patterns of
actual recoveries.

The P&C Group’s estimates of unpaid loss adjustment expenses are based on analyses of the
relationship of projected ultimate loss adjustment expenses to projected ultimate losses for each class
of business. Claim staff has discretion to override these expense formulas where judgment indicates
such action is appropriate.

The P&C Group’s estimates of reinsurance recoverable related to reported and unreported losses
and loss adjustment expenses represent the portion of such liabilities that will be recovered from
reinsurers. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are recognized as assets at the same time and in a
manner consistent with the liabilities associated with the reinsured policies.

Estimates are continually reviewed and updated. Any changes in estimates are reflected in
operating results in the period in which the estimates are changed.

The anticipated effect of inflation is implicitly considered when estimating liabilities for unpaid

losses and loss adjustment expenses. Estimates of the ultimate value of all unipaid losses are based in

part on the development of paid losses, which reflect actual inflation. Inflation is also reflected in the
case estimates established on reported open claims which, when combined with paid losses, form
another basis to derive estimates of reserves for all unpaid losses. There is no precise method for
subsequently evaluating the adequacy of the consideration given to inflation, since claim settlements
are affected by many factors.

Additional information related to the P&C Group’s estimates related to unpaid losses and loss
adjustment expenses and the uncertainties in the estimation process is presented in the Property and
Casualty Insurance Results — Loss Reserves section of MD&A.

The P&C Group continues to emphasize early and accurate reserving, inventory management of
claims and suits, and control of the dollar value of settlements. The number of outstanding claims at
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year-end 2003 was approximately 2% lower than the number at year-end 2002. This compares with a 7%
increase in new arising claims during 2003.

The significant uncertainties relating to asbestos and toxic waste claims on insurance policies
written many years ago are discussed in the Property and Casualty Insurance Results — Loss Reserves
section of MD&A.

One master claim is generally established for all similar asbestos claims and lawsuits involving an
insured. A counted claim can have from one to thousands of claimants. Generally, a toxic waste claim is
established for each lawsuit, or alleged equivalent, against an insured where potential liability has been
determined to exist under a policy issued by a member of the P&C Group. Management does not
believe the following claim count data is meaningful for analysis purposes.

There were approximately 800 asbestos claims outstanding at December 31, 2003 compared with
900 asbestos claims outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 1,000 asbestos claims outstanding at
December 31, 2001. In 2003, approximately 200 claims were opened and 300 claims were closed. In
2002, approximately 300 claims were opened and 400 claims were closed. In 2001, approximately 200
claims were opened and 300 claims were closed. Indemnity payments per claim have varied over time
due primarily to variations in insureds, policy terms and types of claims. Management cannot predict
whether indemnity payments per claim will increase, decrease or remain the same.

There were approximately 600 toxic waste claims outstanding at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
compared with 650 toxic waste claims outstanding at December 31, 2001, Approximately 300 claims
were opened in 2003 and 250 claims were opened in both 2002 and 2001. There were approximately 300
claims closed in both 2003 and 2002, and 250 claims closed in 2001. Because payments to date for toxic
waste claims have varied from claim to claim, management cannot determine whether past claims
experience will prove to be representative of future claims experience.

The table on page 9 presents the subsequent development of the estimated year-end liability for
unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance recoverable, for the ten years prior to
2003. The Corporation acquired Executive Risk Inc. in 1999. The amounts in the table for the years
ended December 31, 1993 through 1998 do not include Executive Risk’s unpaid losses and loss
adjustment expenses.

The top line of the table shows the estimated net liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment
expenses recorded at the balance sheet date for each of the indicated years. This liability represents
the estimated amount of losses and loss adjustment expenses for claims arising in all prior years that are
unpaid at the balance sheet date, including losses that had been incurred but not yet reported to the

P&C _Group.

~__The upper section of the table shows the reestimated amount of the previcusly recorded net
liability based on experience as of the end of each succeeding year. The estimate is increased or
decreased as more information becomes known about the frequency and severity of claims for each
individual year. The increase or decrease is reflected in operating results in the year the estimate is
changed. The “cumulative deficiency (redundancy)” as shown in the table represents the aggregate
change in the reserve estimates from the original balance sheet dates through December 31, 2003. The
amounts noted are cumulative in nature; that is, an increase in a loss estimate that is related to a prior
period occurrence generates a deficiency in each intermediate year. For example, a deficiency
recognizec in 2003 relating to losses incurred prior to December 31, 1993 would be included in the
cumulative deficiency amount for each year in the period 1993 through 2002. Yet, the deficiency would
be reflected in operating results only in 2003. The effect of changes in estimates of the liabilities for
losses occurring in prior years on income before income taxes in each of the past three years is shown
in the reconciliation of the beginning and ending liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment
expenses in the Property and Casualty Insurance Results — Loss Reserves section of MD&A.

In each of the years 1993 through 2002, there was substantial unfavorable development related to
asbestos and toxic waste claims. The cumulative net deficiencies experienced related to asbestos and
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toxic waste claims were the result of: (1) an increase in the actual number of claims filed; (2) an
increase in the number of potential claims estimated; (3) an increase in the severity of actual and
potential claims; (4) an increasingly adverse litigation environment; and (5) an increase in litigation
costs associated with such claims. In addition to the unfavorable development related to asbestos and
toxic waste claims in 2001 and 2002, there was unfavorable development in the executive protection
classes, principally directors and officers liability and errors and omissions liability, due to adverse loss
trends related to the corporate failures and allegations of management misconduct and accounting
irregularities in recent years. In the years 1993 through 2000, the unfavorable development related to
asbestos and toxic waste claims was offset in varying degrees by favorable loss experience for certain
executive protection coverages, particularly directors and officers liability and fiduciary liability, and
commercial excess liability,

Conditions and trends that have affected development of the liability for unpaid losses and loss
adjustment expenses in the past will not necessarily recur in the future. Accordingly, it is not
appropriate to extrapolate future redundancies or deficiencies based on the data in this table.

The middle section of the table on page 9 shows the cumulative amount paid with respect to the
reestimated liability as of the end of each succeeding year. For example, in the 1993 column, as of
December 31, 2003 the P&C Group had paid $5,037.8 million of the currently estimated $6,594.1 mil-
lion of losses and loss adjustment expenses that were unpaid at the end of 1993; thus, an estimated
$1,556.3 million of losses incurred through 1993 remain unpaid as of December 31, 2003, approximately
80% of which relates to asbestos and toxic waste claims.

The lower section of the table on page 9 shows the gross liability, reinsurance recoverable and net
liability recorded at each year-end and the reestimation of these amounts as of December 31, 2003.

The liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance recoverable,
reported in the accompanying consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with gener-
ally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) comprises the liabilities of U.S. and foreign members of
the P&C Group as follows:

December 31

2003 2002
(in millions)

U.S. subsidiaries ................ ... ... $12,477.4 $11,093.3

Foreign subsidiaries................... 2,043.8 1,548.3

$14,521.2 $12,641.6

Members of the P&C Group are required to file annual statements with insurance regulatory
authorities prepared on an accounting basis prescribed or permitted by such authorities (statutory
basis). There is no difference between the liability for unpaid losses and loss expenses reported in the
statutory basis financial statements of the U.S. members of the P&C Group and such liability reported
on a GAAP basis in the consolidated financial statements.




ANALYSIS OF LOSS AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSE DEVELOPMENT

December 31

Year Ended 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
(in millions)
Net Liability for Unpaid Losses and Loss
Adjustment Expenses. . ................ $6,450.0 $6,932.9 $7,614.5 $7,755.9 $8,564.6 $9,049.9 $9,748.8 $10,051.3 $11,009.7 $12,641.6 $14,521.2

Net Liability Reestimated as of:

One yearlater ....................... 6,420.3 6,897.1 7,571.7 76906 83462 88548 95188 0,855.8 11,7994 13,038.9
Two yearslater ...................... 6,363.1 6,874.5 7,520.9 74196 7,899.8 85165 90945 10,550.7 12,143.3

Three vears later .................... 6,380.4 6,829.8 72368 69862 7,564.8 8§,0380 9,652.9 10,761.5

Four years later ..................... 6,338.1 6,605.4 69015 6,7194 71450 85271 9,739.7

Five years later ...................... 6,150.1 6,352.2 6,692.1 6,409.4 7,570.7 8,655.7

Six years later .. ..... ... ... L 59049 61914 64767 68869 7,693.7

Seven years later .................... 57514 60445 70359 70515

Eight vears later ..................... 5,692.2 6,655.4 7,233.8

Nine years later ..................... 6,346.4 6,870.1

Ten years later ...................... 6,594.1

Total Cumulative Net Deficiency
(Redundancy) ........................ 144.1 (62.8) (360.7) (704.4) (870.9) (394.2) (9.1) 7102 11,1336 397.3

Cumulative Net Deficiency Related to
Asbestos and Toxic Waste Claims
(Included in Above Total) .......... ... 1,770.5 1,655.3 14735 1,322.8 1,1976 1,129.8 1,083.0 1,052.0 991.1 250.0

Cumulative Amournt of
Net Liability Paid as of:

One vear later....................... 1,272.0 1,250.7 1,889.4 14183 1,797.7 2,520.1 2,482.7 2,793.7 3,0845 3,398.8

Two years later ...................... 1,985.7 2,550.7 2,678.2 2,488.2 34442 3,707.8 40793 4,6687 5,354.1

Three years later .................... 3,015.8 3,073.7 34388 3,757.0 4,160.6 46531 52858 59814

Four vears later ................... .. 3,264.5 3,589.8 44576 41948 47109 5351.1 61389

Five vears later ................... ... 3,624.2 44444 47554 45556 5,132.9 58943

Six vears later ....................... 4,367.9 4,683.3 50106 48572 5,481.1

Seven years later .................... 45455 48966 5251.0 5,137.4

Eight vears later ......... ... ..... ... 4,738.2 5,068.1 5,480.9

Nine vears later ..................... 48836 5,234.5

Ten years later ...................... 5,037.8
Gross Liability, End of Year............. $8,235.4 $8,913.2 $9,588.2 $9,523.7 $9,772.5 $10,356.5 $11,434.7 $11,904.6 $15,514.9 $16,713.1 $17,947.8
Reinsurance Recoverable, End of Year ..... 1,785.4 19803 1,973.7 1,767.8 1,2079 1,306.6 1,685.9 1,853.3 4,505.2 4,071.5 3,426.6
Net Liability, End of Year .............. $6,450.0 $6,932.9 $7,614.5 $7,755.9 $58,564.6 $ 9,049.9 § 9,748.8 $10,051.3 $11,009.7 $12,641.6 814,521.2
Reestimated Gross Liability ............. $8,626.5 $9,035.7 $9,332.9 $8,832.0 $8,918.0 $10,082.8 $11,857.1 $13,149.3 $17,399.7 $17,353.7
Reestimated Reinsurance Recoverable ... 20324 21656 2,079.1 17805 12243 14271 21174 23878 5256.4 43148
Reestimated Net Liability............... $6,594.1 $6,870.1 87,253.8 $7,051.5 $7,693.7 $ 8§,635.7 $ 9,739.7 810,761.5 $12,143.3 $13,038.9

Cumulative Gross Deficiency
(Redundancy) .. ... 0 oo $ 3011 S 1225 $ (255.3)$ (BO1.7)S (854.5)8 (273.7)% 4224 6 1,2447 § 1.8848 S  640.6

The amounts for the years 1993 through 1998 do not include Executive Risk’s unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, Executive Risk

was acquired in 1999,




Investments

Investment decisions are centrally managed by investment professionals based on guidelines

established by management and approved by the respective boards of directors for each member of the
P&C Group.

Additional information about the investment portfolio of the Corporation as well as the Corpora-
tion’s approach to managing risks is presented in the Invested Assets section of MD&A, the Investment
Portfolio section of Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk and Note (6) of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The investment results of the P&C Group for each of the past three years are shown in the
following table.

Average
Invested Investment Percent Earned
Year Assets(a) Income (b) Before Tax After Tax
(in millions)
2001 ... . $15,800.9 $ 902.6 5.71% 4.74%
2002 . .. 17,665.9 929.4 5.26 4.31
2003 ... .. 22,168.5 1,058.4 4.77 3.80

(a) Average of amounts for the years presented with fixed maturity securities at amortized cost
and equity securities at market value.

(b) Investment income after deduction of investment expenses, but before applicable income tax.

Real Estate

Bellemead Development Corporation and its subsidiaries (Bellemead) are involved in commercial
development activities primarily in New Jersey and residential development activities primarily in
central Florida. Additional information related to the Corporation’s real estate operations is included
in the Corporate and Other — Real Estate section of MD&A.

Regulation, Premium Rates and Competition

Chubb is a holding company with subsidiaries primarily engaged in the property and casualty
insurance business and is therefore subject to regulation by certain states as an insurance holding
company. All states have enacted legislation which regulates insurance holding company systems such
as the Corporation. This legislation generally provides that each insurance company in the system is
required to register with the department of insurance of its state of domicile and furnish information
concerning the operations of companies within the holding company system which may materially
affect the operations, management or financial condition of the insurers within the system. All
transactions within a holding company system affecting insurers must be fair and equitable. Notice to
the insurance commissioners is required prior to the consummation of transactions affecting the
ownership or control of an insurer and of certain material transactions between an insurer and any
person in its holding company system and, in addition, certain of such transactions cannot be
consummated without the commissioners’ prior approval.

The P&C Group is subject to regulation and supervision in the states in which it does business. In
general, such regulation is.for the protection of policyholders rather than shareholders. The extent of
such regulation varies but generally has its source in statutes which delegate regulatory, supervisory
and administrative powers to a department of insurance. The regulation, supervision and administra-
tion relate to, among other things, the standards of solvency which must be met and maintained; the
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licensing of insurers and their agents; restrictions on insurance policy terminations; unfair trade
practices; the nature of and limitations on investments; premium rates; restrictions on the size of risks
which may be insured under a single policy; deposits of securities for the benefit of policyholders;
approval of policy forms; periodic examinations of the affairs of insurance companies; annual and other
reports required to be filed on the financial condition of companies or for other purposes; limitations
on dividerds to policyholders and shareholders; and the adequacy of provisions for unearned
premiums, unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, both reported and unreported, and other
liabilities.

The extent of insurance regulation on business outside the United States varies significantly
among the countries in which the P&C Group operates. Some countries have minimal regulatory
requirements, while others regulate insurers extensively. Foreign insurers in many countries are
subject to greater restrictions than domestic competitors, In certain countries, the P&C Group has
incorporatad insurance subsidiaries locally to improve its position.

The Mational Association of Insurance Commissioners has a risk-based capital requirement for
property and casualty insurance companies. The risk-based capital formula is used by state regulatory
authorities to identify insurance companies which may be undercapitalized and which merit further
regulatory attention. The formula prescribes a series of risk measurements to determine a minimum
capital amount for an insurance company, based on the profile of the individual company. The ratio of
a company’s actual policyholders” surplus to its minimum capital requirement will determine whether
any state regulatory action is required. At December 31, 2003, each member of the P&C Group had
more than sufficient capital to meet the risk-based capital requirement.

Regulatory requirements applying to premium rates vary from state to state, but generally provide
that rates not be “excessive, inadequate or unfairly discriminatory.” Rates for many lines of business,
including automobile and homeowners insurance, are subject to prior regulatory approval in many
states. However, in certain states, prior regulatory approval of rates is not required for most lines of
insurance which the P&C Group underwrites. Ocean marine insurance rates are exempt from
regulation.

Subject to regulatory requirements, the P&C Group’s management determines the prices charged
for its policies based on a variety of factors including loss and loss adjustment expense experience,
inflation, tax law and rate changes, and anticipated changes in the legal environment, both judicial and
legislative. Methods for arriving at prices vary by type of business, exposure assumed and size of risk.
Underwriting profitability is affected by the accuracy of these assumptions, by the willingness of
insurance regulators to approve changes in those rates which they control and by such other matters as
underwriting selectivity and expense control.

The property and casualty insurance industry is highly competitive both as to price and service.
Members of the P&C Group compete not only with other stock companies but also with mutual
companies, other underwriting organizations and alternative risk sharing mechanisms. Some competi-
tors obtain their business at a lower cost through the use of salaried personnel rather than independent
agents and brokers. Rates are not uniform for all insurers and vary according to the types of insurers
and methods of operation. The P&C Group competes for business not only on the basis of price, but
also on the basis of availability of coverage desired by customers and quality of service, including claim
adjustment service. The P&C Group’s products and services are generally designed to serve specific
customer groups or needs and to offer a degree of customization that is of value to the insured. The
P&C Group continues to work closely with its customers and to reinforce with them the stability,
expertise and added value the P&C Group provides.
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There are approximately 3,300 property and casualty insurance companies in the United States
operating independently or in groups and no single company or group is dominant. The relatively
large size and underwriting capacity of the P&C Group provide opportunities not available to smaller
companies.

In all states, insurers authorized to transact certain classes of property and casualty insurance are
required to become members of an insolvency fund. In the event of the insolvency of a licensed
insurer writing a class of insurance covered by the fund in the state, members are assessed to pay
certain claims against the insolvent insurer. Generally, fund assessments are proportionately based on
the members” written premiums for the classes of insurance written by the insolvent insurer. In
certain states, a portion of these assessments is recovered through premium tax offsets and policy-
holder surcharges. In 2003, assessments to the members of the P&C Group amounted to $11 million.
The amount of future assessments cannot be reasonably estimated.

State insurance regulation requires insurers to participate in assigned risk plans, reinsurance
facilities and joint underwriting associations, which are mechanisms that generally provide applicants
with various basic insurance coverages when they are not available in voluntary markets. Such
mechanisms are most prevalent for automobile and workers’ compensation insurance, but a majority of
states also mandate participation in Fair Plans or Windstorm Plans, which provide basic property
coverages. Some states also require insurers to participate in facilities that provide homeowners, crime
and other classes of insurance where periodic market constrictions may occur. Participation is based
upon the amount of a company’s voluntary written premiums in a particular state for the classes of
insurance involved. These involuntary market plans generally are underpriced and produce unprofita-
ble underwriting results.

In several states, insurers, including members of the P&C Group, participate in market assistance
plans. Typically, a market assistance plan is voluntary, of limited duration and operates under the
supervision of the insurance commissioner to provide assistance to applicants unable to obtain
‘commercial and personal liability and property insurance. The assistance may range from identifying
sources where coverage may be obtained to pooling of risks among the participating insurers.

Although the federal government and its regulatory agencies generally do not directly regulate
the business of insurance, federal initiatives often have an impact on the business in a variety of ways.
Current and proposed federal measures which may significantly affect the insurance business include
federal terrorism insurance, asbestos liability reform measures, tort reform, corporate governance
including the expansion of the Securities and Exchange Commission’s oversight authority over public
companies and public accounting firms, ergonomics, health care reform including the containment of
medical costs, medical malpractice reform and patients’ rights, privacy, e-commerce, international
trade, federal regulation of insurance companies and the taxation of insurance companies.

Insurance companies are also affected by a variety of state and federal legislative and regulatory
measures as well as by decisions of their courts that define and extend the risks and benefits for which
insurance is provided. These include redefinitions of risk exposure in areas such as water damage,
including mold; products liability and commercial general liability; extension and protection of
employee benefits, including workers” compensation and disability benefits; and credit scoring,

Legislative and judicial developments pertaining to asbestos and toxic waste exposures are
discussed in the Property and Casualty Insurance Results — Loss Reserves section of MD&A.
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Item 2. Properties

The executive offices of the Corporation are in Warren, New Jersey. The administrative offices of
the P&C Group are in Warren and Whitehouse Station, New Jersey. The P&C Group maintains zone
acdlministrative and branch offices in major cities threughout the United States and also has offices in
Canada, Europe, Australia, Latin America and Asia. Office facilities are leased with the exception of
buildings in Whitehouse Station and Branchburg, New Jersey and Simsbury, Connecticut. Manage-
ment considers its office facilities suitable and adequate for the current level of operations.

Item 3. I.egal Proceedings

As previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002, a purported class action complaint was filed in the United States District Court for the District of
New Jersey on August 31, 2000 by the California Public Employees’ Retirement System. The complaint
alleges that the Corporation and one current officer, Henry B. Schram, and two former officers,
Dean R. O’Hare and David B. Kelso, and Executive Risk Inc. and three of its former officers, Stephen J.
Sills, Robert H. Kullas and Robert V. Deutsch, are liable for certain misrepresentations and omissions
regarding, among other matters, disclosures made between April 27, 1999 and October 15, 1999 relating
to the improved pricing in the Corporation’s standard commercial insurance business and relating to
the offer of the Corporation’s securities to, and solicitation of votes from, the former shareholders of
Executive Risk Inc. in connection with the Corporation’s acquisition of Executive Risk Inc. On
Aagust 11, 2003, the trial court dismissed the entire action with prejudice. On September 10, 2003, the
plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for The Third Circuit. The
Corporation is defending the action vigorously.

As previously disclosed, beginning in December 2002, Chubb Indemnity was served with a
number of complaints related to a series of actions commenced by various plaintiffs against Chubb
Indemnity and other non-affiliated insurers in the District Courts of Nueces and Bexar Counties in
Texas. As of December 31, 2003, Chubb Indemnity has been served with a total of thirty-nine
complaints in Texas. Since July 2003, the trial court has ordered dismissal of fifteen of the Nueces
County cases and five Nueces County cases have been voluntarily dismissed by plaintiffs. Also,
beginning in June 2003, Chubb Indemnity was served with similar cases in Cuyahoga County, Ohio. As
of December 31, 2003, Chubb Indemnity has been served in eleven cases in Ohio. The allegations and
the damages sought in the Ohio actions are substantially similar to those in the Texas actions. Chubb
Indemnity is vigorously defending all of these actions.

Information regarding certain litigation to which the P&C Group is a party is included in the
Property and Casualty Insurance Results — Loss Reserves section of MD&A.

Chubb and its subsidiaries are also defendants in various lawsuits arising out of their businesses. It
is the opinion of management that the final outcome of these matters will not materially affect the
consolidatzd financial position of the registrant.

13




Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of the shareholders during the last quarter of the year ended
December 31, 2003.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Year of
Age(a) Election (b)
John D. Finnegan, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer................... 55 2002
Joanne L. Bober, Senior Vice President and General Counsel ......................... 51 1999
Robert C. Cox, Executive Vice President of Chubb & Son, a division of Federal ......... 45 2003
John J. Degnan, Vice Chairman and Chief Administrative Officer...................... 59 1994
Paul J. Krump, Executive Vice President of Chubb & Son, a division of Federal ........ 44 2001
Michael J. Marchio, Executive Vice President of Chubb & Son, a division of Federal.... 36 2002
Andrew A. McElwee, Jr., Executive Vice President of Chubb & Son, a division of Federal .. 49 1997
Thomas F. Motamed, Vice Chairman and Chief Operating Officer .................. ... 55 1997
Michael O’Reilly, Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer ......................... 60 1976
Henry B. Schram, Senior Vice President ........ ... ... i .. 37 1985

(a) Ages listed above are as of April 27, 2004.
(b) Date indicates year first elected or designated as an executive officer.

All of the foregoing officers serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors of the Corporation and

have been employees of the Corporation for more than five years except for Mr. Finnegan and
Ms. Bober.

Before joining the Corporation in 2002, Mr. Finnegan was Executive Vice President of General
Motors Corporation and Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of General Motors Accept-
ance Corporation (GMAC). Previously, he had also served as President, Vice President and Group
Executive of GMAC.,

Prior to joining the Corporation in 1999, Ms, Bober was Senior Vice President, General Counsel
and Secretary of General Signal Corporation since 1997. Previously, she was a partner in the law firm of
Jones, Day, Reavis & Pogue.
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PART IL

Item 5.

Market for the Registrant’s Common Stock and Related Security Holder Matters

The common stock of the Corporation is listed and principally traded on the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE) under the trading symbol “CB”. The following are the high and low closing sale
prices as reported on the NYSE Composite Tape and the quarterly dividends declared per share for

each quarter of 2003 and 2002.

2003
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Common stock prices
High . oo $57.60 $65.01 $69.09 $69.24
Low e 42 .45 44.81 59.24 62.99
Dividends declared . ........ ... ... .. ... ... 36 .36 .36 .36
2002
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Common stock prices
High . ... $75.32 $78.20 $70.51 $62.23
oW L e 65.20 69.35 53.91 52.20
Dividends declared . .......... .. ... ... . ... ... 35 .35 .35 .35

At February 27, 2004, there were approximately 5,800 common shareholders of record.

The declaration and payment of future dividends to the Corporation’s shareholders will be at the
discretion of the Corporation’s Board of Directors and will depend upon many factors, including the
Corporation’s operating results, financial condition and capital requirements, and the impact of
regulatory constraints discussed in Note (20) (f) of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

(in millions except for per share amounts)

FOR THE YEAR

Revenues
Property and Casualty Insurance
Premiums Earned ........... $10,182.5 $ 8,085.3 $ 6,656.4 $ 6,145.9 $ 5,652.0
Investment Income ......... 1,082.9 952.2 914.7 890.8 832.6
Corporate and Other......... 44.2 68.9 1821 163.3 157.6
Realized Investment Gains.. .. 84.4 33.9 8 51.5 87.4
 Total Revenues ............ $11,394.0 $ 9,1403 § 7,754.0 § 7.2515 § 6,720.6
Income

Property and Casualty Insurance
Underwriting Income

(Loss) (2) () ovnvovn.. S 1045 $ (625.9) $ (9033)(c) § (23.6) $ (178.8)
Investment Income ......... 1,058.4 929.4 902.6 §79.2 821.0
Other Charges.............. (29.5) (25.3) (52.3) (¢) (52.2) (16.0)

Property and Casualty
Insurance Income (Loss) ... 1,133.4 278.2 (53.2) 803.4 626.2
Chubb Financial Solutions
Non-Insurance Business . ... (126.9) (69.8) 9.2 2.8 —
Corporate and Other......... (157.3) (73.9) (22.8) (6.7) (3.5)
Realized Investment Gains.... 844 339 8 51.5 87.4
Income (Loss) Before Income
Tax........ociiiin 933.6 168.4 (66.0) 851.0 710.1
Federal and Foreign Income
Tax (Credit) (d) ... ....... 12458 (545) (177.5) 136.4 89.0
Net Income .............. ... § 8088 § 2229 $ 1115 $ 7146 $ 621.1
Per Share
Net Income ................. $ 446 $ 129 $ .63 $ 4.01 $  3.66
Dividends Declared on
Common Stock ............ 1.44 1.40 1.36 1.32 1.28
AT DECEMBER 31
Total Assets (e) ............... $38,360.6 $34,080.9 $29,415.5 $24 993.2 $23,503.5
Long Term Debt............... 2,813.9 1,959.1 1,331.0 753.8 759.2
Total Shareholders’ Equity (e) ..  8,522.0 6,825.7 6,491.8 6,948.2 6,238.3
Book Value Per Share (e) ...... 45.33 39.87 38.17 39.72 35.55

(a) Underwriting income has been reduced by net losses of $250.0 million ($162.5 million after-tax or $0.90 per share) in
2003, $741.1 million ($481.7 million after-tax or $2.79 per share) in 2002, $60.9 million ($39.6 million after-tax or $0.22
per share) in 2001, $31.0 million ($20.2 million after-tax or $0.11 per share) in 2000, and $46.8 million ($30.4 million
after-tax or 80.18 per share) in 1999, related to asbestos and toxic waste claims.

(b) Underwriting income in 2001 has been reduced by net surety bond losses of $220.0 million ($143.0 million after-tax
or $0.81 per share) related to the bankruptcy of Enron Corp. Underwriting income in 2002 and 2003 has been
increased by reductions in net surety bond losses related to Enron of $88.0 million ($57.2 million after-tax or $0.33
per share) and $17.0 million ($11.1 million after-tax or $0.06 per share), respectively.

(c) Underwriting income has been reduced by net costs of $635.0 million and other charges included costs of
$10.0 million (in the aggregate, $420.0 million after-tax or $2.39 per share) related to the September 11 attack.

(d) Federal and foreign income tax in 2002 included a $40.0 million ($0.23 per share) charge to establish a tax valuation
allowance from not being able to recognize, for accounting purposes, certain U.S. tax benefits related to European
losses. Federal and foreign income tax in 2003 included a $40.0 million ($0.22 per share) credit for the reversal of the
tax valuation allowance established in 2002,

(e) Amounts in years prior to 2003 have been restated to reflect the accounting changes prescribed by Financial
Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations addresses
the financial condition of The Chubb Corporation and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003
compared with December 31, 2002 and the results of operations for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2003. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and related notes and the other information contained in this report.
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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information

Certain statements in this report are “forward-looking statements” as that term is defined in the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (PSLRA). These forward-looking statements are made
pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the PSLRA and include estimates and assumptions related to
economic, competitive, regulatory, judicial, legislative and other developments. These include statements
relating to trends in, or representing management’s beliefs about, our future strategies, operations and
Sfinancial results, as well as other statements that include words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “intend,” “‘may,” “plan,” “should,” “will,” or other similar expressions. Forward-looking
statements are made based upon management’s current expectations and beliefs concerning trends and
future developments and their potential effects on us. These statemenis are not guarantees of future
performance. Actual results may differ materially from those suggested by forward-looking statements as a
result of risks and uncertainties, which include, among others, those discussed or identified from time to
time in our public filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission and those associated with:

¢ the availability of primary and reinsurance coverage, including the implications relating to
terrorism legislation and regulation;

* global political conditions and the occurrence of terrorist attacks, including any nuclear,
biological, chemical or radiological events;

¢ the effects of the outbreak or escalation of war or hostilities:

* premium price increases and profitability or growth estimates overall or by lines of business or
geographic area, and related expectations with respect to the timing and terms of any required
regulatory approvals; ‘

» adverse changes in loss cost trends;
* our ability to retain existing business;

¢ material differences between actual and expected assessments for guaranty funds and
mandatory pooling arrangements;

* our expectations with respect to cash flow projections and investment income and with respect
to other income;

¢ the adequacy of loss reserves, including:
— our expectations relating to reinsurance recoverables;

— the effects of proposed asbestos liability legislation, including the impact of claims patterns
arising from the possibility of legislation and those that may arise if legislation is not passed;

— our estimates relating to ultimate asbestos liabilities and related reinsurance recoverables;

— the impact from the bankruptcy protection sought by various asbestos producers and other
related businesses;

— the willingness of parties, including us, to settle disputes;

— developments in judicial decisions or regulatory or legislative actions relating to coverage
and liability for asbestos, toxic waste and mold claims;

¢ the impact of economic factors on companies on whose behalf we have issued surety bonds, and
in particular, on those companies that have filed for bankruptcy or otherwise experienced
deterioration in creditworthiness;

e the effects of disclosures by, and investigations of, public companies relating to possible
accounting irregularities, practices in the energy and securities industries and other corporate
governance issues, including:
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— the effects on the energy markets and the companies that participate in them, and in
particular as they may relate to concentrations of risk in our surety business;

— the effects on the capital markets and the markets for directors and officers and errors and
omissions insurance;

— claims and litigation arising out of actual or alleged accounting or other corporate malfea-
sance by other companies;

— claims and litigation arising out of investment banking practices;

— legislative or regulatory proposals or changes, including the changes in law and regulation
implemented under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002;

¢ the occurrence of significant weather-related or other natural or human-made disasters;
e any downgrade in our claims-paying, financial strength or other credit ratings;

¢ the ability of our subsidiaries to pay us dividends;

¢ general economic conditions including:

— changes in interest rates, market credit spreads and the performance of the financial
markets, generally and as they relate to credit risks assumed by our Chubb Financial
Solutions unit in particular;

— the effects of inflation;
— changes in domestic and foreign laws, regulations and taxes;
— changes in competition and pricing environments;
— regional or general changes in asset valuations;
— the inability to reinsure certain risks economically;
— changes in the litigation environment;
— general market conditions; and
e our ability to implement management’s strategic plans and initiatives.
The Corporation assumes no obligation to update any forward-looking information set forth in this
report, which speak as of the date hereof.
Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The consolidated financial statements include amounts based on informed estimates and judg-
ments of management for those transactions that are not yet complete. Such estimates and judgments
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Those estimates and judgments that were most
critical to the preparation of the financial statements involved the adequacy of loss reserves and the
recoverability of related reinsurance recoverables, the fair value of future obligations under financial
products contracts and the recoverability of the carrying value of real estate properties. These
estimates and judgments, which are discussed within the following analysis of our results of operations,
require the use of assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain and therefore are subject to
change as facts and circumstances develop. If different estimates and judgments had been applied,
materially different amounts might have been reported in the financial statements.

Executive Summary

The jollowing highlights do not address all of the matters covered in the other sections of
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations or contain all of
the information that may be important to the Corporation’s shareholders or the investing public. This
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summary should be read in conjunction with the other sections of Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Net income was $809 million in 2003 compared with $223 million in 2002 and $112 million in
2001.

The fundamentals of our property and casualty insurance business are strong. Premium growth
was 22% in 2003 and 30% in 2002. Rate increases have been substantial in recent years, often
with more favorable policy terms and conditions.

Our underwriting results in the past three years were adversely affected by losses related to
asbestos and toxic waste claims, the September 11, 2001 attack in the United States and surety
losses arising from the bankruptcy of Enron Corp.

¢ Asbestos and toxic waste losses were $250 million in 2003, $741 million in 2002 and $61 million
in 2001.

* Results in 2001 were adversely affected by net costs of $645 million related to the Septem-
ber 11 attack.

* Results in 2001 were adversely affected by net surety losses of $220 million related to Enron.
Results in 2002 and 2003 benefited from reductions in net surety losses related to Enron of
$88 million and $17 million, respectively.

QOur combined loss and expense ratio, as adjusted to exclude the effects of asbestos and toxic
waste losses, the September 11 attack and the Enron surety losses and related benefits, was
95.7% in 2003 compared with 98.6% in 2002 and 99.6% in 2001.

During 2003, we experienced overall unfavorable development of $397 million on loss reserves
established as of the previous year end, due primarily to two factors.

¢ We strengthened asbestos loss reserves by $250 million in the fourth quarter.

e We experienced unfavorable development of about $140 million in our executive protection
classes, principally directors and officers liability and errors and omissions liability, as adverse
loss trends in recent accident years related to corporate failures and allegations of manage-
ment misconduct and accounting irregularities more than offset favorable loss experience in
older accident years.

Property and casualty investment income after taxes increased by 11% in 2003 compared with
growth of 2% in 2002.

The non-insurance business of Chubb Financial Solutions (CFS) produced a loss before taxes of
$127 million in 2003 compared with a loss of $70 million in 2002 and income of $9 million in
2001. As announced in April 2003, we are exiting this business and are running off the financial
products portfolio of CFS. We reduced our aggregate notional exposure by $14 billion during
2003 to approximately $25 billion at year end.

Because of substantially improved results in Chubb Europe throughout 2003, we eliminated a
$40 million tax valuation allowance in the fourth quarter that was established in the fourth
quarter of 2002.

We began expensing the cost of stock options in 2003, which resulted in a reduction in net
income of $46 million.
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A summary of our results is as follows:

Years Ended December 31
2003 2002 2001
(in millions)

Property znd casualty insurance

Underwriting .
Net premiums written .. ... ... .. i, $11,067.9 $9,047.3  $6,961.5
Increase in unearned premiums ............... .. ... ... .. (885.4) (962.0) (305.1)
Premiums earned .. ... ... .. 10,182.5 8,085.3 6,656.4
Losses and loss expenses ............ ..., 6,867.2 6,064.6 5,357.4
Operating costs and expenses ..o, 3,356.3 2.822.6 2,260.8
Increase in deferred policy acquisition costs.........0....... (168.3) (212.5) (86.8)
Dividends to policvholders ................ ... .. L 22.8 36.5 28.5
Underwriting income (loss) ........... .. ... ......ciiiun.. 104.5 (625.9) (903.5)

Investments
Investment income before expenses ........................ 1,082.9 952.2 914.7
Investment expenses ........ ... .. .. i i i 24.5 22.8 12.1
Investment income . ....... ... . 1,058.4 929 .4 902.6

Other charges ........... i (29.5) (25.3) (52.3)

Property and casﬁalty income (loss) ........... .. ... .. ... . ... 1,133.4 278.2 (53.2)

Chubb Financial Solutions non-insurance business ............... (126.9) (69.8) 9.2
Corporate and other .......... ... ... ... ... .. . ... . .. (157.3) (73.9) (22.8)
Realized investment gains .......... ... ... .. .. . . ...l 84.4 33.9 8
Consolidated income (loss) before income tax................... 933.6 168.4 (66.0)
Federal and foreign income tax (credit) ........................ 124.8 (54.5) (177.5)
Consolidated net income .......... ... ... ... . ... ... ... $ 8088 § 2229 § 1115
Property and casualty investment income after income tax........ $ 8431 § 7606 § 749.1

Net income included realized investment gains after taxes of $55 million in 2003, $22 million in
2002 and $1 million in 2001. Decisions to sell securities are governed principally by considerations of
investment opportunities and tax consequences. As a result, realized gains and losses on the sale of
investments may vary significantly from period to period.

Property and Casualty Insurance Results

Our property and casualty business produced income before taxes of $1,133 million in 2003
compared with income of $278 million in 2002 and a loss of $53 million in 2001.

Asbestos and toxic waste losses, costs related to the September 11 attack and Enron-related surety
losses and related benefits are significant components in understanding and assessing our financial
performance. However, these items, which are discussed below, had a distorting effect on our results.



The following summary adjusts our reported property and casualty income or loss before taxes to
exclude the impact of these items.

e - - - 22003 2002 200F - ————
’ o (in millions)

Property and casualty income (loss) before tax, as reported ............... $1,133 $278  $(53)

Asbestos and toxic waste losses . .......... 250 741 61

Net costs related to the September 11 attack............................. — — 645

Surety bond losses (benefit) related to Enron............................ (17)  (88) 220

Property and casualty income before tax, as adjusted ..................... $1,366  $931  $873

As adjusted, property and casualty earnings in 2003 were significantly higher than in the prior two
years due primarily to a substantial improvement in underwriting results. Earnings in 2003 also
benefited from a significant increase in investment income.

The profitability of the property and casualty insurance business depends on the results of both
underwriting operations and investments, which we view as two distinctive operations. The underwrit-
ing functions are managed separately from the investment function. Accordingly, in assessing our
performance, we evaluate underwriting results separately from investment results.

Underwriting Results

We evaluate the underwriting results of our property and casualty insurance business in the
aggregate and also for each of our three separate business units: personal insurance, commercial
insurance and specialty insurance.

The combined loss and expense ratio, expressed as a percentage, is the key measure of
underwriting profitability traditionally used in the property and casualty business. We evaluate the
performance of our underwriting operations and of each of our business units using the combined loss
and expense ratio calculated in accordance with statutory accounting principles. It is the sum of the
ratio of losses to premiums earned (loss ratio) plus the ratio of underwriting expenses to premiums
written (expense ratio) after reducing both premium amounts by dividends to policyholders. When
the combined ratio is under 100%, underwriting results are generally considered profitable; when the
combined ratio is over 100%, underwriting results are generally considered unprofitable.

Statutory accounting principles differ in certain respects from generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP). Under statutory accounting principles applicable to property and casualty insur-
ance companies, policy acquisition and other underwriting expenses are recognized immediately, not
at the time premiums are earned. We use underwriting results determined in accordance with GAAP,
among other measures, to assess the overall performance of the underwriting operations. To convert
underwriting results to a GAAP basis, policy acquisition expenses are deferred and amortized over the
period in which the related premiums are earned. Underwriting income (loss) determined in
accordance with GAAP is defined as premiums earned less losses incurred and GAAP underwriting
expenses incurred.

Net Premiums Written

Net premiums written amounted to $11.1 billion in 2003, an increase of 22% over 2002. Net
premiums written increased 30% in 2002 compared with 2001. Premiums written in 2001 included net
reinsurance reinstatement premium revenue of $30 million related to the September 11 attack.

About 80% of our net premiums written are in the United States. Premium growth in the U.S. was
22% in 2003 and 31% in 2002. Substantial premium growth was also achieved outside the United States
in 2003 and 2002, Reported non-U.S. premiums grew 25% in 2003 and 27% in 2002. In local currencies,
such premiums grew 15% and 24% in 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Net premiums written by business unit were as follows:
Years Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
(in millions)
Personal insurance
Automobile .. ... $ 5900 $ 5361 $§ 4802
Homeowners .. ..ot 1,485.4 1,299.0 1,065.4
Other .. 514.9 478.6 435.5
Total personal ... ... ... . . 2,590.3 _2,313.7 1,981.1
Commercial insurance
Multiple peril ... ... e 1,088.6 930.1 767.4
Casualty ... . 1,362.1 1,119.0 799.8
Workers’ compensation. ... 625.9 458.2 355.1
Property and marine . ...t e 1,032.4 8§97.4 568.5
Total commercial . ... ... 4,109.0 3,404.7 2,490.8
Specialty insurance | _
Executive protection . ..... ... i e 2,113.6 1,702.4 1,348.7
Financial institutions ... ...... ... ... i 830.0 680.3 534.2
Other .. . 1,425.0 946.2 606.7
Total specialty. ... ... . 4,368.6 3,328.9 2,489.6
Total . $11,067.9 $9,047.3 $6,961.5

Premium growth in 2002 and 2003 in all segments of our business was due primarily to higher
rates. Prernium growth was particularly strong in the commercial and specialty classes. Premium
growth in our other specialty insurance business was primarily from Chubb Re, our reinsurance
business that began operations in 1999,

In the wake of heavy insurance industry losses in recent years, exacerbated by the tragic event of
September 11, 2001, many insurance companies sought substantial price increases, raised deductibles,
reduced coverage limits or declined outright to renew coverage. In this environment, we have taken
advantage of the opportunities to write new business and have retained more of our existing accounts.
During 2002, we experienced substantial rate increases on business we wrote, often with more
favorable policy terms and conditions. In 2003, we continued to get rate increases on much of the
business we wrote, although the size of such increases decelerated throughout the year. We expect
that rate increases will continue into 2004, although the size of rate increases will continue to
decelerate.

Reinsurance

Our premiums written are net of amounts ceded to reinsurers who assume a portion of the risk
under the insurance policies that are subject to the reinsurance. As a result of the substantial losses
incurred by reinsurers in recent years, the cost of reinsurance in the marketplace has increased
significantly and reinsurance capacity for certain coverages, such as terrorism, is limited and expensive.

In 2002, we did not renew a workers’ compensation catastrophe treaty that had substantially
reduced our net losses from the September 11 attack because the terms and price that were offered
were uneconomical.

Our property reinsurance program renews each April. The 2002 renewal of the property per risk
treaty and property catastrophe treaties in the aggregate cost approximately $120 million more on an
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annualized basis, with more restrictive terms, including terrorism exclusions. Qur property per risk
retention increased from $10 million to $15 million. Our catastrophe treaty for events in the United
States was modified to increase our initial retention, to increase the reinsurance coverage at the top
and to reduce our participation in certain layers of the program.

Our 2003 reinsurance program was similar to that in 2002. Reinsurance costs increased in line with
the higher premiums on the policies reinsured. We discontinued some lower limit treaties that we
believed were no longer economical and increased our participation in certain layers of the treaties
renewed. Our property catastrophe treaty for events in the United States was again modified in 2003 to
increase the reinsurance coverage at the top due to our increased exposure in certain catastrophe
exposed areas. The program now provides coverage for individual catastrophe events of approximately
86% of losses between $150 million and $850 million, with additional coverage above $850 million that
varies depending on geographic location.

It is expected that reinsurance costs will increase in 2004 in line with the higher premiums on the
policies reinsured. In January 2004, we discontinued a casualty per risk treaty that responded primarily
to excess liability exposures over $25 million, due to a reduction in the number of such exposures that
we believed made this treaty no longer economical. OQur executive protection per risk treaty was
renewed on terms similar to the prior year, except our initial deductible on directors and officers
liability losses was increased.

Profitability

Underwriting results in 2003, 2002 and 2001 were adversely affected by incurred losses of
$250 million, $741 million and $61 million, respectively, related to asbestos and toxic waste claims.
Underwriting results in 2001 were adversely affected by net costs of $635 million related to the
September 11 attack and Enron related surety losses of $220 million. Results in 2002 and 2003 benefited
from reductions in surety losses related to Enron of $88 million and $17 million, respectively.

The combined loss and expense ratio, as reported and as adjusted to exclude the effects of the
asbestos and toxic waste losses, the September 11 attack and the Enron surety losses and related
benefits, was as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
As reported
Loss TaIO ..o e e 67.6%  75.4% 80.8%
Expense ratio .. ... 30.4 _31.3 _32.6
Combined ratio . ...t 98.0% 106.7% 113.4%
As adjusted
0SS TAEIO + vt e et ettt e e 65.3% 67.3% 66.8%
Expense ratio ... ... . e 30.4 313 _32.8
Combined ratio . ... ... i 95.7%  98.6%  99.6%

The loss ratio, as adjusted, improved in 2003 despite higher catastrophe losses, reflecting the
favorable experience resulting from our disciplined underwriting standards in recent years. Losses
from catastrophes other than the September 11 attack were $294 million in 2003 which represented 2.9
percentage points of the loss ratio compared with $98 million or 1.2 percentage points in 2002 and
$114 million or 1.7 percentage points in 2001. Other than reinsurance recoveries related to the
September 11 attack, we did not have any recoveries from our catastrophe reinsurance program during
the three year period since there were no other individual catastrophes for which our losses exceeded
the initial retention. Our initial retention level for each catastrophic event in the United States was
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increased from $100 million to $150 million during 2002. Our initial retention is generally $25 million
outside the United States.

Our expense ratio decreased in 2002 and again in 2003 due in large part to premiums written
growing at a substantially higher rate than overhead expenses. The improvement in 2003 was achieved
despite an approximate 0.4 of a percentage point adverse impact of expensing stock options.

Asbestos and Toxic Waste Losses. In October 2002, our actuaries and claim personnel together
with our outside actuarial consultants completed their periodic ground-up exposure based analysis of
our asbestos related liabilities. Upon completion of the analysis and assessment of the results, we
increased our net loss reserves by $625 million in the third quarter. In the fourth quarter of 2002, we
reduced our previous estimate of reinsurance recoverable on potential asbestos claims, resulting in an
additional increase in our net loss reserves of $75 million. Prior to the completion of the analysis, we
had incurred asbestos and toxic waste net losses of $41 million in the first half of 2002 and $61 million
during all of 2001.

In the fourth quarter of 2003, our actuaries and claim personnel together with our outside
actuarial consultants performed a rigorous update of the 2002 ground-up analysis of our asbestos
related liabilities. Upon completion of the update, we increased our net loss reserves by an additional
$250 million. Our asbestos and toxic waste exposure is further discussed under “Loss Reserves.”

Enron-Related Surety Losses. Our surety losses arising from the Enron bankruptey relate to bonds
issued- to various obligees in connection with Enron commitments. Although certain of these surety
bonds were the subject of litigation, we recognized our maximum exposure of $220 million, net of
reinsurance, in the fourth quarter of 2001. As of the end of 2002, the litigation was settled, resulting in
an $88 million reduction in our surety net loss reserves. Results in 2003 benefited from a $17 million
recovery {rom the sale of a bankruptcy claim against various Enron entities.

September 11 Attack. The pre-tax costs of $645 million related to the September 11 attack had
three components, First, in our insurance business, we incurred estimated net losses and loss expenses
of $555 million plus reinsurance reinstatement costs of $50 million, for an aggregate cost of $605 mil-
lion. Each of our underwriting segments was affected by the September 11 attack. However, the impact
was by far the greatest on our financial institutions business. Second, in our reinsurance business
written through Chubb Re, we incurred estimated net losses and loss expenses of $110 million and
recognized reinstatement premium revenue of $80 million, for a net cost of $30 million. Finally, we
recorded a $10 million charge, included in other charges, as our share of the losses publicly estimated
by Hiscox plc, a UK. insurer in which we had a 28% interest during 2001.

We estimate that our gross losses and loss expenses from the September 11 attack were about
$3.2 billion. Most of the losses were from property exposure and business interruption losses. We also
had significant workers’ compensation losses. Our net losses and loss expenses of $665 million were
significantly lower than the gross amount due to various reinsurance agreements. Qur property
exposures were protected by facultative reinsurance, property per risk treaties that limited our net loss
per risk, and our property catastrophe treaties. Our workers’ compensation losses were protected by a
" casualty catastrophe treaty and a casualty “clash” treaty that operates like a catastrophe treaty.

Certain of our reinsurers questioned our interpretation and/or application of some provisions of
our property per risk reinsurance agreements with regard to the September 11 losses. The questions
raised generally involved the applicable limit of reinsurance coverage available to us, the definition of
what constitutes one risk, our accumulation of exposure in the various buildings destroyed or damaged
and our adherence to our underwriting guidelines. During 2003, we resolved all of the questions that
had been raised by our property per risk reinsurers. That resolution will result in our collecting an
amount of reinsurance that confirms our estimate of net costs of $645 million related to the
September 11 attack.

It is possible that our estimate of ultimate losses related to the September 11 attack may change in
the future, and that the change in estimate could have a material effect on the Corporation’s results of
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operations. However, we do not expect that any such change would have a material effect on the
Corporation’s financial condition or liquidity.

Review of Underwriting Results by Business Unit
Personal Insurance

Net premiums from personal insurance, which represent 23% of the premiums written by our
property and casualty subsidiaries, increased by 12% in 2003 compared with a 17% increase in 2002. In
both years, premium growth occurred in all classes. Premium growth was particularly significant in our
homeowners business due primarily to higher rates and increased insurance-to-value. Homeowners
premiums were up 14% and 22% in 2003 and 2002, respectively, while the in-force policy count
remained flat in 2003 after being up slightly in 2002.

Our personal insurance business produced modestly profitable underwriting results in 2003 and
2002 compared with slightly unprofitable results in 2001. Results in 2001 included net costs of
$20 million related to the September 11 attack. The combined loss and expense ratios for the classes of
business within the personal insurance segment, as reported and as adjusted to exclude the effects of
the September 11 attack, were as follows:

Years Ended December 31
2003 2002 2001

As reported

Automobile............ .. S R 989% 97.5% 99.8%
Homeowners ... e e e 1044 1045 1126
Other « o 79.8 77.8 75.8
Total personal ... ... ... . 98.2% 97.2% 101.3%
As adjusted

Automobile . . .. 98.9% 97.5% 98.7%
HomeoWners ... . 1044 1045 111.2
Other . .o 79.8 77.8 75.5
Total personal .. ... .. . . . . 98.2% 97.2% 100.2%

Homeowners results were similarly unprofitable in 2003 and 2002 as higher catastrophe losses in
2003 were offset by a decrease in non-catastrophe losses and the impact of improved pricing. Results in
2003 benefited from a decline in fire and water damage losses. Results improved in 2002 compared with
2001. The improvement in 2002 was due to a decrease in the frequency of both catastrophe and non-
catastrophe losses. Results in 2002 and 2001 were adversely affected by an increase in the severity of
water damage claims, including those related to mold, particularly in Texas. Losses from catastrophes
other than the September 11 attack represented 13.4 percentage points of the loss ratio for this class in
2003 compared with 2.9 percentage points in 2002 and 5.4 percentage points in 2001. Homeowners
results were modestly profitable in Europe in 2003 compared with unprofitable results in 2002 and
2001. We are in the process of exiting our personal lines business in Continental Europe, with the
exception of the ultra high net worth market segment.

Our remediation plan relating to our homeowners business in the United States, which began in
the latter part of 2001, is on track. We have made substantial progress in implementing rate increases in
states where rates have been deficient. While the impact of losses related to water damage, including
mold, decreased in 2003 compared with the prior two years, we remain concerned about the potential
for such claims. We have made regulatory filings in most states to introduce contract changes that
would enable us to treat mold as a separate peril available at an appropriate price. These changes have
been implemented in 41 states, including Texas, California, Florida and New York, and approved in
four other states.
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Our personal automobile business was modestly profitable in each of the last three years. Results
in each year benefited from stable loss severity.

Other personal coverages, which include insurance for personal valuable articles and excess
liability, produced highly profitable results in each of the past three years, as favorable loss experience
has continued.

Commercial Insurance

Net premiums from commercial insurance, which represent 37% of our total writings, increased by
21% in 2003 compared with a 37% increase in 2002. The substantial premium growth in both years,
which occurred in all segments of this business, was due in large part to significantly higher rates as
well as an increase in our in-force policy count. Rates increased substantially in 2002 and 2003,
although the level of rate increases in 2003 declined from 2002 levels as we experienced more
competition in the U.S. marketplace across most lines of business. Despite this, retention levels have
remained steady. New business accelerated toward the end of 2001. During 2002, we wrote more than
two dollars of new business for every dollar of business we lost; during 2003, this ratio was about 1.7 to 1.
The substantial growth in new business was produced with the same tightened underwriting discipline
that existed over the past several years. We expect that rates will continue to rise but that the level of
rate increases will continue to decline.

Our commercial insurance results were adversely affected by incurred losses of $250 million in
2003, $741 million in 2002 and $61 million in 2001 related to asbestos and toxic waste claims. Results in
2001 were also adversely affected by net costs of $103 million related to the September 11 attack. The
combined loss and expense ratios for the classes of business within commercial insurance, as reported
and as adjusted to exclude the effects of the asbestos and toxic waste losses and the September 11
attack, were as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
As reported
Multiple peril .. ... . 89.7% 99.7% 109.6%
Casualty . .. 108.0 166.6 1149
Workers’ compensation ... ... ...t e 94.7 92.3 92.9
Property and marine. .. ... .. .. . 87.9 90.2 -115.8
Total commercial ... .. .. 95.9% 118.6% 110.5%
As adjusted
Multiple peril . ... 89.7% 99.7% 100.6%
Casualty . .o 87.8 89.9 1048
Workers compensation . ....... ... e 94.7 92.3 91.8
Property and marine. . ... ...ttt e 87.9 90.2 1127
Total commercial ...... ... . . . 89.2% 93.1% 103.5%

On an as adjusted basis, our commercial insurance business produced highly profitable results in
2003 and 2002 compared with unprofitable results in 2001. Results, as adjusted, have shown substantial
improvement in each succeeding year. The improvement has been due in large part to the cumulative
effect of price increases, better terms and conditions and more stringent risk selection in recent years.

Multiple peril results were highly profitable in 2003 compared with near breakeven results in 2002.
The improved results were driven by the property component of this business where incurred losses
were flat. Results in 2002 showed modest improvement over 2001 results, as adjusted, due to highly
profitable overseas results. Losses from catastrophes other than the September 11 attack represented
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3.0 percentage points of the loss ratio for this class in 2003 compared with 2.2 percentage points in 2002
and 3.0 percentage points in 2001,

Results for our casualty business, as adjusted, were highly profitable in 2003 and 2002 compared
with unprofitable results in 2001. The improvement was due to higher rates and the culling of business
where we could not attain price adequacy. In particular, the automobile component showed substan-

_ tial improvement,. producing. highly profitable results in 2003 and 2002. compared with. unprofitable-

results in 2001. Results for the primary liability component were profitable in all three years, improving
in each succeeding year. The excess liability component produced near breakeven results in 2003 and
2002 compared with unprofitable results in 2001.

Workers” compensation results were profitable in each of the past three years. The strong results
were due to higher rates as well as our disciplined risk selection during the past several years.

Property and marine results were highly profitable in 2003 and 2002 compared with highly
unprofitable results in 2001. Results in 2003 and 2002 benefited from improved pricing, higher
deductibles, better terms and conditions and a low number of severe losses. The strong results in 2003
were achieved despite a $25 million loss that resulted from an adverse arbitration decision rendered
against an insurance pool in which we were formerly a 5.5% participant. The decision related to a fire
that occurred in 1995. Results in 2001 were adversely affected by a high frequency of large losses, both
in the United States and overseas. Losses from catastrophes other than the September 11 attack
represented 6.3 percentage points of the loss ratio for this class in 2003 compared with 6.6 percentage
points in 2002 and 5.4 percentage points in 2001.

Specialty Insurance

Net premiums from specialty insurance, which represent 40% of our total writings, increased by
31% in 2003 compared with a 34% increase in 2002. Premiums in 2001 included net reinsurance
reinstatement premiums of 335 million related to the September 11 attack, primarily consisting of
$80 million of premium revenue in our reinsurance business offset in part by costs of $40 million in our
financial institutions business.

The growth in 2002 and 2003 in executive protection and the professional liability component of
our financial institutions business was primarily attributable to higher rates. In response to claim
severity trends, we initiated a program in the latter half of 2001 to increase pricing and improve policy
terms and to not renew business that did not meet our underwriting criteria. We have implemented
tighter terms and conditions, including lower policy limits and higher deductibles. We have continued
to reprofile our book of business, generating most of ocur new business from small and middle market
customers. Rate increases moderated during the latter half of 2003 due to increased competition in the
marketplace. In the fidelity and standard commercial components of our financial institutions business,
rate increases have begun to moderate as well.

Growth in our other specialty insurance business was primarily from Chubb Re, our reinsurance
assumed business. We write only treaty reinsurance, primarily casualty reinsurance. Premiums
produced by Chubb Re amounted to $984 million in 2003 compared with $488 million in 2002 and
$199 million in 2001, excluding the net reinstatement premium revenue of $80 million.
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Our specialty insurance results in 2001 were adversely affected by net costs of $512 million related

to the September 11 attack and Enron-related surety losses of $220 million. Results in 2002 and 2003

benefited from reductions in surety losses related to Enron of $88 million and $17 million, respectively.

The combined loss and expense ratios for the classes of business within specialty insurance, as reported

and as adjusted to exclude the effects of the September 11 attack and the Enron surety losses and
related benefits, were as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
As reported
Executive protection ........ .. i 103.9% 110.3% 94.0%
Financial institutions ........ ... .. . . . . . e 111.0 1107 187.7
Other ... §86.2 77.8 146.2
Total specialty ... ... 100.0% 101.8% 125.5%
As adjusted
Executive protection .......... . e 103.9% 110.3% 94.0%
Financial institutions ........ ... i 111.0 1107 94.7
Other .. o e 87.6 88.8 99.2
Total specialty ... .. . 100.4% 104.8% 95.3%

Qur specialty insurance underwriting results, as adjusted, were near breakeven in 2003 compared
with unprofitable results in 2002 and profitable results in 2001.

Executive protection results were unprofitable in 2003 and 2002 compared with profitable results
in 2001. Results in 2003 and 2002 were adversely affected by directors and officers liability and errors
and omissions liability claim experience, particularly from claims that have arisen due to the corporate
failures and allegations of management misconduct and accounting irregularities in recent years. The
inprovement in 2003 was in our European operations where results in 2002 were particularly
unprofitable due to deteriorating loss trends caused by an increase in litigation, often involving
European companies being sued in U.S. courts for securities fraud.

Our financial institutions business produced similarly unprofitable results in 2003 and 2002, Results
in 2001, as adjusted, were profitable. The fidelity component of this business was highly profitable in
each of the last three years due to favorable loss experience. Results for the professional liability
component were highly unprofitable in 2003 and 2002 compared with modestly unprofitable results in
2001. The deterioration was due to the same adverse directors and officers liability and errors and
omissions liability claim trends experienced in our executive protection business. Financial institutions
continue to be the focus of scrutiny by regulators and the plaintiffs’ bar related to investment banking
and mutual fund scandals. The standard commercial business written on financial institutions produced
profitable results in all three years, reflecting the rate increases and more stringent risk selection in
recent years.

Other specialty results, as adjusted, were highly profitable in 2003 and 2002 compared with near
breakeven results in 2001. As adjusted, our surety results were highly profitable in each of the past
three years. Our reinsurance assumed business generated by Chubb Re and our accident business were
both profitable in 2003 and 2002 compared with modestly unprofitable results in 2001.

As a result of disarray in the surety reinsurance market caused by several years of declining prices
and high losses, the availability of surety reinsurance in the near term has been significantly reduced.
As a result, our future surety results could be more volatile.

Our surety business tends to be characterized by infrequent but potentially high severity losses.
Since the end of 2001, we have been reducing our exposure on an absolute basis and by specific bond
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type. The majority of our obligations are intended to be performance-based guarantees. When losses
occur, they are mitigated by the customer’s balance sheet, contract proceeds and bankruptcy recovery.

Notwithstanding our efforts to manage and reduce our surety exposure, we continue to have
substantial commercial surety exposure for outstanding bonds. In that regard, we have exposures
related to commercial surety bonds issued on behalf of companies that have experienced deterioration
in creditworthiness, including several gas forward purchase surety bonds. We therefore may experi-
ence an increase in filed claims and may incur high severity losses. Such losses would be recorded if
and when claims are filed and determined to be valid, and could have a material adverse effect on the
Corporation’s results of operations and liquidity.

In particular, we have in force $520 million of gas forward purchase surety bonds with one
principal, Aquila, Inc. Our exposure under these bonds will decline over the terms of the bonds, which
extend until 2012. These surety bonds, which are uncollateralized, secure Aquila’s obligation to supply
gas under long-term forward purchase agreements. Under the terms of these bonds, our entire
obligation to pay could be triggered if Aquila failed to provide gas under its forward purchase contracts
or was the subject of a bankruptcy filing. There is currently no reinsurance in place covering our
exposure under these bonds. Aquila continues to perform its obligations under the related gas forward
purchase agreements.

A property and casualty subsidiary issued a reinsurance contract to an insurer who provides
financial guarantees on debt obligations. At December 31, 2003, the amount of aggregate principal
commitments related to this contract was approximately $350 million, net of reinsurance. These
commitments expire by 2023.

Loss Reserves

Loss reserves, which are our property and casualty subsidiaries’ largest liability, include significant
amounts related to asbestos and toxic waste claims, the September 11 attack and our Enron surety
exposure. The components of our loss reserves were as follows:

December 31
2003 2002 2001
(in millions)

Gross loss reserves

Total, per balance sheet ... ... ... . ... ... ... ... ... ... $17.948 $16,713  $15,515
Less:
Related to asbestos and toxic waste claims ..................... 1,295 1,136 423
Related to September 11 attack .............. ... ... ... ... 999 2,063 2,775
Related to Enron surety exposure .............ooveiiinennen... 14 113 333
Total, as adjusted . ...... ... .. ... . $15640 $13,401 811,984
Reinsurance recoverable
Total, per balance sheet ......... . ... ... ... ... ... .. ... .. ... $ 3427 $ 4,071 % 4505
Less:
Related to asbestos and toxic waste claims . .................... 57 53 11
Related to September 11 attack............................... 748 1,558 2,239
Related to Enron surety exposure.......... ..., .. — 7 121
Total, as adjusted . ... ... .. $ 2,622 $ 2453 § 2,134
Net loss reserves
Total. .. $14,521 $12.642 $11,010
Total, as adjusted ........ . .. . . . .. 13,018 10,948 9,850



The loss reserves related to asbestos and toxic waste claims, the September 11 attack and our
Enron surety exposure are significant components of our total loss reserves, but they distort the growth
trend in our loss reserves. Adjusted to exclude such loss reserves, our loss reserves, net of reinsurance
recoverable, increased by $2,070 million or 19% in 2003 compared with $1,098 million or 11% in 2002.

Net loss reserves, as adjusted, by segment were as follows:
December 31

2003 2002 2001
(in millions)
Personal insurance . ..... ... ... .. $ 1,219 $ 1064 § 900
Commercial insurance ... i 5,248 4714 4,661
Specialty insurance . ......... .. . . .. 6,551 5,170 4,289
Net loss reserves, as adjusted .. ...... ... ... $13,018 $10948  $9,850

Loss reserves for each of our business segments increased in 2002 and again in 2003. The increase
was most significant in specialty insurance, due in large part to directors and officers and errors and
ornissions claim activity and the strong growth in our reinsurance assumed business. There was
minimal loss reserve growth in commercial insurance in 2002, reflecting the exposure reductions over
the several years prior to 2002.

Loss reserves include estimates for claims that have been reported and claims that have not been
reported and include estimates of all expenses associated with settling those claims. Estimates are
based upon past claim experience modified for current trends as well as prevailing economic, legal and
social conditions.

We continually review and update our loss reserves. Based on all information currently available,
we believe that the aggregate loss reserves of the property and casualty subsidiaries at December 31,
2003 were adequate to cover claims for losses that had occurred, including both those known to us and
those yet to be reported. In establishing such reserves, we consider facts currently known and the
present state of the law and coverage litigation. However, given the judicial decisions and legislative
actions that have broadened the scope of coverage and expanded theories of liability in the past and
the possibilities of similar interpretations in the future, particularly as they relate to asbestos claims
and, to a lesser extent, toxic waste claims, additional liabilities may emerge in future periods for
amounts in excess of carried reserves. Such increases in estimates could have a material adverse effect
on the Corporation’s future operating results. However, management does not expect that any such
increases would have a material effect on the Corporation’s consolidated financial condition or
liquidity.

Prior Year Loss Development

Because loss reserve estimates are subject to the outcome of future events, changes in estimates
are unavoidable given that loss trends vary and time is required for changes in trends to be recognized
and confirmed. As a result, the actual emergence of losses could vary, perhaps substantially, from the
estimate of losses included in our financial statements, particularly when settlements may not occur
until well into the future. Estimates are continually reviewed and updated as loss experience develops
and new information becomes available. Any changes in estimates are reflected in operating results in
the period in which the estimates are changed. Reserve changes that increase previous estimates of
ultimate cost are referred to as unfavorable or adverse development or reserve strengthening. Reserve
changes that decrease previous estimates of ultimate cost are referred to as favorable development or
reserve releases.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending loss reserves, net of reinsurance, for the three years
ended December 31, 2003 is as follows:

2003 2002 2001

(in millions)
Net loss reserves, beginning of year . .............................. $12.642 811,010 $10,051
Net incurred losses and loss expenses related to
CUITENt YEAT . . ottt e e et e 6,470 5,275 5,553
Prior years ... ... 397 790 (195)

6,867 6,065 5,358

Net payments for losses and loss expenses related to

CUITENt YOAL. ...\ et e 1,589 1,348 1,605
Prior years ... ... 3,399 3,085 2,794
4,988 4,433 4,399

Net loss reserves, end of year ......... .. ... . ... .. ... .. ..., $14521  $12,642  $11,010

During 2003, we experienced overall unfavorable development of $397 million on loss reserves
established as of the previous year end. This compares with unfavorable one year development of
$790 million in 2002 and favorable development of $196 million in 2001. Such development was
reflected in operating results in these respective years.

The unfavorable development in 2003 was due primarily to two factors. First, we strengthened
asbestos loss reserves by $250 million in the fourth quarter. Second, we experienced unfavorable
development of about $140 million in our executive protection classes, principally directors and
officers liability and errors and omissions liability, as adverse loss trends in recent accident years more
than offset favorable loss experience in older accident years. The adverse development was due in
large part to claims related to the corporate failures and allegations of management misconduct and
accounting irregularities in recent years.

The unfavorable development in 2002 was due primarily to our strengthening asbestos and toxic
waste loss reserves by $741 million during the year. In addition, we experienced unfavorable
development of about $100 million in the homeowners class due to the increase in the severity of water
damage and related mold claims. In the executive protection classes, the adverse loss trends in Europe
and the United States in the more recent accident years more than offset favorable loss experience in
the United States in older accident years, resulting in unfavorable development of about $50 million
during 2002. Offsetting the unfavorable development somewhat was the $88 million reduction in surety
loss reserves related to the Enron settlement.

The favorable development in 2001 was due primarily to favorable loss experience in our
commercial excess liability and executive protection coverages, offset in part by losses incurred related
to asbestos and toxic waste claims.

In Item 1 of this report, we present an analysis of our consolidated loss reserve development on a
calendar year basis for each of the ten years prior to 2003.

Our U.S. property and casualty subsidiaries are required to file annual statements with insurance
regulatory authorities prepared on an accounting basis prescribed or permitted by such authorities.
These annual statements include an analysis of loss reserves, referred to as Schedule P, that presents
accident year loss development information by line of business for the nine years prior to 2003. It is our
intention to post the Schedule P for our combined U.S. property and casualty subsidiaries on our
website as soon as it becomes available.
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Estimates and Uncertainties

The process of establishing loss reserves is complex and imprecise as it must take into considera-
tion many variables that are subject to the outcome of future events. As a result, subjective judgments
as to our ultimate exposure to losses are an integral component of our loss reserving process.

We analyze loss reserves in two components: (1) reserves relating to all claims other than asbestos
and toxic waste claims and (2) reserves relating to asbestos and toxic waste claims. Within the first
component, we review each of the numerous classes of business as part of our overall analysis of loss
reserves, taking into consideration the variety of trends that impact the ultimate settlement of claims in .
each particular class of business. Due to the multitude of such classes and the volume of detail for
each, it would not be possible to provide complete quantitative actuarial claim data for all such classes,
nor do we believe that such disclosure by class of business would be meaningful or useful to the
reader.

Reserves Relating to Claims Other than Asbestos and Toxic Waste Claims. Our loss reserves include
amounts related to short tail and long tail classes of business. Short tail classes consist principally of
homeownears, commercial property and marine business. For these classes, the estimation of loss
reserves is less complex because claims are generally reported and settled shortly after the loss occurs
and the claims relate to tangible property.

Long-tail classes include directors and officers liability, errors and omissions liability and other
executive protection coverages, commercial excess liability, and other liability classes. Most of our loss
reserves relate to long tail liability classes of business. For many liability claims significant periods of
time, ranging up to several years or more, may elapse between the occurrence of the loss, the reporting

. of the loss and the settlement of the claim. The longer the time span between the incidence of a loss

-~ and the settlement of the claim, the more the ultimate settlement amount can vary. For the long tail

liability ciasses, a relatively small proportion of net losses in the more recent accident years are
reported claims and an even smaller proportion are paid losses. Therefore, a relatively large proportion
of our net losses for these classes are reserves for incurred but not reported (IBNR) losses — claims
that had riot yet been reported to us, some of which were not yet known to the insured, and future
development on reported claims. In fact, approximately 60% of our aggregate net loss reserves at
December 31, 2003 were for IBNR.

To estimate loss reserves, we use a variety of complex actuarial methods that analyze experience
trends and other relevant factors. These methods generally utilize analyses of historical patterns of the
development of paid and reported losses by accident year by class of business. This process relies on
the basic assumption that past experience, adjusted for the effects of current developments and likely
trends, is an appropriate basis for predicting future outcomes. For certain long tail classes of business
where anticipated loss experience is less predictable because of the small number of claims and/or
erratic claim severity patterns, estimates are based on both expected losses and actual reported losses.
These classes include directors and officers liability, errors and omissions liability and commercial
excess liability, among others. For these classes, we judgmentally set ultimate losses for each accident
year based on our evaluation of loss trends and the current risk environment. The expected ultimate
losses are adjusted as the accident years mature.

Our loss reserve review process does not calculate a range of loss reserve estimates. Using the
various complex actuarial methods and different underlying assumptions, management selects the
carried reserve for each class of business.

The inherent uncertainty in the process of establishing loss reserves arises from a number of
factors. These factors include but are not limited to:

» Changes in the inflation rate for goods and services related to covered damages such as medical
care and home repair costs,
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* Changes in the judicial environment regarding the interpretation of policy provisions relating to
the determination of coverage,

» Changes in the general attitude of juries in the determination of liability and damages,

» Changes in our estimates of the number and/or severity of claims that have been incurred but
not reported as of the date of the financial statements,

¢ Changes in our underwriting standards and
* Any changes in our claim handling procedures.

In addition, we must consider the uncertain effects of emerging or potential claims and coverage
issues. These issues can have a negative effect on our loss reserves by either extending coverage
beyond the original underwriting intent or by increasing the number or size of claims. Examples of
emerging or potential claims and coverage issues include increases in the number and size of water
damage claims related to remediation of mold conditions and increases in the number and size of
directors and officers liability and errors and omissions liability claims arising out of investment
banking practices and accounting and other corporate malfeasance. As a result of issues such as these,
the uncertainties inherent in estimating ultimate claim costs on the basis of past experience have
become increasingly unpredictable, further complicating the already complex loss reserving process.
The future impact of these issues and other unforeseen emerging or potential claims and coverage
issues is extremely hard to predict and could materially adversely affect the adequacy of our loss
reserves.

Reserves Relating to Asbestos and Toxic Waste Claims. The uncertainties relating to asbestos and
toxic waste claims on insurance policies written many years ago are exacerbated by inconsistent court
decisions as well as judicial interpretations and legislative actions that in some cases have tended to
broaden coverage beyond the original intent of such policies and in others have expanded theories of
liability. The industry as a whole is engaged in extensive litigation over these coverage and liability

issues and is thus confronted with a continuing uncertainty in its efforts to quantify these exposures.

Reserves for asbestos and toxic waste claims cannot be estimated with traditional actuarial
techniques that rely on historical accident year loss development factors. Quantitative techniques have
to be supplemented by subjective considerations including management judgment. It is therefore not
possible to determine the future development of asbestos and toxic waste claims with the same degree
of reliability as is the case for other types of claims. Such development will be affected by the extent to
which courts and legislatures continue to expand the intent of the policies and the scope of the
coverage. We establish case reserves and expense reserves for costs of related litigation where
sufficient information has been developed to indicate the involvement of a specific insurance policy. In
addition, IBNR reserves are established to cover additional exposures on both known and unasserted
claims.

Asbestos Reserves. Asbestos remains the most significant and difficult mass tort for the insurance
industry in terms of claims volume and dollar exposure. Asbestos claims relate primarily to bodily
injuries asserted by those who came in contact with asbestos or products containing asbestos. Early
court cases established the “continuous trigger” theory with respect to insurance coverage. Under this
theory, insurance coverage is deemed to be triggered from the time a claimant is first exposed to
asbestos until the manifestation of any disease. This interpretation of a policy trigger can involve
insurance companies over many years and increases their exposure to lability.

The plaintiffs’ bar continues to solicit new claimants through extensive advertising and through
asbestos medical screenings. Litigation is then initiated even though many of the claimants do not
show any signs of asbestos-related disease. Thus, new asbestos claims and new exposures on existing
claims have continued unabated despite the fact that usage of asbestos has declined since the
mid-1970’s. Based on published projections, we expect that we will continue receiving asbestos claims
at the current rate for at least the next several years.
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To date, approximately 70 manufacturers and distributors of asbestos products have filed for
bankruptcy protection as a result of asbestos liabilities. The rapid increase in both the frequency and
severity of claims in recent years accelerated the pace at which these bankruptcies were filed.

Our most significant individual asbestos exposures involve product liability on the part of
“traditional” defendants who manufactured, distributed or installed asbestos products. We wrote
excess liability and/ or general liability coverages for these insureds. While these insureds are relatively
few in number, such exposure has increased in recent years due to the increased volume of claims, the
erosion of much of the underlying limits and the bankruptcies of target defendants.

Our other asbestos exposures involve product and non-product liability on the part of “periph-
eral” defendants, including a mix of manufacturers, distributors and installers of certain products that
contain asbestos in small quantities and owners of properties on which asbestos exists. Generally, these
insureds are named defendants on a regional rather than a nationwide basis. As the financial resources
of traditicnal asbestos defendants have been depleted, plaintiffs are targeting these viable peripheral
parties with greater frequency and, in many cases, for larger awards.

Asbestos claims against the major manufacturers, distributors or installers of asbestos products
were presented under the products liability section of primary general liability policies as well as
under excess liability policies, both of which typically had aggregate limits that capped an insurer’s
liability. In recent years, a number of asbestos claims by insureds are being presented as “non-
products” claims, such as those by installers of asbestos products and by property owners who
allegedly had asbestos on their property, under the premises or operations section of primary general
liability policies. Unlike products exposures, these non-products exposures typically had no aggregate
limits, creating potentially greater exposure. Further, in an effort to seek additional insurance
coverage, some insureds with installation activities who have substantially eroded their products
coverage are presenting new asbestos claims as non-products operations claims or attempting to
reclassify previously settled products claims as non-products claims to restore a portion of previously
exhausted products aggregate limits. It is difficult to predict whether insureds will be successful in
asserting claims under non-products coverage or whether insurers will be successful in asserting
additional defenses. Therefore, the impact of such efforts on insurers is uncertain.

The expanded focus of asbestos litigation beyond asbestos manufacturers and distributors to
installers and premises owners has created, in some instances, conflicts among insureds, primary
insurers and excess insurers, mainly involving questions regarding allocation of indemnity and expense
costs and exhaustion of policy limits. These issues are generating costly coverage litigation with the
potential for inconsistent results.

In establishing our asbestos reserves, we evaluate the exposure presented by each insured. As part
of this evaluation, we consider the available insurance coverage; limits and deductibles; the jurisdic-
tions involved; past settlement values of similar claims; the potential role of other insurance,
particularly underlying coverage below our excess liability policies; and applicable coverage defenses,
including asbestos exclusions.

We have assumed a continuing unfavorable legal environment with no benefit from any federal
asbestos reform legislation. A recent proposal, which envisioned a sizable trust funded primarily by
defendants and insurers, appears highly unlikely to pass.

In the third quarter of 2002, our actuaries and claim personnel together with our outside actuarial
consultants commenced their periodic ground-up exposure-based analysis of our asbestos related
liabilities. As part of this analysis, they considered the following adverse trends:

» Estimates of the ultimate liabilities for traditional asbestos defendants have increased as the
number of plaintiff claims has surged over the past few years. The notable increase in claimants
as well as potential future claimants has resulted in large settlements of asbestos related
litigation. As a result, it now appears more likely that many of these traditional defendants will
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access higher excess layers of insurance coverage as well as more years of coverage than
previously anticipated.

¢ Claims have been more aggressively pursued against peripheral asbestos defendants in recent
years, partly in response to the bankruptcy or exhaustion of insurance coverage for many of the
major traditional defendants.

¢ The number of claims filed under the non-aggregate premises or operations section of general
liability policies has increased, creating potentially greater exposure.

¢ The litigation environment has become increasingly adverse. More than half of lawsuits filed in
recent years have been filed in five plaintiff oriented states, where significant verdicts histori-
cally have been rendered against commercial defendants.

¢ The number of asbestos defendants in bankruptcy has increased, resulting in an increase in the
number and cost of declaratory judgment lawsuits to resolve coverage disputes and to effect
settlements in the bankruptcy courts.

Upon completion of the analysis and assessment of the results, we increased our net asbestos loss
reserves by $545 million in the third quarter of 2002. Following a thorough review in the fourth quarter
by our internal actuarial, claim and reinsurance personnel, we reduced our estimate of reinsurance
recoverable on potential asbestos claims. As a result, our net asbestos loss reserves increased by an
additional $75 million.

In the fourth quarter of 2003, our actuaries and claim personnel together with our outside
actuarial consultants performed a rigorous update of their 2002 ground-up exposure-based analysis of
our asbestos related liabilities. The review noted the same adverse trends observed during the 2002
analysis, particularly a further increase in estimates of the ultimate liabilities for several of our
traditional asbestos defendants. In addition, the number of insureds for whom we established reserves
and the average severity of claims were both higher than anticipated. Upon completion of the update,
we increased our net asbestos loss reserves by $250 million.

The following table presents a reconciliation of the beginning and ending loss reserves related to
asbestos claims.

Years Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
(in millions)

Gross loss reserves, beginning of year ............. ... ... ... .. ....... $ 885 3225  $225
Reinsurance recoverable, beginning of year............ ... ... ... ... ..., 51 10 13
Net loss reserves, beginning of vear ................. ... ................ 834 215 212
Net incurred [0SSes . ... ... .o it 250 657 57
Net losses paid. .. ..ot 72 38 54
Net loss reserves, end of year ....... ... ... i, 1,012 834 215
Reinsurance recoverable, end of vear ......... .. .. .. . .. .. ... ... ... ..... 56 51 10
Gross loss reserves, end of vear. ... ... .. . . $1,068 3885  $225

Significant uncertainty remains as to our ultimate liability relating to asbestos related claims. This
uncertainty is due to such factors as the long latency period between asbestos exposure and disease
manifestation and the resulting potential for involvement of multiple policy periods for individual
claims as well as the increase in the volume of claims by unimpaired plaintiffs and the increase in
claims filed under the non-aggregate premises or operations section of general liability policies. There
is also the possibility, however remote, of federal legislation that would address the asbestos problem.
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Toxic Waste Reserves. Toxic waste claims relate primarily to pollution and related cleanup costs.
Gur insureds have two potential areas of exposure — hazardous waste dump sites and pollution at the
insured site primarily from underground storage tanks and manufacturing processes.

Under the federal “Superfund” law and similar state statutes, when potentially responsible parties
(PRPs) fail to handle the clean-up at a hazardous waste site, regulators have the work done and then
attempt to establish legal liability against the PRPs. Most sites have multiple PRPs.

Most PRPs named to date are parties who have been generators, transporters, past or present
landowners or past or present site operators. The PRPs disposed of toxic materials at a waste dump site
or transported the materials to the site. These PRPs had proper government authorization in many
instances. Insurance policies issued to PRPs were not intended to cover the clean-up costs of pollution
and, in many cases, did not intend to cover the pollution itself. Pollution was not a recognized hazard
at the time many of these policies were written. In more recent years, however, policies specifically
exclude such exposures.

As the costs of environmental clean-up became substantial, PRPs and others increasingly filed
claims with their insurance carriers. Litigation against insurers extends to issues of liability, coverage
and other policy provisions.

There is substantial uncertainty involved in estimating our liabilities related to these claims. First,
the liabilities of the claimants are extremely difficult to estimate. At any given site, the allocation of
remediation costs among governmental authorities and the PRPs varies greatly depending on a variety
of factors. Second, different courts have addressed liability and coverage issues regarding pollution
claims and have reached inconsistent conclusions in their interpretation of several issues. These
significant uncertainties are not likely to be resolved definitively in the near future.

Uncertainties also remain as to the Superfund law itself. Superfund’s taxing authority expired on
December 31, 1995 and has not been re-enacted. Federal legislation appears to be at a standstill. At this
time, it is not possible to predict the direction that any reforms may take, when they may occur or the
effect that any changes may have on the insurance industry.

Without federal movement on Superfund reform, the enforcement of Superfund liability is
shifting to the states. States are being forced to reconsider state-level cleanup statutes and regulations.
As individual states move forward, the potential for conflicting state regulation becomes greater.
Significant uncertainty remains as to the cost of remediating the state sites. Because of the large
number of state sites, such sites could prove even more costly in the aggregate than Superfund sites.

In establishing our toxic waste reserves, we evaluate the exposure presented by each insured. As
part of this evaluation, we consider the probable liability, available insurance coverage, past settlement
values of similar exposures as well as facts that are unique to each insured.

Uncertainty remains as to our ultimate liability relating to toxic waste claims. However, toxic
waste losses appear to be developing as expected due to relatively stable claim trends. In many cases,
claims are being settled for less than initially anticipated due to more efficient site remediation efforts.
In other cases, we have been successful at buying back our policies.

Despite the stable claim trends, we increased our toxic waste loss reserves by $80 million in the
third quarter of 2002 based on the estimate of our actuaries and actuarial consultants as to our ultimate
exposure.




The following table presents a reconciliation of the beginning and ending loss reserves, net of
reinsurance recoverable, related to toxic waste claims. There are virtually no reinsurance recoveries
related to these claims.

Years Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001

(in millions)
Reserves, beginning of year. .......... . ... $249 $197 $238
Incurred 10SSes .. ... o e — 84 4
Losses paid . ... 23 32 45
Reserves,end of year ... ... . $226 $249 $197

Catastrophe Risk Management

Qur property and casualty subsidiaries have exposure to losses caused by hurricanes, earthquakes,
winter storms, windstorms and other natural catastrophic events. The frequency and severity of
natural catastrophes are unpredictable.

The extent of losses from a catastrophe is a function of both the total amount of insured exposure
in an area affected by the event and the severity of the event, We continually assess our concentration
of underwriting exposures in catastrophe prone areas globally and develop strategies to manage this
exposure through individual risk selection, subject to regulatory constraints, and through the purchase
of catastrophe reinsurance. In recent years, we have invested in modeling technologies and concentra-
tion management tools that allow us to better monitor and control our accumulations of potential
losses from catastrophe exposures. We maintain records showing concentrations of risk in catastrophe
exposed areas such as California (earthquake and brush fires) and the gulf and east coasts of the
United States (hurricanes). We also continue to explore and analyze credible scientific evidence,
including the impact of global climate change, that may affect our potential exposure under insurance
policies.

Despite these efforts, the occurrence of one or more severe catastrophic events in heavily
populated areas could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation’s results of operations,
financial condition or liquidity.

Terrorism Risk and Legislation

The tragic event of September 11 changed the way the property and casualty insurance industry
views catastrophic risk. Numerous classes of business have become exposed to terrorism related
catastrophic risks in addition to the catastrophic risks related to natural occurrences. This has required
us to change how we identify and evaluate risk accumulations. We have changed our underwriting
protocols to address terrorism and the limited availability of terrorism reinsurance. However, given the
uncertainty of the potential threats, we cannot be sure that we have addressed all the possibilities.

The Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 (the Terrorism Act) was signed into law on Novem-
ber 26, 2002. The Terrorism Act established a temporary program under which the federal government
will share the risk of loss from certain acts of international terrorism with the insurance industry. The
program terminates on December 31, 2005. The Terrorism Act is applicable to almost all commercial
lines of insurance. Insurance companies with direct commercial insurance exposure in the United
States are required to participate in the program. Each insurer has a separate deductible in the event of
an act of terrorism before federal assistance becomes available. The deductible is based on a
percentage of direct commercial earned premiums from the previous calendar year. For 2004, that
deductible is 10% of direct commercial premiums earned in 2003. For losses above the deductible, the
federal government will pay for 90% of covered losses, while the insurer contributes 10%. There is a
combined annual aggregate limit for the federal government and all insurers of $100 billion; above this
amount, insurers are not liable for covered losses. For certain classes of business, such as workers’
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compensation, terrorism coverage is mandatory. For those classes of business where it is not
mandatory, insureds may choose not to accept the terrorism coverage, which would reduce our
exposure. While the provisions of the Terrorism Act will serve to mitigate our exposure in the event of
a large-scale terrorist attack, our deductible is substantial, approximating $600 million in 2004,
Therefore, we are making a concerted effort to monitor and control terrorism risk aggregations.
However, our future operating results could be more volatile due to the limited terrorism coverage in
our reinsurance program.

We also have exposure outside the United States to risk of loss from acts of terrorism. In some
jurisdictions, we have access to government mechanisms that would mitigate our exposure.

Investment Results

Property and casualty investment income before taxes increased by 14% in 2003 compared with
2002 and by 3% in 2002 compared with 2001. Growth in both years was due to an increase in invested
assets, which reflected substantial cash flow from operations over the period. Growth in 2003 also
benefited from capital contributions to the property and casualty subsidiaries by the Corporation of
$1 billion in the fourth quarter of 2002 and $800 million in the second quarter of 2003. Growth in 2002
benefited from a capital contribution in the fourth quarter of 2001 that added $500 million to the
invested assets of the property and casualty subsidiaries. Lower available reinvestment rates on fixed
maturities that matured in each year dampened growth in investment income.

The effective tax rate on our investment income was 20.3% in 2003 compared with 18.2% in 2002
and 17.0% in 2001. The effective tax rate increased each year as a result of our holding a smaller
proportion of our investment portfolio in tax-exempt securities.

On an after-tax basis, property and casualty investment income increased by 11% in 2003 and 2% in
2002. Management uses property and casualty investment income after-tax, a non-GAAP financial
measure, to evaluate its investment performance because it reflects the impact of any change in the
proportion of the investment portfolio invested in tax-exempt securities and is therefore more
meaningful for analysis purposes than investment income before income tax.

Other Charges

Other charges include miscellaneous income and expenses of the property and casualty
subsidiaries.

Other charges in 2003 included expenses of $18 million related to the restructuring of our
operations in Continental Europe. The restructuring costs consist primarily of severance costs related
to branch closings and work force reductions.

Other charges in 2001 included goodwill amortization of approximately $20 million. The account-
ing for goodwill was changed in 2002 as discussed further under “Changes in Accounting Principles”.
As a result, there was no goodwill amortization in 2003 and 2002.

Other charges in 2001 also included the $10 million charge for our share of the losses of Hiscox plc
from the September 11 attack.
Chubb Financial Solutions

Chubb Financial Solutions (CFS) was organized in 2000 to develop and provide customized
products to address specific financial needs of corporate clients. CFS operated through both the capital
and insursnce markets. The insurance and reinsurance solutions were written by our property and
casualty subsidiaries, and the results of such business are included within our underwriting results.

In April 2003, the Corporation announced its intention to exit CFS’s non-insurance business and to
run-off the existing financial products portfolio. Our objective is to exit this business as quickly as
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possible while minimizing the potential of a large payment due to an unexpected credit event over the
next few years.

CFS’s non-insurance business was primarily structured credit derivatives, principally as a
counterparty in portfolio credit default swap contracts. The Corporation guaranteed all of these
obligations.

In a typical portfolio credit default swap, CFS participated in the senior layer of a structure
designed to replicate the performance of a portfolio of corporate securities, a portfolio of asset-backed
securities or a specified pool of loans. The structure of these portfolio credit default swaps generally
requires CFS to make payment to counterparties to the extent cumulative losses, related to numerous
credit events, exceed a specified threshold. The risk below that threshold, referred to as subordination,
is assumed by other parties with the primary risk layer sometimes retained by the buyer. The amount
of subordination for each contract varies based on the credit quality of the underlying portfolio and
the term to maturity of the contract. Credit events generally arise when one of the referenced entities
within a portfolio becomes bankrupt, undergoes a debt restructuring or fails to make timely interest or
principal payments.

Portfolio credit default swaps are derivatives and are carried in the financial statements at
estimated fair value, which represents management’s best estimate of the cost to exit our positions.
Most of these credit default swaps tend to be unique transactions and there is no traded market for
such exposures. To estimate the fair value of the obligation in each credit default swap, we use internal
valuation models that are similar to external valuation models.

The fair value of our credit default swaps is subject to fluctuations arising from, among other
factors, changes in credit spreads, the financial ratings of referenced asset-backed securities, actual
credit events reducing subordination, credit correlation within a portfolio, anticipated recovery rates
related to potential defaults and changes in interest rates. Changes in fair value are included in income
in the period of the change. Thus, CFS’s results are subject to volatility, which has had a significant
effect on the Corporation’s results of operations from period to period. The market risks associated
with our obligations under portfolio credit default swaps are discussed under the Financial Products
section of Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

The non-insurance business of CFS produced a loss before taxes of $127 million in 2003 compared
with a loss of 870 million in 2002 and income of $9 million in 2001.

The loss in 2002 was due to adverse movement in the mark-to-market adjustment, which resulted
in an increase in the fair value of our future obligations related to the portfolio credit default swaps. Of
the increase in the fair value of our obligations, $53 million was due to downgrades in the financial
ratings of certain referenced securities underlying two of our asset backed portfolio credit default
swaps. Other factors contributing to the increase were a widening of market credit spreads and, for
one credit default swap, erosion in the risk layers that are subordinate to the CFS risk layer due to
actual losses in those subordinate layers.

The substantial loss in 2003 was due to further deterioration in the credit quality of certain
referenced securities underlying the two asset-backed credit default swaps. In the first nine months of
the year, the fair value of our future obligations related to these two swaps increased by $70 million.
Then, in the fourth quarter, as described below, we terminated the two swaps and replaced them with
a principal and interest guarantee agreement, which resulted in an additional loss of $96 million. The
losses related to these two asset-backed swaps were partially offset by mark-to-market gains during the
year on our corporate credit default swaps.

Revenues from the non-insurance business of CFS, primarily consisting of the change in fair value
of derivatives contracts, were negative $62 million in 2003, negative $51 million in 2002 and positive
$29 million in 2001. Revenues were negative in 2003 and 2002 due to the adverse impact of changes in
fair value in both years and the impact in 2003 of the agreement to terminate the two asset-backed
portfolio credit default swaps and replace them with a principal and interest guarantee.
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CFS’s aggregate exposure, or retained risk, from its in-force portfolio credit default swaps is
referred to as notional amount. Notional amounts are used to express the extent of involvement in
swap transactions. These amounts are used to calculate the exchange of contractual cash flows and are
not necessarily representative of the potential for gain or loss. The notional amounts are not recorded
on the balance sheet.

At December 31, 2002, the notional amount of CFS’s credit default swaps was approximately
$38.7 billion, of which $3.9 billion related to the two asset-backed swaps that had experienced
deterioration in credit quality. In connection with our plan to exit the credit derivatives business, we
have accelerated the reduction of our notional exposure.

In the fourth quarter of 2003, CFS paid $50 million to terminate the two asset-backed portfolio
credit default swaps that had experienced deterioration in credit quality and simultaneously entered
into a new contract that guarantees principal and interest obligations on only $2.3 billion of the
original $2.9 billion notional amount. The Corporation has guaranteed CFS’s obligations under the new
contract. CFS’s potential payment obligations have been extended from the original termination dates
of 2007 and 2008 to the date when the last of the underlying obligations expire. Under the new
agreement, CFS’s maximum payment obligation is limited to $500 million regardless of the amount of
losses tha: might be incurred on the $2.3 billion of referenced securities. Moreover, if losses are
incurred, CFS’s payment obligations are limited to an extended payment schedule under which no
payment would be due until 2010 at the earliest.

CFS established a liability of $186 million related to the new principal and interest contract, which
represented the estimated fair value of the guarantee at its inception. At the same time, CFS
eliminated the carried liability of $140 million on the two swaps that were terminated.

The principal and interest guarantee is not a derivative contract. Therefore, the liability related to
this contract will not be marked-to-market each period. Due to the nature of the guarantee, we will
reduce this liability only upon either the expiration or settlement of the guarantee. If actual losses are
incurred, a liability for the losses will be established, and a portion of the guarantee liability will be
released. The amount released will depend on our evaluation of expected ultimate loss experience.

During 2003, CFS terminated its obligations under certain other portfolio credit default swaps. In
addition, CFS entered into a portfolio credit default swap that exactly offsets the provisions of an in
force credit default swap with a notional exposure of $500 million. These transactions had almost no
impact on CFS’s results of operations.

As a result of these transactions, the notional amount of CFS’s credit default swaps was reduced to
$24.7 billion at December 31, 2003. Our realistic loss exposure is a very small portion of the
$24.7 billion notional amount due to several factors. Our position is senior to subordinated interests of
$5.9 billion in the aggregate. Of the $5.9 billion of subordination, there were only $37 million of
defaults through December 31, 2003, none of which has pierced the subordination limits of any of our
contracts. In addition, using our internal ratings models, we estimate that the credit ratings of the
individual portfolio credit default swaps at December 31, 2003 were either AAA or AA.

In addition to portfolio credit default swaps, CFS entered into a derivative contract linked to an
equity market index and a few other insignificant non-insurance transactions.
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The notional amount and fair value of our future obligations under derivative contracts by type of
risk were as follows:

December 31

Notignal
Amount Fair Value

2003 2002 2003 2002
(in billions) (in millions)

Credit default swaps

Corporate securities ....... ..ottt $11.2  $21.2 %21 § 88
Asset-backed securities........... ... ... 10.5 15.5 23 103
Loan portfolios. . ... i 3.0 20 2 4
24.7 38.7 46 195

Other ... . 4 4 9 9
$25.1 39.1 $55  $204

Corporate and Other

"~ Corporate and other includes investment income earned on corporate invested assets, interest
expense and other expenses not allocated to the operating subsidiaries, and the results of our real
estate and other non-insurance subsidiaries. Corporate and other produced a loss before taxes of
$157 million in 2003 compared with losses of $74 million and $23 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively.
The increasingly higher loss in 2002 and 2003 was due to an increase in interest expense and a decrease
in investment income in each of the years compared with the prior year. Interest expense increased in
2003 due to the issuance of $600 million of debt in the fourth quarter of 2002, $500 million of debt in
the first quarter of 2003 and $460 million of debt in the second quarter of 2003. The higher interest
expense in 2002 was due to the issuance of $600 million of debt in the fourth quarter of 2001. The
decrease in investment income in 2002 and again in 2003 was due to lower average corporate invested
assets resulting from the capital contributions to the property and casualty subsidiaries.

Results in 2003 included a loss at The Chubb Institute, Inc., our post secondary educational
subsidiary, which provides programs primarily relating to information technology. As part of our focus
on our core insurance business, we are analyzing our alternatives with respect to Chubb Institute. The
effect of this loss on 2003 results was substantially offset by income from our investment in Allied
World Assurance Company, Ltd.

Real Estate

Real estate operations resulted in a loss before taxes of $14 million in 2003 compared with losses of
$6 million in 2002 and $4 million in 2001. These amounts are included in the corporate and other
results. In each year, we sold selected commercial properties as well as residential properties. Real
estate revenues were $72 million in 2003, $76 million in 2002 and $87 million in 2001.

We own approximately $285 million of land which we expect will be developed in the future. In
addition, our real estate assets include approximately $180 million of commercial properties and land
parcels under lease, of which $23 million related to a variable interest entity in which we are the
primary beneficiary. We are continuing to explore the sale of certain of our remaining properties.

The recoverability of the carrying value of our real estate assets is assessed based on our ability to
fully recover costs through a future revenue stream. The assumptions used reflect future improvement
in demand for office space, an increase in rental rates and the ability and intent to obtain financing in
order to hold and develop such remaining properties and protect our interests over the long term.
Management believes that it has made adequate provisions for impairment of real estate assets.
However, if the assets are not sold or developed or if leased properties do not perform as presently
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contemplated, it is possible that additional impairment losses may be recognized that would have a
material adverse effect on the Corporation’s results of operations.

Realized Investment Gains and Losses

Net investment gains realized were as follows:

Years Ended December 31
2003 2002 2001

(in millions)

Net gains on sales

Fquity securities . ... i $ 75 $ 85 $47
Fixed maturities . ........ ... .. _66 - 62 33
a1 80

Other than temporary impairment
Equity securities . ........ i e 15 67 45
Fixed maturities .. ... . _ 42 46 34
57 13 1
Realized investment gains before tax ....................... ... ... ... $ 84 $ 34 $1
Realized investment gains after tax ............... . ... .. ... $ 55 $ 22 $1

A primary reason for the sale of fixed maturities in each of the last three years has been to improve
our after-tax portfolio return without sacrificing quality where market opportunities have existed to do
$0.

We regularly review our invested assets with a fair value below cost to determine if an other than
temporary decline in value has occurred. In evaluating whether a decline in value of any investment is
other than temporary, we consider various quantitative and qualitative factors including the length of
time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than the cost, the financial condition and near
term prospects of the issuer, whether the debtor is current on contractually obligated interest and
principal payments, and our intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to
allow us to recover our cost. If a decline in the fair value of an individual security is deemed to be
other than temporary, the difference between cost and estimated fair value is charged to income as a
realized investment loss. The fair value of the investment becomes its new cost basis.

The writedowns of fixed maturities in 2003 were primarily due to collateral deterioration of
several asset-backed securities and price declines of a few corporate credits in the airline and energy
sectors.

The writedowns in 2002 and 2001 were primarily due to credit deterioration and corporate failures
of several issuers, particularly in the telecommunications and, to a lesser extent, energy-related
industries.

Income Taxes

We establish deferred income taxes on the undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries.
Similarly, we establish deferred tax assets related to the expected future U.S. tax benefit of losses and
foreign taxes incurred by our foreign subsidiaries. To evaluate the realization of the future tax benefit
of these deferred tax assets, management must consider whether it is more likely than not that
sufficient taxable income will be generated. Management’s judgment is based on its assessment of
business plans and related projections of future taxable income that reflect assumptions about
increased premium volume, higher rates and improved policy terms as well as available tax planning
strategies. The tax loss carryforwards and foreign tax credits have no expiration. However, we are
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required under generally accepted accounting principles to consider a relatively near term horizon
when we evaluate the likelihood of realizing future tax benefits.

During the years 2000 through 2002, Chubb Insurance Company of Europe (Chubb Europe)
incurred substantial losses. These losses were the result of underwriting losses during the period due to
inadequate prices and adverse claims trends, particularly for directors and officers liability and errors
and omissions liability coverages. At December 31, 2002, the deferred income tax asset related to the
expected future U.S. tax benefit of the losses and foreign taxes incurred by Chubb Europe was
$140 million. During the fourth quarter of 2002, we established a valuation allowance of $40 million for

the portion of these tax assets that we could not recognize for accounting purposes due to the

‘requirement to evaluate realization over a near term horizon.

Due to profitable results in Chubb Europe during 2003, as of December 31, 2003, the deferred
income tax asset related to the expected future U.S. tax benefit of the losses and foreign taxes incurred
by Chubb Europe had been reduced to $100 million. As a result, in the fourth quarter of 2003, we
concluded that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized over a near term
horizon and we eliminated the valuation allowance.

Capital Resources and Liquidity

Capital resources and liquidity represent the overall financial strength of the Corporation and its
ability to generate cash flows from its operating subsidiaries, borrow funds at competitive rates and
raise new capital to meet operating and growth needs.

Capital Resources

Capital resources provide protection for policyholders, furnish the financial strength to support
the business of underwriting insurance risks and facilitate continued business growth. At December 31,
2003, the Corporation had shareholders’ equity of $8.5 billion and total debt of $2.8 billion.

In February 2003, $100 million of 67% notes were paid when due.

In March 2003, the Corporation issued $225 million of unsecured 3.95% notes due in 2008 and
$275 million of unsecured 5.2% notes due in 2013. Net proceeds from the issuance of the notes were
$495 million.

In June 2003, a shelf registration statement that the Corporation filed in March 2003 was declared
effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission. Under the registration statement, up to
$2.5 billion of various types of securities may be issued. At December 31, 2003, the Corporation had
approximately $650 million remaining under the shelf registration statement.

In June 2003, the Corporation sold 15,525,000 shares of common stock. Net proceeds from the sale
of the shares were $887 million. Concurrently, the Corporation issued $460 million of unsecured 2.25%
senior notes due in 2008 and 18.4 million purchase contracts. The senior notes and purchase contracts
were issued together in the form of 7% equity units, each of which initially represents $25 principal
amount of senior notes and one purchase contract. The net proceeds from this offering were
$446 million. Each purchase contract obligates the investor to purchase for $25 a variable number of
shares of the Corporation’s common stock on August 16, 2006. The number of shares to be purchased
will be determined based on a formula that considers the market price of our common stock
immediately prior to the time of settlement in relation to the $59.50 per share sale price of our
common stock at the time the equity units were offered. Upon settlement of the purchase contracts,
the Corporation will receive proceeds of approximately $460 million and will issue between approxi-
mately 6,500,000 and 7,700,000 shares of common stock.

In 2002, the Corporation issued $600 million of unsecured 4% senior notes due in 2007 and
24 million mandatorily exercisable warrants to purchase the Corporation’s common stock. The senior
notes and warrants were issued together in the form of 7% equity units, each of which initially
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represents $25 principal amount of senior notes and one warrant. The net proceeds were $582 million.
Each warrant obligates the investor to purchase for $25 a variable number of shares of the
Corporation’s common stock on or before November 16, 2005. The number of shares to be purchased
will be determined based on a formula that considers the market price of our common stock
immediately prior to the time of settlement in relation to the $56.64 per share sale price of our
common stock at the time the equity units were offered. Upon settlement of the warrants, the
Corporation will receive proceeds of approximately $600 million and will issue between approximately
8.700,000 and 10,600,000 shares of common stock.

The equity units are further described in Notes (10) (a) and (20) (¢) of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

The proceeds from the issuance of the notes, the common stock and the equity units are being
used for general corporate purposes, including capital contributions to our property and casualty
subsidiaries to support growth.

The Corporation also has outstanding $300 million of unsecured 6.15% notes due in 2005,
$400 million of unsecured 6% notes due in 2011, $100 million of unsecured 6.6% debentures due in 2018
and $200 million of unsecured 6.8% debentures due in 2031.

Chubb Executive Risk Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Corporation, has outstanding
$75 million of unsecured 7% notes due in 2007. Executive Risk Capital Trust, wholly owned by Chubb
Executive Risk, has outstanding $125 million of 8.675% capital securities. The sole assets of the Trust
are debentures issued by Chubb Executive Risk. The capital securities are subject to mandatory
redempticn in 2027 upon repayment of the debentures. The capital securities are also subject to
mandatorv redemption under certain circumstances beginning in 2007. The Corporation has guaran-
teed the unsecured notes and the capital securities.

Management continuously monitors the amount of capital resources that the Corporation main-
tains both for itself and its operating subsidiaries. In connection with our long-term capital strategy,
the Corporation from time to time contributes capital to its property and casualty subsidiaries. In
addition, in order to satisfy its capital needs as a result of any rating agency capital adequacy or other
future rating issues, or in the event the Corporation were to need additional capital to make strategic
investments in light of market opportunities, the Corporation may take a variety of actions, which
could include the issuance of additional debt and/or equity securities.

In July 1998, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 12,500,000 shares of the
Corporation’s common stock. In June 2001, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to
an additional 16,000,000 shares. The 1998 authorization has no expiration; the 2001 authorization
expired on June 30, 2003. As of December 31, 2003, 3,287,100 shares remained under the 1998 share
repurchase authorization. The Corporation made no share repurchases during 2003. The Corporation
repurchased 1,500,000 shares in open-market transactions in 2002 at a cost of $99 million and 7,971,600
shares in 2001 at a cost of $556 million. We do not anticipate that we will repurchase any shares of our
common stock in 2004.

Ratings

The Corporation and its insurance subsidiaries are rated by major rating agencies. These ratings
reflect the rating agency’s opinion of our financial strength, operating performance, strategic position
and ability to meet our obligations to policyholders. Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services lowered
certain of our ratings in the first quarter of 2003. Following the announcement of our fourth quarter
2003 earnings, which included charges taken to strengthen our asbestos loss reserves and to limit our
exposure on the two credit default swaps written by CFS that had experienced deterioration in credit
quality, Moody’s Investors Service lowered our debt ratings and changed to negative the outlook for
our ratings.
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The following table summarizes the Corporation’s credit ratings from the major independent
rating organizations as of March 9, 2004,
A.M. Best Standard & Poor’s Moody’s Fitch

Senior unsecured debt rating ............... ... ... aa— A A2 A+
Preferred stock rating .. .......... ... ... L at BBB+ Baal
Commercial paper ............. ... ... ........ AMBI+ A-1 P-1 F-1
Counterparty creditrating. . ...................... A

The following table summarizes our property and casualty subsidiaries’ financial strength ratings
from the major independent rating organizations as of March 9, 2004.

AM. Best  Standard & Poor’s Moody’s  Fitch
Financial strength...................... ... ... ... A++ AA Aa2 AA

Ratings are an important factor in establishing our competitive position in our operating
businesses. There can be no assurance that our ratings will continue for any given period of time or
that they will not be changed. Further reductions in our ratings could adversely affect the competitive
position of our operating businesses.

It is possible that positive or negative ratings actions may occur in the future. If our ratings were
downgraded, the Corporation may incur higher borrowing costs and may have more limited means to
access capital.

Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The following table provides our future payments due by period under contractual obligations as
of December 31, 2003, aggregated by type of obligation.

There-
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 after Total

(in millions)

Principal due under long-term debt.................. $ — 5301 3% — $676 $686 $1,140 $2.803
Interest, warrant fee and contract adjustment

payments on long-term debt and equity units . ...... 173 173 131 114 78 596 1,265
Future minimum rental payments under operating

leases . . oot 96 89 83 77 67 333 745

Total ... .. $269  $563  $214  $867  $831  $2,069 $4,813

The Corporation had certain commitments totaling $394 million at December 31, 2003 to fund
limited partnership investments. These capital commitments can be called by the partnerships during
the commitment period (on average, 1-4 years) to fund working capital needs or the purchase of new
investments.

The Corporation does not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements, except as discussed
in Note (16) of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Liquidity

Liquidity is a measure of our ability to generate sufficient cash flows to meet the short and long
term cash requirements of our business operations.

Our property and casualty operations provide liquidity in that premiums are generally received
months or even years before losses are paid under the policies purchased by such premiums.
Historically, cash receipts from operations, consisting of insurance premiums and investment income,
have provided more than sufficient funds to pay losses, operating expenses and dividends to the
Corporation. After satisfying our cash requirements, excess cash flows are used to build the investment
portfolio and thereby increase future investment income.
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New cash from operations available for investment by the property and casualty subsidiaries was
approximately $3.1 billion in 2003 compared with $1.9 billion in 2002 and $570 million in 2001. New
cash available in 2003 was higher than in 2002 due to the substantial growth in premium receipts in
2003 without a commensurate increase in paid losses or operating expenses. The increase in new cash
in 2002 was due to the significant growth in premium receipts while paid losses were similar in 2002
and 2001.

In addition to the cash from operations, the property and casualty subsidiaries received capital
contributions from the Corporation of $800 million in the second quarter of 2003, $1 billion in the
fourth quarter of 2002 and $750 million in the fourth quarter of 2001. In 2001, $250 million was used by
a property and casualty subsidiary to fund the purchase of a 19% interest in Allied World Assurance
Holdings, Ltd, a newly formed Bermuda-based insurer. In 2002, the interest in Allied World Assurance
Holdings was transferred as a dividend from the property and casualty subsidiary to the Corporation.

Our property and casualty subsidiaries maintain investments in highly liquid, short-term and other
marketable securities to provide for immediate cash needs.

- The Corporation’s liquidity requirements in the past have been met by dividends from its property
and casualty subsidiaries and the issuance of commercial paper and debt and equity securities.
Liquidity requirements in the future will be met by these sources of funds as well as borrowings from
its credit facilities.

~ The declaration and payment of future dividends to the Corporation’s shareholders will be at the
discretion of the Corporation’s Board of Directors and will depend upon many factors, including our
operating results, financial condition, capital requirements and any regulatory constraints.

As a holding company, the Corporation’s ability to continue to pay dividends to shareholders and
to satisfy its obligations, including the payment of interest and principal on debt obligations, relies on
the availability of liquid assets in the Corporation, which is dependent in large part on the dividend
paying ability of its property and casualty subsidiaries. Various state insurance laws restrict the
Corporation’s property and casualty subsidiaries as to the amount of dividends they may pay without
the prior approval of regulatory authorities. The restrictions are generally based on net income and on
certain levels of policyholders’ surplus as determined in accordance with statutory accounting
practices. Dividends in excess of such thresholds are considered “extraordinary” and require prior
regulatory approval. During 2003, these subsidiaries paid cash dividends to the Corporation totaling
$270 million. The maximum dividend distribution that may be made by the property and casualty
subsidiaries to the Corporation during 2004 without prior approval is approximately $630 million.

We bzlieve that our strong financial position and conservative debt level provide us with the
flexibility and capacity to obtain funds externally through debt or equity financings on both a short
term and long term basis. However, should our ratings be downgraded, our ability to access the
markets to satisfy our liquidity requirements could be adversely affected.

The Corporation has two credit agreements with a group of banks that provide for unsecured
borrowings of up to $500 million in the aggregate. The $250 million short term revolving credit facility,
which was to have terminated on June 27, 2003, was extended to June 24, 2004 and may be renewed or
replaced. The $250 million medium term revolving credit facility terminates on June 28, 2007. On the
respective termination dates for these agreements, any loans then outstanding become payable. There
have been no borrowings under these agreements. Various interest rate options are available to the
Corporation, all of which are based on market interest rates. The facilities are available for general
corporate purposes and to support the Corporation’s commercial paper borrowing arrangement.

Invested Assets

The main objectives in managing our investment portfolios are to maximize after-tax investment
income and total investment returns while minimizing credit risks in order to provide maximum
support to the insurance underwriting operations. Investment strategies are developed based on many

47



factors including underwriting results and our resulting tax position, regulatory requirements, fluctua-
tions in interest rates and consideration of other market risks. Investment decisions are centrally
managed by investment professionals based on guidelines established by management and approved by
the boards of directors.

Our investment portfolio is primarily comprised of high quality bonds, principally tax-exempt, U.S.
Treasury and government agency, mortgage-backed securities and corporate issues as well as foreign
bonds that support our international operations. In addition, the portfolio includes equity securities
held primarily with the objective of capital appreciation.

In 2003, we invested new cash in tax-exempt bonds and taxable bonds and, to a lesser extent,
equity securities. The taxable bonds were primarily mortgage-backed securities, foreign government
bonds and U.S. Treasury securities. In 2002, we invested new cash in mortgage-backed securities and,
to a lesser extent, U.S. Treasury securities. In 2001, we invested new cash primarily in corporate bonds.
Our objective is to achieve the appropriate mix of taxable and tax-exempt securities in our portfolio to
balance both investment and tax strategies. At December 31, 2003, 51% of our fixed maturity portfolio
was invested in tax-exempt bonds compared with 53% at December 31, 2002 and 59% at December 31,
2001.

Fixed maturity securities that we have the ability and intent to hold to maturity are classified as
held-to-maturity. The remaining fixed maturities, which may be sold prior to maturity to support our
investment strategies, such as in response to changes in interest rates and the yield curve or to
maximize after-tax returns, are classified as available-for-sale. Fixed maturities classified as held-to-
maturity are carried at amortized cost while fixed maturities classified as available-for-sale are carried
at market value. At December 31, 2003, 2% of the fixed maturity portfolio was classified as held to-
maturity compared with 5% at December 31, 2002 and 8% at December 31, 2001.

Changes in the general interest rate environment affect the returns available on new ﬁxed
maturity investments. While a rising interest rate environment enhances the returns available, it
reduces the market value of existing fixed maturity investments and thus the availability of gains on
disposition. A decline in interest rates reduces the returns available on new investments but increases
the market value of existing investments, creating the opportunity for realized investment gains on
disposition.

The unrealized appreciation before tax of investments carried at market value, which includes
fixed maturities classified as available-for-sale and equity securities, was $1,036 million, $901 million
and $389 million at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Such unrealized appreciation is
reflected in a separate component of other comprehensive income, net of applicable deferred income
tax.

The unrealized market appreciation before tax of those fixed maturities carried at amortized cost
was $35 million, $56 million and $64 million at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Such
unrealized appreciation was not reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Changes in unrealized market appreciation or depreciation of fixed maturities were due primarily
to fluctuations in interest rates.

Changes in Accounting Principles

Effective January 1, 2002, the Corporation adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 142 may not be applied retroactively
to financial statements of prior periods. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill is no longer amortized.
Goodwill amortization was approximately $20 million in 2001.

Effective January 1, 2003, the Corporation adopted the fair value method of accounting for stock-
based employee compensation plans, which is the method of accounting defined in SFAS No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. Under the fair value method of accounting, compensation
cost is measured based on the fair value of the award at the grant date and recognized over the service
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period. Prior period financial statements were not restated. The adoption of the fair value method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation plans resulted in a reduction in net income of
approximately $46 million in 2003.

In the fourth quarter of 2003, the Corporation adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board
Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51. FIN 46 requires that a variable interest entity be consolidated by
its primary beneficiary. As a result of its variable interests in a real estate partnership, our real estate
subsidiary is the primary beneficiary of the partnership. We applied FIN 46 by retroactively restating
prior year financial statements with a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the beginning of the first year
restated. The effect of the restatement on previously reported December 31, 2000 shareholders” equity
was a decrease of $33.5 million. The effect on net income for 2001 and 2002, as previously reported, and
on net income for 2003 was immaterial.

These changes in accounting are discussed further in Note (2) of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Mark=t risk represents the potential for loss due to adverse changes in the fair value of financial
instruments. Our primary exposure to market risks relates to our investment portfolio, which is
sensitive to changes in interest rates and, to a lesser extent, credit quality, prepayment, foreign
currency exchange rates and equity prices. We also have exposure to market risks through CFS’s
financial products portfolio and our debt obligations. Analytical tools and monitoring systems are in
place to assess each of these elements of market risk.

Investment Portfolio

Interest rate risk is the price sensitivity of a security that promises a fixed return to changes in
interest rates. Changes in market interest rates directly affect the market value of our fixed income
securities. We view the potential changes in price of our fixed income investments within the overall
context of asset and liability management. Our actuaries estimate the payout pattern of our liabilities,
primarily our property and casualty loss reserves, to determine their duration, which is the present
value of the weighted average payments expressed in years. We set duration targets for our fixed
income investment portfolios after consideration of the duration of these liabilities and other factors,
which we believe mitigates the overall effect of interest rate risk for the Corporation.

The following table provides information about our fixed maturity investments, which are
sensitive to changes in interest rates. The table presents cash flows of principal amounts and related
weighted average interest rates by expected maturity dates at December 31, 2003 and 2002. The cash
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flows are based on the earlier of the call date or the maturity date or, for mortgage-backed securities,
expected payment patterns. Actual cash flows could differ from the expected amounts.

At December 31, 2003

Total
Estimated
There- Amortized Market
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 after Cost Value
{in millions)
Tax-exempt............. $ 698 % 852 $ 642 % 759 $ 753 § 7,273 $10,977 $11,656
Average interest rate . . 6.0% 5.5% 5.5% 5.4% 5.1% 4.7% — —
Taxable — other than
mortgage-backed
securities. ............ 760 894 487 607 1,104 3,296 7,148 7,373
Average interest rate .. 4.9% 3.8% 5.2% 51% 4.8% 3.1% — —_
Mortgage-backed
securities............. 522 352 335 310 549 1,316 3,384 3,418
Average interest rate .. 4.8% 4.8% 5.0% 5.0% 5.9% 5.0% — —
Total .................. $1,980 $2,098 $1,464 31,676 $2,406 $11,885 $21,509 $22,447
At December 31, 2002
Total
Estimated
There- Amortized Market
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 after Cost Value
(in millions)
Tax-exempt.............. $ 510 & 658 $1,376 $ 693 § 730 85277 $ 9,244 $ 9,934
Average interest rate . ... 5.8%  .58% 5.6% 56% -  55%. 51% — ~ —
Taxable — other than
mortgage-backed
securities. ............. 452 759 617 519 534 2,513 5,394 5,610
Average interest rate ... 4.8% 4.8% 5.9% 5.9% 5.8% 5.6% — —
Mortgage-backed
securities. ............. 500 396 235 225 217 1,146 2,719 2,775
Average interest rate . .. 5.7% 5.2% 5.6% 5.8% 5.7% 6.2% — —
Total ................ L 31,462 $1,813 $2228 $1,437 $1,481  $8,936 $17,357 318,319

We have consistently invested in high quality marketable securities. As a result, we believe that
we have minimal credit quality risk. Approximately 70% of the taxable bonds in our portfolio are issued
by the US. Treasury or U.S. government agencies or rated AA or better by Moody’s or Standard and
Poor’s. Of the tax-exempt bonds, more than 90% are rated AA or better with about 65% rated AAA.
Approximately 2% of our bond portfolio is below investment grade. Our taxable bonds have an average
maturity of five years, while our tax-exempt bonds mature on average in nine years.

Prepayment risk refers to the changes in prepayment patterns related to decreases and increases
in interest rates that can either shorten or lengthen the expected timing of the principal repayments
and thus the average life of a security, potentially reducing or increasing its effective yield. Such risk
exists primarily within our portfolio of mortgage-backed securities. We monitor such risk regularly and
invest primarily in those classes of mortgage-backed securities that are less subject to prepayment risk.

Mortgage-backed securities comprised 32% and 34% of our taxable bond portfolio at year-end 2003
and 2002, respectively. About 68% of our mortgage-backed securities holdings at December 31, 2003
related to residential mortgages consisting of government agency pass-through securities, government
agency collateralized mortgage obligations (CMOs) and AAA rated non-agency CMOs backed by
government agency collateral or single family home mortgages. The majority of the CMOs are actively
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traded in liquid markets and market value information is readily available from broker/dealers. An
additional 17% of our mortgage-backed securities were call protected AAA rated commercial mort-
gage-backed securities. The remaining mortgage-backed holdings were in investment grade commer-
cial mortgage-backed securities.

Foreign currency risk is the sensitivity to foreign exchange rate fluctuations of the market value
and investment income related to foreign currency denominated financial instruments. The functional
currency of our foreign operations is generally the currency of the local operating environment since
business is primarily transacted in such local currency. We reduce the risks relating to currency
fluctuations by maintaining investments in those foreign currencies in which our property and casualty
subsidiaries have loss reserves and other liabilities. Such investments have characteristics similar to our
liabilities in those currencies. At December 31, 2003, the property and casualty subsidiaries held non-
U.S. investments of $3.7 billion supporting their international operations. These investments have
quality and maturity characteristics similar to our domestic portfolio. The principal currencies creating
foreign exchange rate risk for the property and casualty subsidiaries are the British pound sterling, the
euro and the Canadian dollar. The following table provides information about those fixed maturity
investments that are denominated in these currencies. The table presents cash flows of principal
amounts in U.S. dollar equivalents by expected maturity dates at December 31, 2003 and 2002, Actual
cash flows could differ from the expected amounts.

At December 31, 2003

Total
Estimated
There- Amortized Market
2_0_0_4 2005 M 2007 2008 after Cost Value
(in millions)
British pcund sterling .......... $27 8120 $72 $ 98 %153  $592 $1,062 $1,062
Euro ... ... .. ... ... ... .. ... 17 38 75 111 109 532 882 899
Canadian dollar ............... 44 78 93 84 149 253 701 729
A't December 31, 2002
Total
Estimated
) There-  Amortized Market
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 after Cost Value
(in millions)
British pound sterling ........... $8 8§55 $118 $51 $62  $249 $543 $560
Euro ............ ... ... ..... 11 100 55 53 96 300 615 643
Canadian dollar ................ 10 35 60 61 75 249 490 520

Equity price risk is the potential loss in market value of our equity securities resulting from
adverse changes in stock prices. In general, equities have more year-to-year price variability than
intermediate term high grade bonds. However, returns over longer time frames have been consistently
higher. Our publicly traded equity securities are high quality, diversified across industries and readily
marketable. Our portfolio also includes alternative investments, primarily investment partnerships.
These investments by their nature are less liquid than other investments. We actively manage our
market risk by allocating a comparatively small amount of funds to alternative investments, performing
extensive research prior to investing in a new investment and monitoring the performance of the
entities in which we have invested. A hypothetical decrease of 10% in the market price of each of the
equity securities held at December 31, 2003 and 2002 would have resulted in a decrease of $151 million
and $99 million, respectively, in the fair value of the equity securities portfolio.

All of the above risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. A combination of in-house systems and
proprietary models and externally licensed software are used to analyze individual securities as well as
each portfolio. These tools provide the portfolio managers with information to assist them in the
evaluation of the market risks of the portfolio.
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Financial Products

The Corporation, through CFS’s business, assumed exposure to credit risk through portfolio credit
default swaps. In a typical portfolio credit default swap, the occurrence of certain defined credit events
related to referenced entities within a specified portfolio will result in a deterioration of the
subordination. When losses related to cumulative credit events exceed the subordination, the contract
requires CFS to make payment to its counterparty. These obligations are guaranteed by the Corpora-
tion. As discussed in the Chubb Financial Solutions section of MD&A, we have exited this business and
are running off CFS$’s remaining portfolio credit default swaps.

Valuation models are used to estimate the fair value of our obligation in each credit default swap.
Within these models, credit spreads are a critical input used to estimate the probability of the
occurrence of credit events. The fair value of a portfolio credit default swap is also a function of the
financial ratings of referenced asset-backed securities, actual credit events reducing subordination,
credit correlation within a portfolio, anticipated recovery rates related to potential defaults and
changes in interest rates.

At December 31, 2003, our in-force corporate portfolio credit default swaps have final maturities
within two to nine years, with an expected average remaining life of four years. Our in-force asset-
backed portfolio credit default swaps have final maturities that range from 2011 to 2041. However, due
to amortization of the underlying assets and other terms related to those swaps, the expected average
remaining life is seven years,

The following table provides information about our portfolio credit default swaps by maturity,
including the fair value of future obligations:

At December 31, 2003

There-
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 after Total
Notional exposure (in billions) ............. $ — 833 $.3 $97 $ — 8114 $247
Remaining subordination (in billions) ....... — 1 1 2.2 — 3.5 5.9
Actual defaults (in millions) ............... — 37 — — — — 37
Fair value of future obligations (in millions) — 3 — 14 — 29 46

At December 31, 2002

There-
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 after Totul
Notional exposure (in billions) ............. $ — 88— 329 $4.7 $157 $§154 $38.7
Remaining subordination (in billions) ... .... — — 2 7 3.0 2.6 6.5
Actual defaults (in millions) ............... — — 77 20 — — 97
Fair value of future obligations (in millions) — —_ 26 14 78 77 195

CFS also assumed exposure to credit risk through the principal and interest guarantee entered
into in 2003 that guarantees to the counterparty the payment of any principal or interest amount due
and not paid with respect to a group of referenced securities. The notional exposure under the
guarantee is $2.3 billion. However, CFS’s maximum payment obligation is limited to $500 million. At
the inception of the agreement, CFS established a liability of $186 million for the estimated fair value
of the guarantee.

Debt

We also have interest rate risk on our debt obligations. The following table provides information
about our long term debt obligations and related interest rate swap at December 31, 2003. For debt
obligations, the table presents expected cash flow of principal amounts and related weighted average
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interest rates by maturity date. For the interest rate swap, the table presents the notional amount and
related average interest rates by maturity date.
At December 31, 2003

Estimated
There- Market
2004 2005 _2_0_0_6_ 2007 2008 after Total Value
(in millions)
Long-term debt
Expected cash flows of
principal amounts ......... $— $301 3$— 8676 $686  $1,140 $2.803 $3.096
Average interest rate ...... — 62% — - 44% 2.8% 6.4%
Interest rate swap
Notional amount ............ $— $— $— & — $ — % 125 $ 125 $ 11
Variable pay rate.......... 3.2%(a)
Fixed receive rate......... 8.7%

(a) 3 month LIBOR rate plus 204 basis points

Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Consolidated financial statements of the Corporation at December 31, 2003 and 2002 and for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003 and the report of independent auditors
thereon and the Corporation’s unaudited quarterly financial data for the two-year period ended
December 31, 2003 are listed in Item 15(a) of this report.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2003, an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the
Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures was performed under the supervision and with the
participation of the Corporation’s management, including the chief executive officer and chief
financial officer. Based on that evaluation, the chief executive officer and chief financial officer
concluded that the Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the
evaluation date.

During the three month period ended December 31, 2003, there were no changes in internal
control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to affect, the
Corporaticn’s internal control over financial reporting.

In accordance with Section 10A (i) (2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended by
Section 202 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Corporation is required to disclose the approval by
the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of non-audit services to be performed by Ernst &
Young LLP, the Corporation’s independent auditors. Non-audit services are services other than those
provided in connection with an audit or review of the financial statements. During the period covered
by this filing, the Audit Committee approved non-audit services, including: (1) tax compliance
assistance, (2) tax consultation, (3) expatriate services, consisting of tax support and compensation and
administrative services, (4) permitted actuarial services in Canada, Europe, and Australia, (5) em-
plovee benefit plan audits, (6) consultations in connection with accounting or disclosure treatment of
anticipated transactions, (7) consultations in connection with implementation of requirements of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, SEC rules and the New York Stock Exchange’s listing standards, (8) audits of
internal controls and statutory reports required by regulators not otherwise approved as “Audit
Services,” and (9) technical information subscriptions and training.
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PART IIL

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information regarding the Corporation’s Directors is incorporated by reference from the Corpora-
tion’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, under the captions
“Our Board of Directors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.” Informa-
tion regarding the Corporation’s executive officers is included in Part I of this report under the caption
“Executive Officers of the Registrant.” Information regarding the Corporation’s Code of Ethics for
CEO and Senior Financial Officers is included in Item 1 of this report under the caption “Business —
General.” Information regarding the Audit Committee of the Corporation’s Board of Directors and its
Audit Committee financial experts is incorporated by reference from the Corporation’s definitive
Proxy statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, under the captions “Corporate
Governance — Audit Committee” and “Committee Assignments.”

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Incorporated by reference from the Corporation’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders, under the captions “Corporate Governance — Directors’ Compensation”
and “Executive Compensation.”

Ttem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

Incorporated by reference from the Corporation’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders, under the captions “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information.”

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Incorporated by reference from the Corporation’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders, under the caption “Certain Transactions and Other Matters.”

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Incorporated by reference from the Corporation’s definitive Proxy Statement for the 2004 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders, under the caption “Proposal 4: Ratification of Appointment of Independent
Auditor.”
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PART IV.

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statements, Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K
(a) 1. Financial statements and 2. Schedules

The financial statements and schedules listed in the accompanying index to financial
statements and financial statement schedules are filed as part of this report.

3. Exhibits
The exhibits listed in the accompanying index to exhibits are filed as part of this report.
{(b) Reports on Form 8-K

The Registrant filed a current report on Form 8-K on October 27, 2003 furnishing under Item 12
information with respect to the issuance of a press release announcing its results for the quarter ended
September 30, 2003.

The Fegistrant filed a current report on Form 8-K on October 30, 2003 furnishing under Item 12
information with respect to the issuance of its Supplementary Investor Information Report for the
quarter ended September 30, 2003.

The Registrant filed a current report on Form 8-K on December 2, 2003 with respect to
amendments to the employment agreements of John D. Finnegan.

The Registrant filed a current report on Form 8-K on December 9, 2003 with respect to the
adoption of amendments to the Registrant’s by-laws.

The Fegistrant filed a current report on Form 8-K on February 3, 2004 furnishing under Item 12
information with respect to the issuance of a press release announcing its results for the quarter ended
December 31, 2003 and announcing the availability of the Supplementary Investor Information Report
for the quarter and year ended December 31, 2003.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

THE CHUBB CORPORATION
(Registrant)

March 5, 2004

By /s/ JouN D, FINNEGAN

(John D. Finnegan Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated:

Signature Title Date ¢
/s!/  JoHN D. FINNEGAN Chairman, President, Chief March 5, 2004
(John D. Finnegan) E)fecutlve Officer and
Director
/s!/ ZOE BAIRD Director March 5, 2004

(Zoé Baird)

/s/ Joun C. BECK Director March 5, 2004
(John C. Beck)

/s/ SHEILA P. BURKE Director March 5, 2004
(Sheila P, Burke)

/s/ James 1. CasH, JR. Director March 5, 2004
(James I. Cash, Jr.)

/s/ JoEeL J. COHEN Director March 5, 2004
(Joel J. Cohen)

/s/ James M. CORNELIUS Director March 5, 2004

(James M. Cornelius)

/s/ Davip H. Hoac Director March 5, 2004
(David H. Hoag)

/s/ Kraus J. MANGOLD Director March 5, 2004
(Klaus J. Mangold)




Signature

/s/  WARREN B. RupMAN

(Warren B. Rudman)

/s/ DaviD G. SCHOLEY

(David G. Scholey)

(Raymond G.H. Seitz)

/s/  LAWRENCE M. SMALL

{(Lawrence M. Small)

/s/ DaNIEL E. SOMERS

(Daniel E. Somers)

/s/ KAREN HASTIE WILLIAMS

(Karen Hastie Williams)

/s/  JAMES M. ZIMMERMAN

(James M. Zimmerman)

/s/ ALFRED W. ZOLLAR

(Alfred W. Zollar)

/s/  MicHAEL O'REILLY

(Michael O'Reilly)

/s/ HENRY B. SCHRAM

(Henry B. Schram)

Title

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Vice Chairman and

Chief Financial Officer

Senior Vice President and
Chief Accounting Officer
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March 5, 2004

March 5, 2004

March 5, 2004

March 5, 2004

March 5, 2004

March 5, 2004

March 5, 2004

March 5, 2004

March 5, 2004




Management is responsible for the integrity of the
financial information included in this annual report and
for ascertaining that such information presents fairly the
financial position and operating results of the Corpora-
tion. The accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments have been prepared in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States. Such
statements include informed estimates and judgments of
management for those transactions that are not yet com-
plete. Financial information presented elsewhere in this
annual report is consistent with that in the financial
statements.

The accounting systems and internal accounting con-
trols of the Corporation are designed to provide reasona-
ble assurance that assets are safeguarded against losses
from unauthorized use or disposition, that transactions
are executed in accordance with management’s authoriza-
tion and that the financial records are reliable for prepar-
ing financial statements and maintaining accountability
for assets. Qualified personnel throughout the organiza-
tion maintain and monitor these internal accounting
controls on an ongoing basis. In addition, the Corpora-
tion’s Internal Audit Department systematically reviews
these controls, evaluates their adequacy and effectiveness
and reports thereon.
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The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors en-
gages Ernst & Young LLP, on behalf of the Corporation,
as independent auditors to audit the Corporation’s finan-
cial statements and express their opinion thereon. They
have full access to each member of management in
conducting their audits. Such audits are conducted in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States and include a review and evaluation of
the system of internal accounting controls, tests of the
accounting records and other auditing procedures they
consider necessary to express their opinion on the con-
solidated financial statements.

The Corporation’s accounting policies and internal
controls are under the general oversight of the Board of
Directors acting through its” Audit Committee. This
Committee is composed entirely of Directors who are
not officers or employees of the Corporation. The Com-
mittee meets regularly with management, the internal
auditors and the independent auditors to review the
accounting principles and practices employed by the
Corporation and to discuss auditing, internal control and
financial reporting matters. Both the internal and inde-
pendent auditors have, at all times, unrestricted access to
the Audit Committee, without members of management
present, to discuss the results of their audits, their
evaluations of the adequacy of the Corporation’s internal
accounting controls and the quality of the Corporation’s
financial reporting, and any other matter that they be-
lieve should be brought to the attention of the
Committee.




THE CHUBB CORPORATION
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(Item 15(a))

Form 10-K
Page
Report of Independent Auditors F-2
Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2003,

2002 and 2001 F-3
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2003 and 2002 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the Years Ended

December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31,

2003, 2002 and 2001 F-6
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended

December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7
Supplementary Information (unaudited)

Quarterly Financial Data : F-29
Schedules:
I — Consolidated Summary of Investments — Other than Investments in
Related Parties at December 31, 2003 S-1

II — Condensed Financial Information of Registrant at December 31, 2003
and 2002 and for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 S-2

JII — Consolidated Supplementary Insurance Information at and for the

Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 S-5
IV — Consolidated Reinsurance for the Years Ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001 S-6

VI — Consolidated Supplementary Property and Casualty Insurance
Information for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 S-6

All other schedules are omitted since the required information is not present or is not present in
amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is
included in the financial statements and notes thereto.
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ERNST & YOUNG LLP
5 Times Square
New York, New York 10036

The Board of Directors and Shﬁreholders
The Chubb Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Chubb Corporation as of December 31,
2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity, cash flows and comprehensive
income for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003. Qur audits also included the financial
statement schedules listed in the index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of
the Corporation’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedules
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of The Chubb Corporation at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement
schedules, when considered in relation to the basxc financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly in all material
respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note (2) to the financial statements, in 2003 the Corporation changed their method of accounting
for stock-based employee compensation and adopted FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest

Entities, an interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51.
émzf 4 MLL

February 27, 2004
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Consolidated Statements of Income

In Millions

Years Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
Revenues
Premiums Earned .. ... ..o $10,182.5 $8,085.3 $6,656.4
Investment Income . ... .. ... ... 1,118.3 997.3 982.8
Other Revenues ........oiiiiiit i 8.8 23.8 114.0
Realized Investment Gains . ... ...\ iiniin e, 84.4 339 .8
TOTAL REVENUES ... . e 11,394.0 9,140.3 7,754.0
Losses and Expenses
Insurance Losses and Loss Expenses . ....... ... ... .. 6,867.2 6,064.6 5,357.4
Amortization of Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs .................... 2,535.6 2,077.8 1,771.4
Other Insurance Operating Costs and Expenses ...................... 704.7 594.1 483.4
Other ExXpenses . .. ... 150.4 101.4 110.1
Investment Expenses. . ....... ... i 29.0 247 14.1
Corporate Expenses . ...... ... .. . . . .. 173.5 109.3 83.6
TOTAL LOSSES AND EXPENSES . ...t 10,460.4 8,971.9 7,820.0
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE FEDERAL AND FOREIGN
INCOME TAX ... e 933.6 168.4 {66.0)
Federal and Foreign Income Tax (Credit) ............................ 124 .8 (54.5) (177.5)
NET INCOME .. e $ 808.8 $ 2229 $ 1115
Net Income Per Share
Basic .. $ 451 $ 131 $ 65
Diluted ..o e 4.46 1.29 .63

See accompanying nctes.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

In Millions
December 31
2003 2002
{Restated )
Assets
Invested Assets )
Short Term Investments. . ... e $ 2,695.9 $ 1,756.7
Fixed Maturities
Held-to-Maturity — Tax Exempt (market $502.2 and $850.7) ....... 467.0 7949
Available-for-Sale
Tax Exempt (cost $10,509.7 and $8,449.2) ..................... 11,154.0 9,082.9
Taxable (cost $10,531.8 and $8,112.5) ... ... ... ... ... .. ..... 10,790.7 8,385.7
Equity Securities (cost $1,381.4 and $998.3) ....... .. ... ... . ... ...... 1,514.4 992.2
TOTAL INVESTED ASSETS ... e, 26,622.0 21,012.4
Cash ..o 52.2 419
Securities Lending Collateral ... ..vviiiiie e 704.8 1,354.8
Accrued Investment Income . ........ ... 286.8 246.9
Premiums Receivable. .. ... oot 2,188.0 2,040.6
Reinsurance Recoverable on Unpaid Losses and Loss Expenses........... 3,426.6 4,071.5
Prepaid Reinsurance Premiums .. ...ttt 391.0 479.3
Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs. . ... .vovivn e 1,343.4 1,150.0
Real Estate ASSels .. .ottt it e e 518.8 551.4
Investment in Partially Owned Company ................coiviiin... 312.3 266.7
Deferred Income Tax ... ... ... . i 641.4 630.5
Goodwill . ... o 467.4 467.4
Other ASSEtS. . . ottt 1,405.9 1,767.5
TOTAL ASSETS ... $38,360.6 $34,080.9
Liabilities
Unpaid Losses and Loss Expenses............. ... ... .. i, $17,947.8 $16,713.1
Unearned Premiums .. .. ..ottt e 5,939.4 5,049.9
Securities Lending Payable . ........ ... ... ... . 704.8 1,354.8
Long Term Debt ... .. i 2,813.9 1,959.1
Dividend Payable to Shareholders .. ........ ... . ... . ... .. ... ... 67.7 59.9
Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities . . .......... ... ... ... ... ..... 2,365.0 2,118.4
TOTAL LIABILITIES .. ... e 29,838.6 27,255.2
Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (Notes 11 and 16)
Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock — Authorized 4,000,000 Shares;
$1 Par Value; Issued — None ...t i, — —
Common Stock — Authorized 600,000,000 Shares;
$1 Par Value; Issued 195,803,824 and 180,296,834 Shares . ............ 195.8 180.3
Paid-In Surplus ... ... 1,318.8 445.4
Retained Earnings . ... ... . i e 6,868.9 6,319.0
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Unrealized Appreciation of Investments, Net of Tax .................. 673.6 585.5
Foreign Currency Translation Gains (Losses), Net of Tax............. 12.0 (56.5)
Receivable from Employee Stock OwnershipPlan...................... (17.9) (34.1)
Treasury Stock, at Cost — 7,840,448 and 9,095,162 Shares . ............. (529.2) (613.9)
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY ............ ... ... ... .. .. 8,522.0 6,825.7
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY ......... $38,360.6 $34,080.9

See accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Preferred Stock

Balance, Beginning and End of Year ........... ... ... ...

Common Stock

Balance, Beginning of Year ........... ... ... ...
Common Stock Offering. . ...... ...t
Share Activity under Option and Incentive Plans . ..........

Balance, End of Year ......... ... ...

Paid-In Surplus

Balance, Beginning of Year ..........coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiin
Common Stock Offering. . ........... .. i,
Issuance of Equity Units . ..ot
Share Activity under Option and Incentive Plans ...........

Balance, End of Year ........... . ... . i,

Retained Earnings

Balance, December 31, 2000, as Previously Reported ........
Adjustment for the Cumulative Effect of Accounting
Changes on Prior Years........... .. ...,

Balance, Beginning of Year, as Restated ...................
NetIncome ... ... ... e

Dividends Declared (per share $1.44, $1.40 and $1.36) .....
Balance, End of Year . ...... ...

Unrealized Appreciation of Investments

Balance, Beginning of Year . ........ ... .. ... . i
Change During Year, Net of Tax.........................

Balance, End of Year ........ .. o

Foreign Currency-Translation Gains (Losses)

Balance, Beginning of Year ............. ... ... o
Change During Year, Net of Tax.........................

Balance, End of Year ....... ... i
Receivable from. Employee Stock Ownership Plan

Balance, Beginning of Year .......... ... ... . ... . ...,
Principal Repayments.......... ... oo,

Balance, End of Year ............ ... ... ...

Treasury Stock, at Cost

Balance, Beginning of Year ............. .. ... ... ... ...
Repurchase of Shares......... ... ... ...
Share Activity under Option and Incentive Plans . ..........

Balance, End of Year .......... .. ... ... ... .. .. ... ...
TOTALL SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY ...............

See accompanying notes.
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2003

180.3
15.5

195.8

445.4

871.3

(78.1)
80.2

1,318.8

6,319.0
808.8
(258.9)

6,868.9

585.5
88.1

673.6

(56.5)
68.5

12.0

(34.1)
16.2

(17.9)

In Millions

Years Ended December 31

2002
(Restated )

6,335.8
2229
(239.7)

6,319.0

251.6
332.9

585.5

(48.9)
14.8

(34.1)

(681.8)
(99.4)
167.3

(613.9)

$6,825.7

2001
(Restated)

178.8

1.3
180.1

466.0

61.0
527.0

6,492.6

(33.5)

6,459.1
111.5
(234.8)

6,335.8

220.1
32.5

252.6

(68.5)
(4.5)

(73.0)

(244.8)
(555.6)
118.6

(681.8)
$6,491.8




Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

In Millions
Years Ended December 31
2003 2002 2001
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net Income . . ... $ 808.8 $ 2229 $ 1115

Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash
Provided by Operating Activities

Increase in Unpaid Losses and Loss Expenses, Net...... 1,879.6 1,631.9 958.4
Increase in Unearned Premiums, Net ................. 885.4 962.0 305.1
Increase in Premiums Receivable ..................... (147.4) (347.8) {283.0)
Increase in Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs .......... (168.3) (212.5) (86.8)
Deferred Income Tax Credit ........................ (96.9) (126.7) {189.9)
Depreciation . ...... ..ottt 108.0 103.1 95.1
Realized Investment Gains . .............c.ccvn.... (84.4) (33.9) (.8)
Other, Net. . ... e 179.0 16.7 109.6
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING
ACTIVITIES ... e 3,363.8 2,215.7 1,019.2

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from Sales of Fixed Maturities —

Available-for-Sale ............ .. ... ... . 6,165.3 4,559.9 4,581.5
Proceeds from Maturities of Fixed Maturities. .. .......... 2,105.5 2,086.9 1,246.2
Proceeds from Sales of Equity Securities................. 501.0 387.3 458.1
Purchases of Fixed Maturities .. ........................ (12,139.5) (8,205.8) (6,307.2)
Purchases of Equity Securities ......................... (824.0) (467.7) (374.6)
Purchase of Investment in Partially Owned Company .. ... — — (276.5)
Increase in Short Term Investments, Net................ {939.2) (799.9) (351.2)
Purchases of Property and Equipment, Net .............. (74.3) (141.9) (185.2)
Other, Net. . ... ... ... .. (27.9) 54.2 44.0

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES .. .. (5,233.1) (2,521.0) (1,164.9)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Increase (Decrease) in Short Term Debt, Net ........... — (199.0) 199.0
Proceeds from Issuance of Long Term Debt ............. 960.0 600.0 600.0
Repayment of Long Term Debt........................ {100.4) (7.9) (2.8)
Increase (Decrease) in Funds Held under Deposit

COnIACES . . o o et e 347.2 168.6 (8.5)
Proceeds from Common Stock Offering................. 886.8 — —
Proceeds from Issuance of Common Stock Under

Incentive and Purchase Plans ......................... 43.8 106.0 146.8
Repurchase of Shares.................. ... ... ......... — (99.4) (555.6)
Dividends Paid to Shareholders ........................ (251.1) (237.6) (234.8)
Other, Net. . ... i (6.7) (3.3) 5.0

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING
ACTIVITIES . . ... e 1,879.6 3274 149.1
Net Increase in Cash ........... ... ... ... . ... ... 10.3 16.1 34
Cash at Beginning of Year .............................. 41.9 25.8 22.4
CASHATEND OF YEAR ...............cco..t. $ 522 $ 419 $ 258

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Net Income . ...t $ 80838 $ 2229 $ 1115

Other Comprehensive Income
Change in Unrealized Appreciation of Investments,

Net of Tax. ..o e 88.1 332.9 325
Foreign Currency Translation Gains (Losses), Net of Tax . . 68.5 16.5 (4.5)

156.6 349.4 28.0

COMPREHENSIVEINCOME .................... $ 9654 $ 5723 $ 1395

See accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANUIAL STATEMEINTS

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States and in-
clude the accounts of The Chubb Corporation (Chubb)
and its subsidiaries {collectively, the Corporation). Sig-
nificant intercompany transactions have been eliminated
in consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements include amounts
based on informed estimates and judgments of manage-
ment for those transactions that are not yet complete.
Such estimates and judgments affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contin-
gent assets and liabilities at the date of the fiancial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Chubb is a holding company with subsidiaries princi-
pally engaged in the property and casualty insurance
business. The property and casualty insurance subsidiar-
ies (the P&C Group) underwrite most lines of property
and casualty insurance in the United States, Canada,
Europe, Australia and parts of Latin America and Asia.
The geographic distribution of property and casualty
business in the United States is broad with. a particularly
strong market presence in the Northeast.

Chubb Financial Solutions (CFS) was organized in
2000 to develop and provide customized risk-financing
services through both the capital and insurance markets.
CFS’s non-insurance business was primarily structured
credit derivatives, principally as a counterparty in portfo-
lio credit default swap contracts. In the second quarter of
2003, the Corporation implemented a plan to exit the
credit derivatives business and is running off the financial
products portfolio of CFS.

In 2003, the Corporation adopted Financial Account-
ing Standards Board {FASB) Interpretation No. 46
(FIN 46), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an
interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51.
As required under FIN 46, the Corporation has consoli-
dated a real estate partnership in which its real estate
subsidiary, Bellemead Development Corporation (Bel-
lemead), is the primary beneficiary. The accounting
change has been retroactively applied; accordingly, prior
vear financial statements have been restated to reflect the
change in accounting described in Note (2)(c).

Certain amounts in the consolidated financial state-
ments for prior years have been reclassified to conform
with the 2003 presentation.
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(b} Invested Assets

Short term investments, which have an original matur-
ity of one year or less, are carried at amortized cost.

Fixed maturities, which include bonds and redeemable
preferred stocks, are purchased to support the invest-
ment strategies of the Corporation. These strategies are
developed based on many factors including rate of re-
turn, maturity, credit risk, tax considerations and regula-
tory requirements. Fixed maturities that may be sold
prior to maturity to support the investment strategies of
the Corporation are classified as available-for-sale and
carried at market value as of the balance sheet date.
Those fixed maturities that the Corporation has the
ability and positive intent to hold to maturity are classi-
fied as held-to-maturity and carried at amortized cost.

Premiums and discounts arising from the purchase of
mortgage-backed securities are amortized using the inter-
est method over the estimated remaining term of the
securities, adjusted for anticipated prepayments.

Equity securities include common stocks, non-redeem-
able preferred stocks and alternative investments, prima-
rily investment partnerships. Common and non-
redeemable preferred stocks are carried at market value
as of the balance sheet date. Investment partnerships are
carried at the Corporation’s equity in the estimated
market value of the investments held by the
partnerships.

Unrealized appreciation or depreciation of investments
carried at market value is excluded from net income and
credited or charged, net of applicable deferred income
tax, directly to a separate component of comprehensive
income.

Realized gains and losses on the sale of investments are
determined on the basis of the cost of the specific
investments sold and are credited or charged to income.
When the market value of any investment is lower than
its cost, an assessment is made to determine if the decline
is other than temporary. If the decline is deemed to be
other than temporary, the investment is written down to
market value and the amount of the writedown is
charged to income as a realized investment loss. The
market value of the investment becomes its new cost
basis.

The P&C Group engages in securities lending
whereby certain securities from their portfolios are
loaned to other institutions for short periods of time.
Cash collateral obtained from the borrower, equal to the
market value of the loaned securities plus accrued inter-
est, is deposited with a lending agent and invested by the
lending agent in accordance with the Corporation’s
guidelines to generate additional income, which the
P&C Group shares with the lending agent. The P&C
Group maintains full ownership rights to the securities
loaned and continues to earn interest on them. Accord-
ingly, such securities are included in invested assets. The
securities lending collateral is recognized as an asset with
a corresponding liability for the obligation to return the
collateral.




o a e

Premiums are earned on a monthly pro rata basis over
the terms of the policies and include estimates of audit
premiums and premiums on retrospectively rated poli-
cies. Assumed reinsurance premiums are earned over the
terms of the reinsurance contracts. Unearned premiums
represent the portion of direct and assumed premiums
written applicable to the unexpired terms of the policies
and reinsurance contracts in force.

Ceded reinsurance premiums are charged to income
over the terms of the reinsurance contracts. Prepaid
reinsurance premiums represent the portion of premi-
-ums ceded to reinsurers applicable to the unexpired
terms of the reinsurance contracts in force.

Reinsurance reinstatement premiums are recognized in
the same period as the loss event that gave rise to the
reinstatement premiums.

Acquisition costs that vary with and are primarily
related to the production of business are deferred and
amortized over the period in which the related premiums
are earned. Such costs include commissions, premium
taxes and certain other underwriting and policy issuance
costs. Commissions received related to reinsurance pre-
miums ceded are considered in determining net acquisi-
tion costs eligible for deferral. Deferred policy acquisition
costs are reviewed to determine that they do not exceed
recoverable amounts. Anticipated investment income is
considered in the determination of the recoverability of
deferred policy acquisition costs.

(d) Unpaid Losses and Loss Expenses

Liabilities for unpaid losses and loss expenses include
the accumulation of individual case estimates for claims
reported as well as estimates of incurred but not reported
claims and estimates of loss settlement expenses, less
estimates of anticipated salvage and subrogation
recoveries.

Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses and loss
expenses represent estimates of the portion of such
liabilities that will be recovered from reinsurers.
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are recognized as
assets at the same time and in a manner consistent with
the unpaid losses associated with the reinsured policies.
A provision for estimated uncollectible reinsurance is
recorded based on an evaluation of balances due from
reinsurers and other available information.

Estimates are based upon past loss experience modified
for current trends as well as prevailing economic, legal
and social conditions. Such estimates are continually
reviewed and updated. Any changes in estimates are
reflected in operating results in the period in which the
estimates are changed.
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Credit derivatives, principally portfolio credit default
swaps, are carried at estimated fair value as of the balance
sheet date. Changes in fair value are recognized in in-
come in the period of the change and are included in
other revenues.

A liability for the estimated fair value of a principal and
interest guarantee was recognized at the inception of the
guarantee contract. Due to the nature of the guarantee,
the liability will be reduced only upon either expiration
or settlement of the guarantee.

Assets and liabilities related to the credit derivatives
and the guarantee are included in other assets and other
liabilities,

(f) Real Estate

Real estate properties are carried at cost less accumu-
lated depreciation and any writedowns for impairment.
Real estate taxes, interest and other carrying costs in-
curred prior to completion of the assets for their in-
tended use are capitalized. Also, costs incurred during
the initial leasing of income producing properties are
capitalized until the project is substantially complete,
subject to a maximum time period subsequent to comple-
tion of major construction activity.

Real estate properties are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or circumstances indicate that the car-
rying value of such properties may not be recoverable. In
performing the review for recoverability of carrying
value, estimates are made of the future undiscounted
cash flows from each of the properties during the period
the property will be held and upon its eventual disposi-
tion. If the expected future undiscounted cash flows are
less than the carrying value of any property, an impair-
ment loss is recognized, resulting in a writedown of the
carrying value of the property. Measurement of such
impairment is based on the fair value of the property.

Rental revenues are recognized on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease. Profits on land, residential unit
and commercial building sales are recognized at closing,
subject to compliance with applicable accounting
guidelines.

(g) Investment in Partially Owned Company

Investment in partially owned company includes the
Corporation’s 19% interest in a corporate joint venture,
Allied World Assurance Holdings, Ltd. The equity
method of accounting is used for this investment.

(h) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price
over the fair value of net assets of subsidiaries acquired.
Prior to 2002, goodwill was amortized using the straight-
line method over 26 years. Effective January 1, 2002,
goodwill is no longer amortized but rather is tested at
least annually for impairment (see Note (2)(a)).




\1) Iroperty ana LCquipment

Property and equipment used in operations, including
certain costs incurred to develop or obtain computer
software for internal use, are capitalized and carried at
cost less accumuiated depreciation. Depreciation is calcu-
lated using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets.

(i) Income Taxes

Chubb and its domestic subsidiaries file a consolidated
federal income tax return.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recog-
nized for the expected future tax effects attributable to
temporary differences between the financial reporting
and tax bases of assets and liabilities, based on enacted tax
rates and other provisions of tax law. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax laws
or rates is recognized in income in the period in which
such change is enacted. Deferred tax assets are reduced
by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that
all or some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized.

The Corporation does not consider the earnings of its
foreign subsidiaries to be permanently reinvested. Ac-
cordingly, U.S. federal income taxes are accrued on
undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries.

{k) Stock-Based Employee Compensation

Prior to 2003, the intrinsic value method of account-
ing was used for stock-based employee compensation
plans. Under th2 intrinsic value method, compensation
cost was measured as the excess, if any, of the quoted
market price of “he stock at the measurement date over
the amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock.
Effective January 1, 2003, the Corporation adopted the
fair value method of accounting for stock-based em-
ployee compensation plans (see Note (2)(b)}).

{1) Foreign Exchange

Assets and liabilities relating to foreign operations are
translated into U.S. dollars using current exchange rates
as of the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are
translated into U.S. dollars using the average exchange
rates during the year.

The functional currency of foreign operations is gener-
ally the currency of the local operating environment
since business is primarily transacted in such local cur-
rency. Translation gains and losses, net of applicable
income tax, are excluded from net income and are
credited or charged directly to a separate component of
comprehensive income.
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{m) Lash rCtow Injormation

In the statement of cash flows, short term investments
are not considered to be cash equivalents. The effect of
changes in foreign exchange rates on cash balances was
immaterial.

(2) Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements

(a) Effective January 1, 2002, the Corporation
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.
The Statement addresses how intangible assets should be
accounted for upon their acquisition and how goodwill
and other intangible assets should be accounted for after
they have been initially recognized in the financial state-
ments. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, goodwill is no
longer amortized but rather is tested at least annually for
impairment. SFAS No. 142 may not be applied retroac-
tively to financial statements of prior periods.

The Corporation completed a transitional goodwill
impairment test during 2002 and an annual goodwill
impairment test during 2002 and 2003. As a result of the
tests, management determined that there was no impair-
ment of goodwill.

Adoption of SFAS No. 142 as of January 1, 2001
would have increased net income for 2001 by $19.9 mil-
lion or $0.11 per basic and diluted share.

(b) Effective January 1, 2003, the Corporation
adopted the fair value method of accounting for stock-
based employee compensation plans, which is the
method of accounting defined in SFAS No. 123, Ac-
counting for Stock-Based Compensation. Under the fair
value method of accounting, compensation cost is mea-
sured based on the fair value of the award at the grant
date and recognized over the service period. The Corpo-
ration has elected to use the modified prospective
method of transition, as permitted by SFAS No. 148§,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transi-
tion and Disclosure. Under this method, stock-based
employee compensation cost is recognized from the be-
ginning of 2003 as if the fair value method of accounting
had been used to account for all employee awards
granted, modified, or settled in years beginning after
December 15, 1994. Prior period financial statements
were not restated. The adoption of the fair value method
of accounting for stock-based employee compensation
plans increased compensation cost by $66.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2003, which resulted in a
reduction in net income of $46.0 million or $0.25 per
basic and diluted share.




effect on net income and earnings per share as if the fair
value method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation had been applied retroactively to financial

statements of prior periods.
Years Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001

(in millions, except
per share amounts)

Net income, as reported ........... $808.8 $222.9 $111.5
Adci: stock-based employee

compensation expense included in

reported net income, net of tax . . . 59.1 14.5 16.9
Deduct: stock-based employee

compensation expense determined

under the fair value method, net

Of EAX o\ (59.1) (69.0) (62.7)
Pro forma net income ............. $808.8 $168.4 $ 65.7
Earnings per share

Basic, as reported . .............. $ 451 $1.31 $ 65

Basic, pro forma................ 4.51 .99 .38

Diluted, as reported............. 4.46 1.29 .63

Diluted, pro forma.............. 4.46 97 37

The weighted average fair value of stock options
granted during 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $9.71, $19.11
and $18.22, respectively. The fair value of each stock
option was estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
weighted average assumptions.

2003 2002 2001
Risk-free interest rate . .. ............ 2.9% 4.7% 4.7%
Expected volatility . ................. 28.0% 27.1% 25.7%
Dividend yield ..................... 3.1% 2.0% 1.9%
Expected average term (in years) ..... 5.5 5.5 5.5

(c) In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46 which
explains how to identify a variable interest entity and
how an enterprise assesses its interests in a variable
interest entity to determine whether to consolidate that
entity. A variable interest entity is an entity in which the
equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit the
entity to finance its activities without additional subordi-
nated financial support or the equity investors do not
have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest.
FIN 46 requires that a variable interest entity be consoli-
dated by its primary beneficiary, which is the party that
will absorb a majority of the entity’s expected losses,
receive a majority of the entity’s expected residual re-
turns, or both.
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for variable interest entities created after January 31,
2003 and for variable interest entities in which the
Corporation obtains an interest after that date. The
Corporation has not acquired a material interest in any
variable interest entities subsequent to January 31, 2003.

For any variable interest entities in which the Corpo-
ration holds a variable interest that it acquired prior to
February 1, 2003, the provisions of FIN 46, as revised in
December 2003, are effective no later than the quarter
ending March 31, 2004. For any such variable interest
entity for which the Corporation determines that it is the
primary beneficiary, the Corporation should initially
measure the assets, liabilities and noncontrolling interests
of the entity at their carrying amounts. Any difference
between the net amount added to the Corporation’s
balance sheet and the amount of any previously recog-
nized interest in the newly consolidated entity should be
recognized as the cumulative effect of an accounting
change.

Bellemead has a collateralized mortgage note receivable
from a real estate partnership in which it does not have
an equity interest. The partnership is a variable interest
entity. Bellemead has certain lease obligations related to
the property held by the partnership. As a result of its
variable interests, Bellemead is the primary beneficiary of
the partnership. Accordingly, consolidation of the real
estate partnership is required under FIN 46.

The Corporation has elected to adopt the provisions
of FIN 46 as of December 31, 2003 and has applied
FIN 46 by retroactively restating prior year financial
statements with a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the
beginning of the first year restated. The effect of the
restatement on previously reported December 31, 2000
shareholders’ equity was a decrease of $33.5 million. The
effect on net income for 2001 and 2002, as previously
reported, and on net income for 2003 was immaterial.

There were no other interests in variable interest
entities identified that would require consolidation or
disclosure.

(3) Acquisitions and Dispositions

In November 2001, the Corporation acquired a 19%
interest in Allied World Assurance Holdings, Ltd, a
newly formed Bermuda-based company, for approxi-
mately $250 million. Allied World Assurance was estab-
lished to underwrite insurance and reinsurance business
worldwide.




V) OIGIHIICAIIL HTsULancc LOSSCS

{a) Insurance losses and loss expenses of the P&C
Group include $250 million, $741 million and $61 mil-
lion in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, related to
asbestos and toxic waste claims. The P&C Group’s
asbestos and tcxic waste related exposure is further
discussed in Note (11).

(b) In the fourth quarter of 2001, surety bond losses
of $220 million, net of reinsurance, were recognized
related to the tankruptcy of Enron Corp. The surety
losses represented the maximum exposure of the P&C
Group relating to bonds issued to various obligees in
connection with Enron commitments. Certain of these
bonds were the subject of litigation. As of the end of
2002, the litigation was settled, resulting in an $88 mil-
lion reduction i surety loss reserves. In 2003, the sale of
a bankruptcy claim against various Enron entities re-
sulted in a $17 million surety recovery.

(c) In the third quarter of 2001, net costs of $645 mil-
lion were incurred related to the September 11 attack in
the United Statss. The net costs consisted of estimated
net losses and loss expenses of $665 million less net
reinsurance reinstatement premium revenue of $30 mil-
lion plus a $10 million charge for the Corporation’s
share of the losses publicly estimated by Hiscox plec, a
UX. insurer in which the Corporation had a 28%
interest during 2001.

Gross losses and loss expenses of the P&C Group
from the September 11 attack are estimated at about
$3.2 billion. Most of the claims were from property
exposure and business interruption losses. There were
also significant workers’ compensation losses. The net
losses and loss expenses of $665 million were significantly
lower than the gross amount due to various reinsurance
agreements. The property exposures were protected by
facultative reinsurance, property per risk treaties that
limited the net loss per risk, and property catastrophe
treaties. Workers’ compensation losses were protected by
a casualty catastrophe treaty and a casualty clash treaty.

* It is possible that the estimate of ultimate losses related
to the September 11 attack may change in the future,
and that the change in estimate could have a material
effect on the Corporation’s results of operations. How-
ever, management does not expect that any such change
would have a material effect on the Corporation’s finan-
cial condition or liquidity.

F-11

\ ) Avdldbulalice

In the ordinary course of business, the P&C Group
assumes and cedes reinsurance with other insurance
companies and are members of various pools and associa-
tions. Reinsurance is ceded to provide greater diversifica-
tion of risk and to limit the maximum net loss potential
arising from large or concentrated risks. A large portion
of the reinsurance ceded by the P& C Group is effected
under contracts known as treaties and in some instances
by negotiation on individual risks. Certain of these ar-
rangements consist of excess of loss and catastrophe
contracts that protect against losses over stipulated
amounts arising from any one occurrence or event.

Ceded reinsurance contracts do not relieve the insur-
ance subsidiaries from their primary obligation to their
policyholders. Thus, a credit exposure exists with respect
to reinsurance ceded to the extent that any reinsurer is
unable to meet the obligations assumed under the rein-
surance contracts. The Corporation evaluates the finan-
cial condition of its reinsurers on an ongoing basis to
minimize its exposure to losses from reinsurer
insolvencies.

Premiums earned and insurance losses and loss ex-
penses are reported net of reinsurance in the consoli-
dated statements of income.

The effect of reinsurance on the premiums written and
earned of the P& C Group was as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
(in millions)

Direct premiums written ... $ 11,337.7 $ 9,799.3 § 7,534.3
Reinsurance assumed . ... .. 1,266.0 806.1 525.2
Reinsurance ceded ........ {1,535.8) (1,558.1) (1,098.0)

Net premiums written ... $ 11,0679 $ 9,047.3 § 6,961.5
Direct premiums earned . ... $ 10,7200 $ 8,743.8 § 7,125.8
Reinsurance assumed ...... 1,094.4 761.8 533.9
Reinsurance ceded ........ (1,631.9)  (1,420.3)  (1,003.3)

Net premiums earned .... $ 10,1825 § 8,085.3 $ 6,656.4

Assumed reinsurance premiums earned and written
and ceded reinsurance premiums earned and written for
2001 included reinstatement premiums of $95.0 million
and $65.0 million, respectively, related to the Septem-
ber 11 attack.

Reinsurance recoveries by the P& C Group that have
been deducted from insurance losses and loss expenses
were $767.0 million, $1,216.1 million and $3,367.4 mil-
lion in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The 2002 and
2001 amounts included recoveries of $177.1 million and
$2,385.2 million, respectively, related to the Septem-
ber 11 attack.




{a).The amortized cost and estimated market value of fixed maturities were as follows:

December 31

2003 2002
Gross Gross Estimated Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized  Market  Amortized Unrealized  Unrealized  Market
Cost Appreciation Depreciation  Value Cost Appreciation Depreciation  Value
(in millions)
Held-to-maturity — Tax exempt ....... $§ 4670 $ 353 $ 1 $ 5022 $ 7949 $§ 558 $ — $ 850.7
Available-for-sale
Tax eXxempt « ..ot 10,509.7 660.2 15.9 11,154.0 8,449.2 637.6 39 9,082.9
Taxable
U.S. Government and government
agency and authority obligations ...  2,041.7 29.6 6.3 2,065.0 1,184.1 59.1 — 1,243.2
Corporate bonds ................ 1,970.1 140.5 6.0 2,104.6 1,578.3 108.0 42.6 2,043.7
Foreignbonds................... 3,080.5 87.9 21.0 3,1474 2,185.5 100.5 8.2 2,271.8
Mortgage-backed securities .. ...... 3,384.5 66.3 327 3,418.1 2,719.1 80.0 23.9 2,715.4
Redeemable preferred stocks ... ... 55.0 .6 — 55.6 45.5 1 — 45.6
10,531.8 324.9 66.0 10,790.7 8,112.5 347.7 74.5 8,385.7
Total available-for-sale .......... 21,041.5 985.1 81.9 21,944.7 16,561.7 985.3 78.4 17,468.6
Total fixed maturities . .......... $21,508.5  $1,0204 $82.0 $22,446.9 $17,356.6  $1,041.1 $78.4 $18,319.3

The amortized cost and estimated market value of fixed maturities at December 31, 2003 by contractual maturity were

as follows:

Held-to-maturity
Due in one year or less

Due after five years through ten years
Due after ten years

Available-for-sale
Due in one vear or less

Due after five years through ten years
Dhue after ten years

Mortgage-backed SECULITIES . . . . . .ottt i e e e e e e e

Due after one year through five years. ... ... .. ot i e

Due after one year through five Years. . .. .. ... it e e

Estimated
Amortized Market
Cost Value
{in millions)
$ 783 $ 799
268.8 288.1
71.6 833
42.3 509
$ 4670 $ 5022
$ 8466 $ 8502
4,281.2 4,493.8
6,782.0 7,189.2
5,747.2 5,993.4
17,657.0 18,526.6
3,384.5 34181
$21,041.5 $21,944.7

Actual maturities could differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay

obligations.

(b) The components of unrealized appreciation or depreciation of investments carried at market value were as

follows:

Equity securities
Gross unrealized appreciation
Gross unrealized depreciation

Fixed maturities :
Gross unrealized appreciation
Gross unrealized depreciation

Deferred income tax liability

December 31
2003 2002

(in millions)

$ 1410 $ 286
80 347
1330 (6.1)
985.1  985.3
819 784
9032 906.9
1,036.2 9008
3626 3153

$ 673.6  $5855

At December 31, 2003, equity securities and fixed maturities with an aggregate market value of $228.7 million had been
in an unrealized loss position for a period greater than 12 months. The aggregate amount of unrealized depreciation on

such invested assets was $11.7 million.
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of investments carried at market value was as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
(in millions)
Change in unrealized appreciation or
depreciation of equity securities ... ... $139.1 $ 414 $(38.3)
Change in unrealized appreciation of
fixed maturities ... ... ... L (3.7) 470.7 88.3
1354 512.1 50.0
Deferred income tax.................. 47.3 179.2 17.5
$ 88.1 $332.9 $ 325

The unrealized appreciation of fixed maturities carried
at amortized cost is not reflected in the financial state-
ments. The change in unrealized appreciation of fixed
maturities carried at amortized cost was a decrease of

$20.6 million, $8.2 million and $4.6 million for the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

(¢) The sources of net investment income were as
follows:

Years Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
{in millions)

Fixed maturities .................... $1,003.0 $943.3 $916.3
Equity securities.................... 362 144 25.6
Short term investments.............. 71.3 36.8 40.3
Other ..o 7.8 2.8 6
Gross investment income .......... 1,118.3 997.3 982.8
Investment expenses ................ 29.0 24.7 14.1
$1,089.3 89726 $968.7

(d) Realized investment gains and losses were as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
(in millions}
Fixed maturities .
Gross realized gains . $125.0 $ 56.9
Gross realized losses . (62.9) (23.3)
Other than temrorary impairments  (42.1) (45.7) (34.4)
243 164 (8)
Equity securities
Gross realized gains ............. 159.8 122.7 81.6
Gross realized losses. ............ (85.2) (37.8) (34.9)
Other than temgporary impairments  (14.5) (67.4) (45.1)
60.1 17.5 1.6
Realized investment gains .......... 84.4 339 .8
Incometax ..................in 29.5 119 3
$ 549 $ 22.0 $ 5
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Policy acquisition costs deferred and the related amor-
tization charged against income were as follows:
Years Ended December 31
2003 2002 2001
(in millions)

$ 1,1500 $§ 9288 $ 8420

Balance, beginning of year

Costs deferred during year

Commissions and brokerage ... 1,491.6 1,236.1 950.9
Premium taxes and assessments . . 239.1 203.8 163.8
Salaries and operating costs . .. .. 973.2 850.4 743.5
2,703.9 2,290.3 1,858.2

Increase due to foreign exchange 25.1 8.7 —
Amortization during year ........ (2,535.6) (2,077.8) (1,7714)

Balance, end of year $ 1,3434 §$ 1,1500 $§ 9288

(8) Real Estate

The components of real estate assets were as follows:

December 31

2003 2002

{in millions)
Mortgages and notes receivable ...................... $ 180 § 111
Income producing properties .............. .. ... 1834 202.C
Construction in Progress. ........c.covvriveneennnan.. 322 34.C
Land under development and unimproved land ........... 2852 3043
$518.8 $551.4

Depreciation expense related to income producing
properties was $4.1 million, $4.5 million and $4.2 million
for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

(9) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment included in other assets were
as follows:

December 31

2003 2002

(in millions)
COSt . oot $852.0 $827.8
Accumulated depreciation. ......... ... i 3935 3387
$458.5 $489.1

Depreciation expense related to property and equip-
ment was $103.9 million, $98.6 million and $90.9 million
for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.




(a) Long term debt consisted of the following:
December 31

2003 2002
(in millions)

MOTTEAEES .« oo oo $ 427 $ 431
6%% notes due February 1, 2003............ — 100.0
6.15% notes due August 15,2005 ........... 300.0 300.0
4% notes due November 16, 2007 ........... 600.0 600.0
7%% notes due December 15, 2007.......... 75.0 5.0
3.95% notes due April 1,2008.............. 225.0 —
2.25% notes due August 16, 2008 ........... 460.0 —
6% notes due November 15, 2011 ........... 400.0 400.0
5.2% notes due April 1, 2013 ............... 275.0 —
6.6% debentures due August 15, 2018 ... ... 100.0 100.0
8.675% capital securities due February 1, 2027 .. 125.0 125.0
6.8% debentures due November 15, 2031..... 200.0 200.0
2,802.7 1,943.1
Fair value of interest rate swap .. ............ 11.2 16.0
$2,813.9  $1,959.1

The mortgages are obligations of Bellemead and are
payable in varying amounts monthly through 2010. At
December 31, 2003, the interest rate for the mortgages
payable approximated 8.5%.

The 67% notes were obligations of Chubb Capital
Corporation {Chubb Capital)}, a wholly owned subsidi-
ary of Chubb, and were paid when due.

The Corporation filed a shelf registration statement
which the Securities and Exchange Commission declared
effective in June 2003, under which up to $2.5 billion of
various types of securities may be issued. At Decem-
ber 31, 2003, approximately $650 million remained
under the shelf.

In March 2003, Chubb issued $225 million of un-
secured 3.95% notes due April 1, 2008 and $275 million
of unsecured 5.2% notes due April 1, 2013, the aggregate
net proceeds from which were $495 million.

In June 2003, Chubb issued $460 million of unsecured
2.25% senior notes due August 16, 2008 and 18.4 million
purchase contracts to purchase the Corporation’s com-
mon stock. The notes and purchase contracts were
issued together in the form of 7% equity units. The net
proceeds were $446 million. Each equity unit initially
represents one purchase contract and $25 principal
amount of senior notes. The notes are pledged by the
holders to secure their obligations under the purchase
contracts. Chubb will make quarterly interest payments to
the holders of the notes initially at a rate of 2.25% per vyear.

In November 2002, Chubb issued $600 million of
unsecured 4% senior notes due November 16, 2007 and
24 million mandatorily exercisable warrants to purchase
the Corporation’s common stock. The notes and war-
rants were issued together in the form of 7% equity
units. The net proceeds were $582 million. Each equity
unit initially represents one warrant and $25 principal
amount of senior notes. The notes are pledged by the
holders to secure their obligations under the warrants.
Chubb will make quarterly interest payments to the
holders of the notes initially at a rate of 4% per vear.

in May 2006 and August 2005, respectively. At the time
the respective notes are remarketed, the remarketing
agent will have the ability to reset the interest rate on the
notes in order to generate sufficient remarketing pro-
ceeds to satisfy the holder’s obligation under the
purchase contract or warrant. If the senior notes are not
successfully remarketed, the Corporation will exercise its
rights as a secured party to obtain and extinguish the
notes and deliver its common stock to the holders
pursuant to the purchase contracts or warrants. The
purchase contracts and warrants are further described in

Note (20) (c).

The 6.15% notes, the 6% notes, the 6.6% debentures
and the 6.8% debentures are all unsecured obligations of
Chubb.

The 7Y% notes are obligations of Chubb Executive
Risk Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary, and are fully and
unconditionaily guaranteed by Chubb.

Executive Risk Capital Trust, wholly owned by Chubb

Executive Risk, has outstanding $125 million of 8.675%

capital securities. The Trust in turn used the proceeds
from the issuance of the capital securities to acquire
$125 million of Chubb Executive Risk 8.675% junior
subordinated deferrable interest debentures due Febru-
ary 1, 2027. The sole assets of the Trust are the deben-
tures. The debentures and the related income effects are
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements, The
capital securities are subject to mandatory redemption on
February 1, 2027, upon repayment of the debentures.
The capital securities are also subject to mandatory re-
demption in certain other specified circumstances begin-
ning in 2007 at a redemption price that includes a make
whole premium through 2017 and at par thereafter.
Chubb Executive Risk has the right, at any time, to defer
payments of interest on the debentures and hence distri-
butions on the capital securities for a period not exceed-
ing ten consecutive semi-annual periods up to the
maturity dates of the respective securities. During any
such period, interest will continue to accrue and Chubb
Executive Risk may not declare or pay any dividends.
The capital securities are unconditionally and on a subor-
dinated basis guaranteed by Chubb.

Chubb is a party to a cancelable interest rate swap
agreement with a notional amount of $125.0 million that
replaces the fixed rate of the capital securities with the
3-month LIBOR rate plus 204 basis points. The swap
agreement provides only for the exchange of interest on
the notional amount. The interest rate swap matures in
February 2027. The fair value of the swap is included in
other assets, offset by a corresponding increase to long
term debt.
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the five years subsequent to December 31, 2003 are as
follows:

Years Ending

December 31 Mortgages Notes Total
(in millions)

2004 .. 4 — 4

2005 ..o 6 300.0 300.6

2006 ... 6 — 6

2007 ..o T 675.0 675.7

2008 ..o T 685.0 685.7

(b) Interest costs of $130.1 million, $83.8 million and
$55.0 million were incurred in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Interest paid was $122.2 million, $85.0 mil-
lion and $55.5 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001,

respectively.

{c) The Corporation has two credit agreements with
a group of banks that provide for unsecured borrowings
of up to $500 million in the aggregate. The $250 million
short term revolving credit facility, which was to have
terminated on June 27, 2003, was extended to June 24,
2004, and may be renewed or replaced. The $250 million
medium term revolving credit facility terminates on
June 28, 2007. On the respective termination dates for
these agreements, any loans then outstanding become
payable. There have been no borrowings under these
agreements. Various interest rate options are available to
the Corporation, all of which are based on market
interest rates. The Corporation pays a fee to have these
credit facilities available. Unused credit facilities are avail-
able for general corporate purposes and to support
Chubb  Capital’s commercial paper borrowing
arrangement.
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The process of establishing loss reserves is complex
and imprecise as it must take into consideration many
variables that are subject to the outcome of future events.
As a result, subjective judgments as to the P& C Group’s
ultimate exposure to losses are an integral component of
the loss reserving process.

Most of the P& C Group’s loss reserves relate to long
tail liability classes of business. For many liability claims
significant periods of time, ranging up to several years or
more, may elapse between the occurrence of the loss, the
reporting of the loss and the settlement of the claim. The
longer the time span between the incidence of a loss and
the settlement of the claim, the more the ultimate settle-
ment amount can vary.

The inherent uncertainty in the process of establishing
loss reserves arises from a number of factors. These
factors include, but are not limited to, changes in the
inflation rate for goods and services related to covered
damages such as medical care and home repair costs;
changes in the judicial environment regarding the inter-
pretation of policy provisions relating to the determina-
tion of coverage; changes in the general attitude of juries
in the determination of liability and damages; changes in
the estimates of the number and/or severity of claims
that have been incurred but not reported as of the date
of the financial statements; and changes in the P&C
Group’s underwriting standards and/or claim handling
procedures.

In addition, the uncertain effects of emerging or poten-
tial claims and coverage issues must be taken into consid-
eration. These issues can have a negative effect on loss
reserves by either extending coverage beyond the original
underwriting intent or by increasing the number or size
of claims. As a result of such issues, the uncertainties
inherent in estimating ultimate claim costs on the basis of
past experience have become increasingly unpredictable,
further complicating the already complex loss reserving
process. The future impact of these issues and other
unforeseen emerging or potential claims and coverage
issues is extremely hard to predict and could materially
adversely affect the adequacy of the P&C Group’s loss
reserves.

The uncertainties relating to asbestos and toxic waste
claims on insurance policies written many years ago are
exacerbated by inconsistent court decisions as well as
judicial interpretations and legislative actions that in
some cases have tended to broaden coverage beyond the
original intent of such policies and in others have ex-
panded theories of liability. The industry as a whole is
engaged in extensive litigation over these coverage and
liability issues and is thus confronted with a continuing
uncertainty in its efforts to quantify these exposures.




tort for the insurance industry in terms of claims volume
and dollar exposure. Asbestos claims relate primarily to
bodily injuries asserted by those who came in contact
with asbestos or products containing asbestos. Early
court cases established the “continuous trigger” theory
with respect to insurance coverage. Under this theory,
insurance coverage is deemed to be triggered from the
time a claimant is first exposed to asbestos until the
manifestation of any disease. This interpretation of a
policy trigger can involve insurance companies over
many years and increases their exposure to liability.

The plaintiffs’ bar continues to solicit new claimants
through extensive advertising and through asbestos med-
ical screenings. Litigation is then initiated even though
many of the claimants do not show any signs of asbestos-
related disease. Thus, new asbestos claims and new expo-
sures on existing claims have continued unabated despite
the fact that usage of asbestos has declined since the mid-
1970’s. Based on published projections, it is expected
that the P&C Group will continue receiving asbestos
claims at the current rate for at least the next several
years.

The P& C Group’s most significant individual asbestos
exposures involve product liability on the part of “tradi-
tional” defendants who manufactured, distributed or
installed asbestos products for whom the P& C Group
wrote excess liability and/or general liability coverages.
While these insureds are relatively few in number, such
exposure has increased in recent years due to the in-
creased volume of claims, the erosion of much of the
underlying limits and the bankruptcies of target
defendants.

Other asbestos exposures involve product and non-
product liability on the part of “peripheral” defendants,
including a mix of manufacturers, distributors and install-
ers of certain products that contain asbestos in small
quantities and owners of properties on which asbestos
exists. Generally, these insureds are named defendants on
a regional rather than a nationwide basis. As the financial
resources of traditional asbestos defendants have been
depleted, plaintiffs are targeting these viable peripheral
parties with greater frequency and, in many cases, for
larger awards.

Asbestos claims against the major manufacturers, dis-
tributors or installers of asbestos products were
presented under the products liability section of primary
general liability policies as well as under excess liability
policies, both of which typically had aggregate limits that
capped an insurer’s liability. In recent years, a number of
asbestos claims by insureds are being presented as
“non-products” claims, such as those by installers of
asbestos products and by property owners who allegedly
had asbestos on their property, under the premises or
operations section of primary general liability policies.
Unlike products exposures, these non-products expo-
sures typically had no aggregate limits, creating poten-
tially greater exposure. Further, in an effort to seek
additional insurance coverage, some insureds with instal-
lation activities who have substantially eroded their prod-
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products operations claims or attempting to reclassify
previously settled products claims as non-products claims
to restore a portion of previously exhausted products
aggregate limits. It is difficult to predict whether insureds
will be successful in asserting claims under non-products
coverage or whether insurers will be successful in assert-
ing additional defenses. Therefore, the impact of such
efforts on insurers is uncertain.

The expanded focus of asbestos litigation beyond as-
bestos manufacturers and distributors to installers and
premises owners has created, in some instances, conflicts
among insureds, primary insurers and excess insurers,
mainly involving questions regarding allocation of indem-
nity and expense costs and exhaustion of policy limits.
These issues are generating costly coverage litigation with
the potential for inconsistent results.

In establishing asbestos reserves, the exposure
presented by each insured is evaluated. As part of this
evaluation, consideration is given to the available insur-
ance coverage; limits and deductibles; the jurisdictions
involved; past settlement values of similar claims; the
potential role of other insurance, particularly underlying
coverage below excess liability policies; and applicable
coverage defenses, including asbestos exclusions.

Significant uncertainty remains as to the ultimate liabil-
ity of the P& C Group relating to asbestos related claims.
This uncertainty is due to such factors as the long latency
period between asbestos exposure and disease manifesta-
tion and the resulting potential for involvement of multi-
ple policy periods for individual claims as well as the
increase in the volume of claims by unimpaired plaintiffs
and the increase in claims filed under the non-aggregate
premises or operations section of general liability policies.
There is also the possibility, however remote, of federal
legislation that would address the asbestos problem.

Toxic waste claims relate primarily to pollution and
related cleanup costs. The P& C Group’s insureds have
two potential areas of exposure, hazardous waste dump
sites and pollution at the insured site primarily from
underground storage tanks and manufacturing processes..

Under the federal “Superfund” law and similar state
statutes, when potentially responsible parties (PRPs) fail
to handle the clean-up at a hazardous waste site, regula-
tors have the work done and then attempt to establish
legal liability against the PRPs. Most sites have multiple
PRPs. Most PRPs named to date are parties who have
been generators, transporters, past or present landown-
ers or past or present site operators. The PRPs disposed
of toxic materials at a waste dump site or transported the
materials to the site. Insurance policies issued to PRPs
were not intended to cover the clean-up costs of pollu-
tion and, in many cases, did not intend to cover the
pollution itself.

As the costs of environmental clean-up became sub-
stantial, PRPs and others increasingly filed claims with
their insurance carriers. Litigation against insurers ex-
tends to issues of liability, coverage and other policy
provisions.
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the P& C Group’s liabilities related to these claims. First,
the liabilities of the claimants are extremely difficult to
estimate. At any given site, the allocation of remediation
costs among governmental authorities and the PRPs
varies greatly depending on a variety of factors. Second,
different courts have addressed liability and coverage
issues regarding pollution claims and have reached incon-
sistent conclusions in their interpretation of several is-
sues. These significant uncertainties are not likely to be
resolved definitively in the near future.

Uncertainties also remain as to the Superfund law
itself. Superfund’s taxing authority expired on Decem-
ber 31, 1995 and has not been re-enacted. At this time, it
is not possible to predict the direction that any reforms
may take, when they may occur or the effect that any
changes may have on the insurance industry.

Without federal movement on Superfund reform, the
enforcement of Superfund liability is shifting to the
states. States are being forced to reconsider state-level
cleanup statutes and regulations. As individual states
move forward, the potential for conflicting state regula-
tion becomes greater. Significant uncertainty remains as
to the cost of remediating the state sites. Because of the
large number of state sites, such sites could prove even
more costly in the aggregate than Superfund sites.

In establishing toxic. waste reserves, the exposure
presented by each insured is evaluated. As part of this
evaluation, consideration is given to the probable liabil-
ity, available insurance coverage, past settlement values of
similar exposures as well as facts that are unique to each
insured.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending liability
for unpaid losses and loss expenses, net of reinsurance
recoverable, and a reconciliation of the net liability to the
corresponding liability on a gross basis is as follows:

2003 2002 2001
(in millions)
Gross liability, beginning of year ... $16,713.1 $15,514.9 $11,904.6
Reinsurance recoverable,
beginning of year............ 4,071.5 4,505.2 1,853.3
Net liability, beginning of year . ... 12,6416 11,009.7 10,051.3
Net incurred losses and loss
expenses related to
Current year ............. 6,469.9 5,274.9 5,552.9
Prior years ............... 3973 789.7 (195.5)
6,867.2 6,064.6 5,357.4
Net payments for losses and loss
expenses related to
Current year ............. 1,588.8 1,348.2 1,605.3
Prior years ............... 3,398.8 3,084.5 2,793.7
4,987.6 4,432.7 4,399.0
Net liability, end of year........ 14,5212 12,6416  11,009.7
Reinsurance recoverable,
endofyear................. 3,426.6 4,071.5 4,505.2
Gross liability, end of year ...... $17,947.8 $16,713.1 $15,514.9
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and reinsurance recoverable included $999.3 million and
$748.2 million, respectively, at December 31, 2003,
$2,062.6 million and $1,557.9 million, respectively, at
December 31, 2002, and $2,775.2 million and
$2,238.8 million, respectively, at December 31, 2001
related to the September 11 attack.

During 2003, the P&C Group experienced overall
unfavorable development of $397.3 million on net un-
paid losses and loss expenses established as of the previ-
ous year end. This compares with unfavorable one year
development of $789.7 million in 2002 and favorable
development of $195.5 million in 2001. Such develop-
ment was reflected in operating results in these respective
years.

The unfavorable development in 2003 was due prima-
rily to two factors. First, asbestos loss reserves were
strengthened by $250 million. Second, unfavorable de-
velopment of about $140 million was experienced in the
executive protection classes, principally directors and
officers liability and errors and omissions liability, as
adverse loss trends in recent accident years related to
corporate failures and allegations of management miscon-
duct and accounting irregularities more than offset
favorable loss experience in older accident years.

The unfavorable development in 2002 was due prima-
rily to strengthening of asbestos and toxic waste loss
reserves by $741 million during the year. In addition,
unfavorable development of about $100 million was
experienced in the homeowners class due to an increase
in the severity of water damage and related mold claims.
In the executive protection classes, adverse loss trends in
the more recent accident years more than offset favorable
loss experience in older accident years, resulting in unfa-
vorable development of about $50 million in 2002. Off-
setting the unfavorable development somewhat was the
$88 million reduction in surety loss reserves related to
the Enron settlement.

The favorable development in 2001 was due primarily
to favorable loss experience in certain long tail liability
coverages, offset in part by losses incurred related to
asbestos and toxic waste claims,

Management believes that the aggregate loss reserves
of the P& C Group at December 31, 2003 were adequate
to cover claims for losses that had occurred, including
both those known and those yet to be reported. In
establishing such reserves, management considers facts
currently known and the present state of the law and
coverage litigation. However, given the judicial decisions
and legislative actions that have broadened the scope of
coverage and expanded theories of liability in the past
and the possibilities of similar interpretations in the
future, particularly as they relate to asbestos claims and,
to a lesser extent, toxic waste claims, additional liabilities
may emerge in future periods for amounts in excess of
carried reserves. Such increases in estimates could have a
material adverse effect on the Corporation’s future oper-
ating results. However, management does not expect that
any such increases would have a material effect on the
Corporation’s consolidated financial condition.
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(a) Income tax expense (credit) consisted of the following components:

Years Ended December 31
2003 2002 2001

(in millions)

Current tax {credit)

United StateS. . . ...ttt e e e $ 170.7 $ 324 $ (83)
Boreign . o 51.0 39.8 207
Deferred tax credit, principally United States. ............ .. ... (96.9) (126.7) (189.9)

$ 124.8 $ (545)  $(1773)

Federal and foreign income taxes paid were $133.9 million, $38.5 million and $53.4 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

(b) The effective income tax rate is different than the statutory federal corporate tax rate. The reasons for the
different effective tax rate were as follows:

Years Ended December 31
2003 2002 2001

% of % of % of
- PreTax -~ - '~ -Pre-Tax - - PreTax - -

Amount Income Amount Income Amount Income

‘ (in millions)
Income {loss) before federal and foreign income tax ............. $ 9336 $ 168.4 $ (66.0)

Tax (credit) at statutory federal income tax rate . ................ $ 326.7 350% § 589 35.0% $ (23.1) (35.0)%
Tax exempt iNterest NCOME . ... vivtetee ettt (150.1y  (16.1) (150.8)  (89.5) (149.3)  (226.2)
Valuation allowance ........ ... (40.0) (4.3) 40.0 237 — —
SOther, met .. (11.8) (1.2) (2.6) (1.6) (5.1) (7.7)
Actual tax (credit) ............. ... .. $ 1248 13.4% § (54.5) (32.4)% $(177.5) (268.9)%

{c) The tax effects of temporary differences that gave rise to deferred income tax assets and liabilities were as follows:

December 31
2003 2002

(in millions)

Deferred income tax assets

Unpaid losses and 1085 eXPenSes ... .... vttt ettt e e $ 602.5 $ 5692
Unearned Premiliims . . ..ottt ottt ettt ettt e et e e 336.8 278.8
Postretirement benefits . ... .. e e 46.4 87.3
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforward .. ... .. 192.5 175.5
Foreign tax credits and operating loss carryforwards. ... ... .o 2774 282.2
Other, Mt . .o e e 141.5 95.1
1,597.1 1,488.1

Valuation allowance . . .. ... . — (40.0)
Tl e 1,597.1 1448 1

Deferred income tax liabilities

Deferred policy acquisition COSES . ... ...\ttt e e e 408.1 352.6
Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries ............. .. . . e 149.2 106.0
Real @5tate @sSeLS . .. .ottt 358 43.7
Unrealized appreciation of investments.....................c...... e 362.6 315.3
Total o e 955.7 817.6
Net deferred iNCOME tAX @SSEL . . .. ... v et e e e e e $ 6414 $ 6305

Deferred income tax assets are established related to the expected future U.S. tax benefit of losses and foreign taxes
incurred by the Corporation’s foreign subsidiaries. Realization of these deferred tax assets depends on the ability to
generate sufficient taxable income in future periods in the appropriate taxing jurisdictions. A valuation allowance of
$40.0 million was established at December 31, 2002 to reflect management’s assessment that the realization of a portion
of the deferred tax assets was uncertain due to the inability of a foreign subsidiary to generate sufficient taxable income in
the near term. This foreign subsidiary was profitable in 2003, which reduced the deferred tax assets related to the
expected future U.S. tax benefit of losses incurred by the subsidiary. Although realization of the remaining deferred tax
assets is not assured, management concluded that it is more likely than not that the foreign subsidiary will generate
sufficient taxable income in the near term to realize such deferred tax assets. Accordingly, the valuation allowance was
eliminated at December 31, 2003.
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(15) Employes Denelnts ‘

{a} The Corporation has several non-contributory defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all employees.
Prior to 2001, benefits were generally based on an employee’s years of service and average compensation during the last
five years of employment. Effective January 1, 2001, the Corporation changed the formula for providing pension benefits
from the final average pay formula to a cash balance formula, which credits employees semi-annually with an amount
equal to a percentage of eligible compensation based on age and years of service as well as an interest credit based on
individual account balances. Employees hired prior to 2001 will generally be eligible to receive vested benefits based on
the higher of the final average pay or cash balance formulas. :

The Corporation’s funding policy is to contribute amounts that meet regulatory requirements plus additional
amounts determined by management based on actuarial valuations, current market conditions and other factors. This
may result in no contribution being made in a particular year.

The Corporation also provides certain other postretirement benefits, principally health care and life insurance, to
retired employees and their beneficiaries and covered dependents. Substantially all employees hired before January 1,
1999 may become eligible for these benefits upon retirement if they meet minimum age and years of service
requirements. Tae expected cost of these benefits is accrued during the years that the employees render the necessary
service,

The Corporation does not fund these benefits in advance. Benefits are paid as covered expenses are incurred. Health
care coverage is contributory. Retiree contributions vary based upon a retiree’s age, type of coverage and years of service
with the Corporation. Life insurance coverage is non-contributory.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the Act), which was enacted in
December 2003, introduces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree
health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least equivalent to Medicare. In accordance with FASB Staff
Position 106-1, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003, the Corporation has elected to defer recognizing the effects of the Act on any measures of
the benefit obligation and net postretirement benefit cost. Authoritative guidance on the accounting for the federal
subsidy is pending and that guidance, when issued, may require the Corporation to restate previously reported
information. The Corporation does not expect the impact of the Act to be significant.

The Corporation uses December 31 as the measurement date for its pension and other postretirement benefit plans.

The following table sets forth the plans’ funded status and amounts recognized in the balance sheets:

Other
Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits
2003 2002 2003 2002
(in millions)

Bentefit Obligation . . ...\ v e e e $944.3 $745.9 $212.4 $155.0
Plan assets at fair value . . ... ..o e 7714 4614 — —
Benefit obligation in excess of plan assets. ............ i 172.9 284.5 2124 155.0
Unrecognized net gain (loss) from past experience different from that assumed....... (224.8) (122.7) (21.9) 22.3
Unrecognized prior S€rvVICe COSE. ..« oottt et et e e e (16.3) (18.0) — —
Liability (asset) included in other liabilities ................ ... ..c...ou.. $(68.2) $143.8 $190.5 $177.3

The Corporation made pension plan contributions of $235.6 million during 2003. No contributions were made
during 2002.

Effective January 1, 2003, assumptions related to the estimation of eligible compensation used to project the pension
plan benefit obligation were revised, resulting in an increase in the benefit obligation of approximately $85 million.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the pension plans was $733.8 million and $591.7 million at December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively. :

The weighted average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations were as follows:

Other
Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits
2003 2002 2003 2002
DHSCOUNE TALE . o o\ttt ettt ettt e et e e e e e 6.5% 7.0% 6.5% 7.0%

Rate of compensation INCrease ..............uiiieimter ey 45 45 — —
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. Other
Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

© 2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001
(in millions)

S BIVICE COSt . L vttt e $42.7 $32.1 $28.6 $ 6.7 $52 $ 5.0
TOerest COSE . oottt ittt ettt et e e e 552 46.9 43.9 12.6 9.9 9.2
Expected return on plan assets. ... ... (55.0) (51.9) (53.5) — — ——
Other costs (aINS) .. ... i it e 35 9.6 (5.0) 4 . (9) (1.4)

$46.4 $36.7 $14.0 $19.7 $14.2 $12.8

The weighted average assumptions used to determine net pension and other postretirement benefit costs were as
follows:

Other
Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefirs
2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001
DISCOUNL TALE ..\ttt t ittt ettt et e et et e e e et 7.0% 7.25% 1.5% 7.0% 7.25% 7.5%
Rate of compensation Increase . ..........c.c.ooeuireeeeeeeaanananann. 4.5 4.5 4.5 — — —
Expected long term rate of return on plan assets ..................... 8.75 8.75 9.0 — — —

The Corporation determined the expected long term rate of return on assets by considering the historical returns and
the expectations for future returns for each asset class as well as the target allocation of plan assets. The Corporation
seeks to obtain a rate of return that over time equals or exceeds the returns of the broad markets in which the plan assets
are invested. The target allocation of plan assets is 55% to 65% invested in equity securities, with the remainder invested
in fixed maturities. The portfolio is rebalanced periodically, when percentages deviate from this target allocation.

Plan assets are currently invested in a diversified portfolio of predominately U.S. equity securities and fixed maturities.
The pension plan weighted average asset allocation was as follows:

December 31

2003 2002
BQUILY SEOUIIEIES . ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et et e e e e e e e 60% 58%
Fied matUTIEIES . . . ottt 40 4

100%  100%

The weighted average health care cost trend rate assumptions used to measure the expected cost of medical benefits
were as follows:

December 31
2003 2002

Health care cost trend rate for NEXt YEAr .. .. ...ttt e s 11.5% 9.3%

........................... 5.0% 5.0%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate ......... . i e e 2013 2009

Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate trend rate)

The health care cost trend rate assumption has a significant effect on the amount of the accumulated other
postretirement benefit obligation and the net other postretirement benefit cost reported. To illustrate, a one percent
increase or decrease in the trend rate for each year would increase or decrease the accumulated other postretirement
benefit obligation at December 31, 2003 by approximately $34 million and the aggregate of the service and interest cost
components of net other postretirement benefit cost for the year ended December 31, 2003 by approximately $4 million.

(b) The Corporation has a savings plan, the Capital Accumulation Plan, in which substantially all employees are
eligible to participate. Under this plan, the employer makes a matching contribution equal to 100% of each eligible
employee’s pre-tax elective contributions, up to 4% of the employee’s eligible compensation. Contributions are invested
at the election of the employee in the Corporation’s common stock or in various other investment funds. Employer

contributions of $23.2 million, $20.3 million and $18.6 million were charged against income in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.
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(14} otock-bDasea Employee Lompensation rlans

{a) The Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (the Plan) provides for the granting of stock options, performance shares,
restricted stock end other stock-based awards to key employees. The maximum number of shares of the Corporation’s
common stock in respect to which stock-based awards may be granted under the Plan is 13,000,000. At December 31,
2003, 1,844,000 shares were available for grant under the Plan.

Stock options are granted at exercise prices not less than the fair market value of the Corporation’s common stock on
the date of grant. The terms and conditions upon which options become exercisable may vary among grants. The
options generally become exercisable over the two year period following the date of grant. Options expire no later than
ten years from the date of grant.

Information concerning stock options is as follows:

2003 2002 2001
Number Weighted Average Number Weighted Average Number  Weighted Average
of Shares Exercise Price of Shares Exercise Price of Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding, beginning of year ......... 19,855,186 $63.51 18,376,304 $59.66 16,683,741 $55.66
Granted ........ S PR, 4,326,225 46.90 4,371,066 13.63 3,760,311 72.60
Exercised..........ocviiiii.. (1,031,414) 47.65 (2,276,529) 49.63 (1,740,701) 47.80
Forfeited . .............. ... L. (1,117,403) 65.88 (615,655) 7191 (327,047) 6751
Qutstanding, end of year .............. 22,032,594 60.87 19,855,186 63.51 18,376,304 59.66
Exercisable, end of year ............... 16,176,926 63.01 14,449,000 60.21 12,215,260 . 57.86
December 31, 2003
Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average
Range of Number Weighted Average Remaining Number Weighted Average
Option Exercise Prices Outstanding Exercise Price Contractual Life Exercisable Exercise Price
$395—84875 ... 7,829,477 $46.46 6.8 4,090,526 $46.84
4975 — 7100 .. ... 8,615,135 63.69 5.1 . 8,117,426 64.02
7109 — 9210 ...t 5,587,982 76.71 6.1 3,968,974 17.61
22,032,594 60.87 6.0 16,176,926 63.01

Performance share awards are based on the achievement of various goals over performance cycle periods and are
payable in cash, in shares of the Corporation’s common stock or in a combination of both. Restricted stock awards
consist of shares of the Corporation’s common stock granted at no cost to the employees. Shares of restricted stock
become outstancing when granted, receive dividends and have voting rights. The shares are subject to forfeiture and to
restrictions that limit sale or transfer during the restriction period.

Prior to 2003, the Corporation used the intrinsic value method of accounting for stock-based employee compensa-
tion, under which compensation cost was measured as the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of the stock at the
measurement daze over the amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock. Compensation cost was generally not
recognized for stock options granted since the exercise price of such grants was not less than the market price of the
underlying stock on the date of grant. However, compensation cost was recognized for certain options that were
modified subsequent to their grant. Effective January 1, 2003, the Corporation adopted the fair value method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation using the modified prospective method of transition (see
Note (2)(b)). Under the fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation, an amount equal to
the fair market value of stock options at the date of grant is expensed over the period that such options become
exercisable. The amount charged against income with respect to stock options was $56.0 million, $0.6 million and
$9.4 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The cost of performance share awards, which is based on the fair market value of the awards at the date of grant, is
expensed over the performance cycle. An amount equal to the fair market value of restricted share awards at the date of
grant is expensed over the restriction period. The aggregate amount charged against income with respect to performance
share and restricted stock awards was $17.8 million, $21.6 million and $16.5 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001,

respectively.

(b) The Corporation has a Stock Purchase Plan under which substantially all employees are eligible to purchase
shares of the Corporation’s common stock based on compensation. At December 31, 2003, there were 1,463,000 shares
subscribed, givir.g employees the right to purchase such shares in June 2004 at a price of $66.36, which was a 10%
discount from the market price at the date of grant. Under the fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation, an amount equal to the fair market value of purchase rights at the date of grant is expensed over the two
year term of the plan. The amount charged against income with respect to the purchase rights was $10.3 million in 2003.
Prior to 2003, compensation cost was not recognized for such rights in accordance with the intrinsic value method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation.
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Ownership Plan (ESOP) in which substantially all em-
ployees are eligible to participate. At its inception in
1989, the ESOP used the proceeds of a $150.0 million
loan from Chubb to purchase 7,792,204 newly issued
shares of the Corporation’s common stock. The loan is
due in September 2004 and bears interest at 9%. The
receivable from the ESOP has been recorded as a sepa-
rate reduction of shareholders’ equity on the consoli-
dated balance sheets. This balance is reduced as
repayments are made on the loan principal.

Chubb and its participating subsidiaries make semi-
annual contributions to the ESOP. The contributions,
together with the dividends on the shares of common
stock in the ESOP, are used by the ESOP to make loan
interest and principal payments to Chubb. As interest
and principal are paid, a portion of the common stock is
allocated to eligible employees.

The Corporation uses the cash payment method of
recognizing ESOP expense. In 2003, 2002 and 2001, cash
contributions to the ESOP of $11 million were charged
against income. Dividends on shares of common stock in
the ESOP used for debt service were $8 million for 2003,
2002 and 2001.

The number of allocated and unallocated shares held
by the ESOP at December 31, 2003 were 4,666,000 and
519,000, respectively. All such shares are considered
outstanding for the computation of earnings per share.

(15) Segments Information

The principal business of the Corporation is property
and casualty insurance. The profitability of the property
and casualty insurance business depends on the results of
both underwriting operations and investments, which
are viewed as two distinctive operations. The underwrit-
ing operations are managed separately from the invest-
ment function.

The property and casualty underwriting operations
consist of three separate business units: personal insur-
ance, commercial insurance and specialty insurance. The
personal segment targets the personal insurance market.
The personal classes include automobile, homeowners
and other personal coverages. The commercial segment
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able in broad markets and are of a more commodity
nature. Commercial classes include multiple peril, casu-
alty, workers’ compensation and property and marine.
The specialty segment includes those classes of business
that are available in more limited markets since they
require specialized underwriting and claim settlement.
Specialty classes include executive protection, financial
institutions and other specialty coverages.

CFS’s non-insurance business was primarily structured
credit derivatives, principally as a counterparty in portfo-
lio credit default swap contracts. The Corporation has
implemented a plan to exit the credit derivatives
business.

Corporate and other includes investment income
earned on corporate invested assets, corporate expenses
and the Corporation’s real estate and other non-insur-
ance subsidiaries.

Performance of the property and casualty underwrit-
ing segments is based on statutory underwriting results.
Under statutory accounting principles, policy acquisition
and other underwriting expenses are recognized immedi-
ately, not at the time premiums are earned. Statutory
underwriting profit is arrived at by reducing premiums
earned by losses and loss expenses incurred and statutory
underwriting expenses incurred.

Managements uses underwriting results determined in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) to assess the overall performance of the under-
writing operations. To convert statutory underwriting
results to a GAAP basis, policy acquisition expenses are
deferred and amortized over the period in which the
related premiums are earned. Underwriting income is
defined as premiums earned less losses and loss expenses
incurred and GAAP underwriting expenses incurred.

Investment income performance is based on invest-
ment income net of investment expenses, excluding real-
ized investment gains.

Distinct investment portfolios are not maintained for
each underwriting segment. Property and casualty in-
vested assets are available for payment of losses and
expenses for all classes of business. Therefore, such assets
and the related investment income are not allocated to
underwriting segments.



Revenues, income before income tax and assets of each operating segment were as follows:
Years Ended December 31
2003 2002 2001

(in millions)

Revenues :
Property and casualty insurance
Premiums earned

Personal iNSUTANCE . ... ...ttt $ 2,439.4 $ 2,130.2 $ 1,847.9
Commercial iNSUTANICE . . .. v\ttt e s e e e e 3,784.4 2,927.2 2,366.3
Specialty INSUTANCE . . . .\ttt e e e 3,958.7 3,027.9 12,4422

10,182.5 8,085.3 6,656.4

Inves Nt I COmMIE . . oottt ettt e e 1,082.9 952.2 914.7
Total property and casualty insurance ... ..........ooviiiii i 11,265.4 9,037.5 7,571.1

Chubb Financial Solutions non-insurance business. ............. .. .. ... ciiiiiiiivn. (62.3) (50.5) 289
Corporate and Other ... ... ... e 106.5 119.4 153.2
Realized investment gains . ... ... ot e 84.4 33.9 .8
Total revenues . .......... .. $11,394.0 $ 9,140.3 $ 7,754.0

Income (loss) before income tax
Property and casualty insurance
Underwriting

Personal INSUTANCE . .. oot e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ (5.2) 3 (1.9) $  (67.3)
Commetcial IMSUTANCE . ..ottt et ettt e e e 54.2 (696.0) (290.2)
Specialty INSUFANCE . . . . o e (112.8) (140.5) (632.8)
(63.8) (838.4) (990.3)

Increase in deferred policy acquisition costs............... ... ... 168.3 2125 86.8
Underwriting income (10ss) . ... ... .. 104.5 (625.9) (903.5)
INVesStmMEnt ITICOME . . . o ottt et et e e e 1,058.4 929.4 902.6
Other charges . ... ..o (29.5) (25.3) (52.3)
Total property and casualty Insurance. .. ...............oureeniiirneeenini.. 1,133.4 278.2 (53.2)

Chubb Financial Solutions non-insurance business. .......... ... ... ... oo i i (126.9) (69.8) 9.2
Corporate and other loss. . ... . . e (157.3) (73.9) (22.8)
Realized investment gains . ...... ... .. . 84.4 33.9 .8
Total income (loss) before income tax . . ......vviivitiirenain e $ 9336 $ 1684 $ (66.0)

December 31
2003 2002 2001
(in millions)
Assets

Property and casualty InSUrance . ... .. .. ... e $ 36,257.0 $32,804.5 $27,767.0

Corporate and OLHET . ... ..ottt e 2,163.9 1,344.0 1,701.4
Adjustments and eliminations. .. ......... ... . .. e (60.3) (67.6) (52.9)

Total ASSEES . v ottt $ 38,360.6 $34,080.9 $29,415.5

Property and casualty commercial insurance underwriting results for 2003, 2002 and 2001 included net losses of $250
million, $741 million and $61 million, respectively, related to asbestos and toxic waste claims.

Property and casualty specialty insurance underwriting results in 2001 included net surety bond losses of $220 million
related to the bankruptcy of Enron Corp. Specialty insurance underwriting results for 2002 and 2003 benefited from
reductions in net surety bond losses related to Enron of $88 million and $17 million, respectively.

Property and casualty underwriting results for 2001 included a loss of $635 million from the September 11 attack,
comprising $20 million in personal insurance, $103 million in commercial insurance and $512 million in specialty
insurance.

Other charges for 2001 included $10 million for the Corporation’s share of the estimated losses of Hiscox from the
September 11 attack.

The internaticnal business of the property and casualty insurance segment is conducted primarily through subsidiaries
that operate solely outside of the United States. Their assets and liabilities are located principally in the countries where
the insurance risks are written. International business is also written by branch offices of certain domestic subsidiaries.

Revenues of the P&C Group by geographic area were as follows:

Years Ended December 31
2003 2002 2001

(in millions)

Revenues
United States . ... oot $ 9302.2 $7,5184 $6,331.9
International . . ... ... 1,963.2 1,519.1 1,239.2
Total . $11,265.4 $9,037.5 $7,571.1
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(a) CFS participated in derivative financial instru-
ments, principally as a counterparty in portfolio credit
default swaps. CFS’s participation in a typical portfolio
credit default swap was designed to replicate the perform-
ance of a portfolio of corporate securities, a portfolio of
- asset-backed securities or a specified pool of loans.
Chubb has issued unconditional guarantees with respect
to all obligations of CFS arising from these transactions.

CFS’s agpregate exposure or retained risk, referred to
as notional amounts, from in force derivative financial
instruments was as follows:

December 31
2003 2002

(in billions)
Portfolio credit default swaps

Corporate Securities .................c.o.ovvunn. $11.2 %212
Asset-backed securities ....................... 10.5 15.5
Loan portfolios. ..............coiiiiiiiinnn. 3.0 2.0
24.7 38.7

Other .o e 4 4
Total ..o $25.1 39.1

Notional amounts are used to express the extent of
involvement in derivative transactions. The notional
amounts are used to calculate the exchange of contrac-
tual cash flows and are not necessarily representative of
the potential for gain or loss. Notional amounts are not
recorded on the balance sheet.

Future obligations with respect to derivative financial
instruments are carried at estimated fair value at the
balance sheet date and are included in other liabilities.
The fair value of future obligations under CFS’s deriva-
tive financial instruments was as follows:

December 31
2003 2002

(in millions)

Portfolio credit default swaps

Corporate securities .. ...............c....... $ 213 %882
Asset-backed securities. .. ................... 23.0 102.5
Loan portfolios ..............cciiiiinn.... 22 3.6
46.5 194.3

Other ... 8.8 9.4
Total. ... $ 553 $203.7

CFS has entered into a contract that guarantees to the
counterparty the payment of any principal and interest
amount due and not paid with respect to a group of
referenced securities. The notional exposure under the
guarantee is $2.3 billion. However, CFS’s maximum
payment obligation is limited to $500 million regardless
of the amount of losses that might be incurred on the
$2.3 billion portfolio. Moreover, if losses are incurred,
CFS’s payment obligations are limited to an extended
payment schedule under which no payment would be
due until 2010 at the earliest. Chubb has guaranteed
CFS’s obligations under the contract. The carried liabil-
ity at December 31, 2003 related to the guarantee was
$186.4 million and was included in other liabilities.

{(b) A property and casualty insurance subsidiary is-
sued a reinsurance contract to an insurer that provides
financial guarantees on debt obligations. At December 31,
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contract for which the subsidiary was contingently liable
amounted to approximately $350 million, net of reinsur-

ance. These commitments expire by 2023.

I
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{c) The P&C Group has exposures related to com-
mercial surety bonds issued on behalf of companies that
have experienced deterioration in credit worthiness, in-
cluding several gas forward purchase surety bonds. In
particular, the P&C Group has in force $520 million of
gas forward purchase surety bonds with one principal,
Aquila, Inc. The P& C Group’s exposure under these
bonds will decline over the terms of the bonds, which
extend until 2012. These surety bonds, which are uncol-
lateralized, secure Aquila’s obligation to supply gas under
long-term forward purchase agreements. Under the
terms of these bonds, the P& C Group’s entire obligation
to pay could be triggered if Aquila failed to provide gas
under its forward purchase contracts or was the subject
of a bankruptcy filing. There is currently no reinsurance
in place covering the P&C Group’s exposure under
these bonds. Aquila continues to perform its obligations
under the related gas forward purchase agreements.

(d) The Corporation occupies office facilities under
lease agreements that expire at various dates through
2019; such leases are generally renewed or replaced by
other leases. In addition, the Corporation leases data
processing, office and transportation equipment.

Most leases contain renewal options for increments
ranging from five to fifteen years; certain lease agreements
provide for rent increases based on price-level factors. All
leases are operating leases.

Rent expense was as follows:
Years Ended
December 31

2003 2002 2001

(in millions)
Office facilities . . ........................ $1053 $ 946 9$82.3
Equipment .............0ooiiiii 194 17.0 155

$124.7 $1116 $97.8

At December 31, 2003, future minimum rental payments
required under non-cancellable operating leases were as
follows:

Years Ending

December 31 (in millions)

2004 .. $ 96.4
2005 o 88.9
2006 .. 82.7
2007 oo 71.0
2008 .. 67.2
After 2008 . ... ... 332.8

$745.0

(e) The Corporation had certain commitments total-
ing $394 million at December 31, 2003 to fund limited
partnership investments. These capital commitments can
be called by the partnerships during the commitment
period (on average, 1-4 years) to fund working capital
needs or the purchase of new investments.




(17 ) Earnings I'er ohare

Basic earnings per common share is based on net income divided by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share includes the potential dilutive effect of outstanding awards
under stock-based employee compensation plans and the purchase contracts and mandatorily exercisable warrants to
purchase the Corporation’s common stock.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

Years Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
(in millions except for per share
amounts)
Basic earnings per share:
NEINCOIMNE 1 oot ettt e ettt e e $ 808.8 $ 2229 $ 1115
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding . ...t il 179.2 170.5 172.2
Basic earnings per share ... .. .. ... $ 4.5t $ 1.31 $ .65
Diluted earnings per share:
NEt ICOIME .« .« o e et et et e e e e e e e $ 808.8 $ 2229 $ 1115
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding .............. ... o i 179.2 170.5 172.2
Additional shares from assumed exercise of stock-based compensation awards. .............. ... ... ..., 2.1 2.4 3.6
Weighted average number of common shares and potential common shares assumed outstanding for
computing diluted earnings per share ... ... .. .. i 181.3 172.9 1758 .
Diluted earnings per share ... ... ... .oieiui et e $ 446 $ 129 %3 .63

In 2003, 2002 and 2001, options to purchase 11.7 million shares, 8.5 million shares and 4.0 million shares of common
stock with weighted average exercise prices of $70.98 per share, $73.07 per share and $76.27 per share, respectively,
were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because the options’ exercise prices were greater than
the average market price of the Corporation’s common stock. For additional disclosure regarding the stock-based
compensation awards, see Note (14).

The purchase contracts and mandatorily exercisable warrants will have no effect on diluted earnings per share, except
during periods when the average market price of a share of the Corporation’s common stock is above the threshold
appreciation price of $71.40 and $69.10, respectively. Since the average market price of the Corporation’s common
stock during the periods the purchase contracts and warrants were outstanding was below these prices, the shares
issuable upon the exercise of the purchase contracts and warrants were excluded from the computation of diluted
earnings per share.

{18) Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income is defined as all changes in shareholders’ equity, except those arising from transactions with
shareholders. Comprehensive income includes net income and other comprehensive income, which for the Corporation
consists of changes in unrealized appreciation or depreciation of investments carried at market value and changes in
foreign currency translation gains or losses. '

The components of other comprehensive income or loss were as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
Before Income Before Income Before Income Tax
Tax Tax Net Tax Tax Net Tax (Credit) Net

(in millions)
Unrealized holding gains arising

during the year ..................... $219.8 $ 768 $143.0 $546.0  $191.1 $354.9 $ 50.8 $ 178 3 33.0
Less: reclassification adjustment for

realized gains included in net income . . . 84.4 29.5 54.9 33.9 11.9 22.0 .8 3 .5
Net unrealized gains recognized

in other comprehensive income ....... 135.4 47.3 88.1 512.1 179.2 3329 50.0 17.5 325
Foreign currency translation gains (losses) 106.2 3717 68.5 25.8 9.3 16.5 (6.7) (2.2) (4.5)

Total other comprehensive

MCOME .o $241.6 $ 850 $156.6 $5379  $188.5 $349.4 $ 433 $ 153 $ 280
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Fair values of financial instruments are based on
quoted market prices where available. Fair values of
financial instruments for which quoted market prices are
not available are based on estimates using present value
or other valuation techmiques. Those techniques are
significantly affected by the assumptions used, including
the discount rates and the estimated amounts and timing
of future cash flows. In such instances, the derived fair
value estimates cannot be substantiated by comparison to
independent markets and are not necessarily indicative of
the amounts that would be realized in a current market
exchange. Certain financial instruments, particularly in-
surance contracts, are excluded from fair value disclosure
requirements.

The methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair
value of financial instruments are as follows:

(i) The carrying value of short term investments

“approximates fair value due to the short maturities of

these investments.

(ii) Fair values of fixed maturities with active mar-
kets are based on quoted market prices, For fixed
maturities that trade in less active markets, fair values
are obtained from independent pricing services. Fair
values of fixed maturities are principally a function of
current interest rates. Care should be used in evaluat-
ing the significance of these estimated market values
which can fluctuate based on such factors as interest
rates, inflation, monetary policy and general economic
conditions.

R 2 S &

markets are based on quoted market prices. For other
equity securities, fair values are based on external
market valuations.

(iv) Fair values of real estate mortgages and notes
receivable are estimated individually as the value of the
discounted future cash flows of the loan, subject to the
estimated fair value of the underlying collateral.

(v) The fair value of the interest rate swap is
based on a price quoted by a dealer.

{(vi) Long term debt consists of mortgages payable,
long term notes and capital securities. Fair values of
mortgages payable are estimated using discounted cash
flow analyses. Fair values of the long term notes and
capital securities are based on prices quoted by dealers.

__(vii) Fair values of credit derivatives, principally _
portfolio credit default swaps, are determined using
internal valuation models that are similar to external
valuation models. Such valuations require considerable
judgment and are subject to significant uncertainty.
The fair values of credit default swaps are subject to
fluctuations arising from, among other factors, changes
in credit spreads, the financial ratings of referenced
asset-backed securities, actual credit events reducing
subordination, credit correlation within a portfolio,
anticipated recovery rates related to potential defaults
and changes in interest rates.

The carrying values and fair values of financial instruments were as follows:

Assets
Invested assets

ShoTt term INVESEMENTS . . .o\ttt ettt it ettt e e et et e e

Fixed maturities {Note 6)

Held-to-maturity . ... ..o
Awvailable-for-sale . ... ...
EQUILY SECUTITIES . . . ettt et e et e e e

Real estate mortgages and notes receivable (Note 8)

Interest rate SWap .. ..ottt

Liabilities

Long term debt (Note 10) ... ...

Credit derivatives (Note 16)
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December 31

2003 2002
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Value Value Value Value
(in millions)

$ 26959 $2,6959 $ 17567 $ 1,156.7
467.0 5022 794.9 850.7
21,944.7 21,944.7 17,468.6 17,468.6
15144 1,514.4 992.2 9922
18.0 16.9 11.1 10.0
11.2 11.2 16.0 16.0
2,802.7 3,096.3 1,943.1 1,999.9
55.3 55.3 203.7 203.7



(44U} Oharenolders’ ‘Equity

(a) The authorized but unissued preferred shares may be issued in one or more series and the shares of each series
shall have such rights as fixed by the Board of Directors.

(b) In June 2003, Chubb sold 15,525,000 shares of common stock through a public offering, The net proceeds from
the sale of $887 million were credited to common stock and paid-in surplus.

The activity of the Corporation’s common stock was as follows:
Years Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
(number of shares)

Commeon stock issued

Balance, beginning of year . . ... ... . 180,296,834 180,131,238 178,833,278

Common stock offering . .. ... . .. 15,525,000 — —

Share activity under option and incentive plans. .. .......... ... ... (18,010) 165,596 1,297,960
Balance, end of year . ... ... . . 195,803,824 180,296,834 180,131,238

Treasury stock

Balance, beginning of year . ... ... .. 9,095,162 10,059,857 3,914,105

Repurchase of shares ... .. .. . — 1,500,000 7,971,600

Share activity under option and incentive plans. .. ... ... (1,254,714) (2,464,695) (1,825,848}
Balance, end of vear .. ... ... .. 7,840,448 9,095,162 10,059,857
Common stock outstanding, end of year. . ... ... ... 187,963,376 171,201,672 170,071,381

(c) In June 2003, Chubb issued 18.4 million purchase contracts to purchase the Corporation’s common stock and
$460 million of 2.25% senior notes. The purchase contracts and notes were issued together in the form of 7% equity
units. In November 2002, Chubb issued 24 million mandatorily exercisable warrants to purchase the Corporation’s
common stock and $600 million of 4% senior notes. The warrants and notes were issued together in the form of 7%
equity units. For further discussion of the notes and equity units, see Note (10) (a).

Each purchase contract obligates the holder to purchase, and obligates Chubb to sell, on or before August 16, 2006,
for a settlement price of $25, a variable number of newly issued shares of the Corporation’s common stock. Each
warrant obligates the holder to purchase, and obligates Chubb to sell, on or before November 16, 2005, for a settlement
price of $25, a variable number of newly issued shares of the Corporation’s common stock. The number of shares of the
Corporation’s ccmmon stock to be purchased will be determined based on a formula that considers the market price of
the Corporation’s common stock immediately prior to the time of settlement in relation to the sale price of the common
stock at the time the respective equity units were offered, which was $59.50 per share for the June 2003 offering and
$56.64 per share for the November 2002 offering. Upon settlement of the purchase contracts, Chubb will receive
proceeds of approximately $460 million and will issue between approximately 6.5 million and 7.7 million shares of
common stock. [Jpon settlement of the warrants, Chubb will receive proceeds of approximately $600 million and will
issue between approximately 8.7 million and 10.6 million shares of common stock.

Chubb will make quarterly contract adjustment payments to the equity unit holders at a rate of 4.75% per year on the
stated amount of $25 per purchase contract until the purchase contract is settled. Chubb will make quarterly warrant fee
payments to the equity unit holders at a rate of 3% per year on the stated amount of $25 per warrant until the warrant is
settled. The $66.2 million present value of the contract adjustment payments and the $49.9 million present value of the
warrant fee payments were accrued as a liability at the date of issuance of the respective equity units with an offsetting
charge to paid-in surplus. Subsequent contract adjustment and warrant fee payments will be allocated between this
liability account and interest expense based on a constant rate calculation over the respective term of the purchase
contracts and warrants. Paid-in surplus also reflected a charge of $11.9 million in 2003 and $15.0 million in 2002,
representing the portion of the equity unit issuance costs that was allocated to the purchase contracts and warrants,
respectively.

(d} The Corporation has a shareholders rights plan under which each shareholder has one right for each share of
common stock of the Corporation held. Each right entitles the holder to purchase from Chubb one one-thousandth of a
share of Series B Participating Cumulative Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $240. The rights are attached to all
outstanding shares of common stock and trade with the common stock until the rights become exercisable. The rights
are subject to adjustment to prevent dilution of the interests represented by each right.

The rights will become exercisable and will detach from the common stock ten days after a person or group either
acquires 20% or more of the outstanding shares of the Corporation’s common stock or announces a tender or exchange
offer which, if consummated, would result in that person or group owning 20% or more of the outstanding shares of the
Corporation’s common stock.
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stock, each right will entitle the holder, other than such person or group, to purchase that number of shares of the
Corporation’s common stock having a market value of two times the exercise price of the right. In the event that,
following the acquisition of 20% or more of the Corporation’s outstanding common stock by a person or group, the
Corporation is acquired in a merger or other business combination transaction or 50% or more of the Corporation’s
assets or earning power is sold, each right will entitle the holder to purchase common stock of the acquiring company
having a value equal to two times the exercise price of the right.

At any time after any person or group acquires 20% or more of the Corporation’s common stock, but before such
person or group acquires 50% or more of such stock, the Corporation may exchange all or part of the rights, other than
the rights owned by such person or group, for shares of the Corporation’s common stock at an exchange ratio of one
share of common stock per right.

The rights do not have the right to vote or to receive dividends. The rights may be redeemed in whole, but not in
part, at a price of $0.01 per right by the Corporation at any time until the tenth day after the acquisition of 20% or more
of the Corporation’s outstanding common stock by a person or group. The rights will expire at the close of business on
March 12, 2009, unless previously exchanged or redeemed by the Corporation.

{e) The property and casualty insurance subsidiaries are required to file annual statements with insurance regulatory
authorities prepared on an accounting basis prescribed or permitted by such authorities (statutory basis). For such
subsidiaries, statutory accounting practices differ in certain respects from GAAP.

A comparison of shareholders’ equity on a GAAP basis and policyholders’ surplus on a statutory basis is as follows:
December 31

2003 2002
GAAP Statutory GAAP Statutory
(in millions)
P& GroUD . o oot $9,694.6 $6,368.1 $ 7,843.1 $4,512.2
Corporate and other . . .. ... .. .. (1,172.6) (1,017.4)
$8,522.0 $ 6,825.7

A comparison of GAAP and statutory net income (loss) is as follows:
Years Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
GAAP Statutory GAAP Statutory GAAP Statutory
(in millions)
P&C Group ... .o $1,051.7 $915.6 $303.7 $(26.7) $ 95.0 $(239.2)
Corporate and other ........... ... ... . ... ... .. (242.9) (80.8) 16.5
$ 808.8 $222.9 $111.5

{f) As a holding company, Chubb’s ability to continue to pay dividends to shareholders and to satisfy its obligations,
including the payment of interest and principal on debt obligations, relies on the availability of liquid assets in Chubb,
which is dependent in large part on the dividend paying ability of its property and casualty insurance subsidiaries.
Various state insurance laws restrict the Corporation’s property and casualty insurance subsidiaries as to the amount of
dividends they may pay without the prior approval of regulatory authorities. The restrictions are generally based on net
income and on certain levels of policyholders’ surplus as determined in accordance with statutory accounting practices.
Dividends in excess of such thresholds are considered “extraordinary’” and require prior regulatory approval. During

2003, these subsidiaries paid cash dividends to Chubb totaling $270.0 million.

The maximum dividend distribution that may be made by the property and casualty insurance subsidiaries to Chubb
during 2004 without prior approval is approximately $630 million.
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

Summarized unaudited quarterly financial data for 2003 and 2002 are shown below. In management’s opinion, the
interim financial data contain all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring items, necessary to present fairly the results
of operations for the interim periods.

Three Months Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002(a) 2003(b) 2002(c)
(in millions except for per share amounts)

REVENUES. ... veireaie e e $2,615.9 $2,105.2 $2,838.5 $2,223.5 $2,947.2 $2,364.4 $2,992.4 $2,447.2

Losses and expenses .................. 2,333.7 1,860.3 2,509.6 1,961.9 2,609.5 2,797.0 3,007.6 2,352.7

Federal and foreign income tax (creditj ... 57.6 46.7 76.8 51.4 77.9 (190.5) (87.5) 37.9

Net income {less) ................ $ 2246 $ 1982 $ 252.1 $ 2102 $ 259.8 $(242.1) $ 723 $ 566

Basic earnings {loss) per share ......... $ 132 $ 117 $ 146 $ 122 $ 1.39 $ (142) $ .39 $ 33

Diluted earnings (loss) per share ..... .. $ 131 $ 1L.i5 $ 145 $ 1.20 $ 137 $ (142) $ .38 $ .33

Underwriting ratios

Losses to premiums earned .......... 64.9% 64.4% 64.6% 66.2% 65.7% 98.8% 74.4% 70.3%

Expenses to premiums written........ 30.4 31.5 30.7 31.8 30.9 31.2 29.6% 30.9
Combined....................... 95.3% 95.9% 95.3% 98.0% 96.6% 130.0% 104.0% 101.2%

(a) In the third quarter of 2002, losses and expenses included net losses of $625.0 million {$406.3 million after-tax or $2.38 per basic and diluted
share) related to asbestos and toxic waste claims. Excluding the impact of such losses, the losses to premiums earned ratio was 68.7% and the
combined ratio was 99.9%.

(b) In the fourth quarter of 2003, losses and expenses included net losses of $250.0 million ($162.5 million after-tax or $0.86 per basic and diluted
share) related to asbestos claims. Excluding the impact of such losses, the losses to premiums earned ratio was 65.2% and the combined ratio was
94.8%. Losses and expenses also included a $96.0 million loss ($62.4 million after-tax or $0.33 per basic and diluted share) related to an
agreement that caps Chubb Financial Solutions’ exposure from two credit derivative contracts that had experienced deterioration in credit
quality. Federal and foreign income tax included a $40.0 million ($0.21 per basic and diluted share) credit for the reversal of the tax valuation
allowance established in 2002.

(c) In the fourth quarter of 2002, losses and expenses included net losses of $75.0 million ($48.7 million after-tax or $0.29 per basic and diluted
share) related to asbestos claims and a reduction in net surety losses of $88.0 million {$57.2 million after-tax or $0.33 per basic and diluted share)
resulting from the settlement of litigation related to Enron Corp. Excluding the effect of such losses, the losses to premiums earned ratio was
70.9% and the combined ratio was 101.8%. Federal and foreign income tax included a $40.0 million ($0.23 per basic and diluted share) charge to
establish a tax valuation allowance from not being able to recognize, for accounting purposes, certain U.S. tax benefits related to European losses.
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THE CHUBB CORPORATION

Schedule I

CONSOLIDATED SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS — OTHER THAN INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES

(in millions)

December 31, 2003

Amount
at Which
Ar(rszs;tti%d Market ShT}T‘? .
Type of Investment Cost Value Balance Sheet
Short term investments. .. .......... it $ 2,695.9 $ 2,695.9 $ 2,695.9
Fixed maturities
Bonds
United States Government and government agencies
and authorities . ......... ... . . . 4,014.9 4,025.8 4,023.7
States, municipalities and political subdivisions ...... 10,997.3 11,672.1 11,639.0
Foreign.... ..o 3,080.5 3,1474 3,147.4
Public utilities. ............. . ... 305.2 319.8 319.8
All other corporate bonds ......................... 3,055.6 3,226.2 3,226.2
Totalbonds .............................. 21,453.5 22,391.3 22,356.1
Redeemable preferred stocks ........................ 55.0 55.6 55.6
Total fixed maturities ..................... 21,508.5 992.446.9 22.411.7
Equity securities
Common stocks
Public utilities. ............ .. . 72.6 78.9 78.9
Banks, trusts and insurance companies.............. 175.8 177.0 177.0
Industrial, miscellaneous and other ................. 1,093.3 1211.8 1,211.8
Total common stocks ..................... 1,341.7 1,467.7 1,467.7
Non-redeemable preferred stocks .................... 39.7 46.7 46.7
Total equity securities .................... 1,381.4 1,514.4 1,514.4
Total invested assets ...................... $25,585.8 $26,657.2 $26,622.0
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THE CHUBB CORPORATION

Schedule 11

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
BALANCE SHEETS — PARENT COMPANY ONLY

(in millions)

December 31

2003 2002
(Restated)
Assets
Invested Assets
Short: Term Investments. . ... ..o e $ 7039 $ 184
Taxable Fixed Maturities — Available-for-Sale (cost $335.6 and $68.0) 337.6 71.5
Equity Securities (cost 884 and $71.0)........ ... . ... .. ... . ..., 9.5 71.3
TOTAL INVESTED ASSETS .. ... ... i 1,051.0 161.2
Cash . — 1
Investment in Consolidated Subsidiaries ......... ... ... .. ... .. .... 9.647.2 7.872.1
Investment in Partially Owned Company........................... 312.3 266.7
Net Receivable from Consolidated Subsidiaries ..................... 140.7 109.8
Other Assets ..o 189.8 206.3
TOTAL ASSETS . ... $11,341.0 $8,616.2
Liabilities
Long Term Debt ... i e $ 2,571.2 $1,616.0
Dividend Payable to Shareholders................................. 67.7 59.9
" Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities............................ 180.1 1146
- CTOTAL LIABILITIES ... ... i 2,819.0 1,790.5
Shareholders’ Equity
Preferr=d Stock — Authorized 4,000,000 Shares:
$1 Par Value; Issued — None .. ... i — —
Common Stock — Authorized 600,000,000 Shares;
$1 Par Value; Issued 195,803,824 and 180,296,834 Shares ........... 195.8 180.3
Paid-In Surplus . . ... 1,318.8 4454
Retained Earnings . ... .. i 6,868.9 6,319.0
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Unrealized Appreciation of Investments, Net of Tax............... 673.6 585.5
Foreign Currency Translation Gains (Losses), Net of Tax.......... 12.0 (56.5)
Receivable from Emplovee Stock Ownership Plan .................. (17.9) (34.1)
Treasury Stock, at Cost — 7,840,448 and 9,095,162 Shares ............ (529.2) (613.9)
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY ........................ 8,522.0 6,825.7
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY ...... $11,341.0 $8,616.2

The condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto.



THE CHUBB CORPORATION

Schedule II

(continued)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
STATEMENTS OF INCOME — PARENT COMPANY ONLY

(in millions)

Years Ended December 31

2003 2002 2001
Investment Income . ...... ... .. .. $ 480 $ 315 $ 416
Realized Investment Gains (Losses) ..........c.ooviiiiinnnn.. (2.2) 63.8 21.2
Investment Expenses . .......... i (4.5) (1.8) (1.8)
Corporate Expenses . ... e (164.1) (90.9) (62.1)
(122.8) 2.6 (1.1)
Federal and Foreign Income Tax (Credit) .................... 6.8 27.9 (19.1)
(129.6) (25.3) 18.0
Equity in Net Income of Consolidated Subsidiaries ............ 938.4 248.2 93.5
NETINCOME ... .. e $ 808.8 $222.9 $111.5

Chubb and its domestic subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income tax return. The federal
income tax (credit) represents an allocation under the Corporation’s tax allocation agreements.

The condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial

statements and notes thereto.
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THE CHUBB CORPORATION
Schedule II

(continued)
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — PARENT COMPANY ONLY
(in millions)
Years Ended December 31
2003 2002 2001

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net Income .. ... $ 808.8 $ 2229 $ 1115
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash : :
Provided by Operating Activities

Equity in Net Income of Consolidated Subsidiaries ... ... (938.4) (248.2) (93.5)
Realized Investment Losses (Gains) ................... 2.2 (63.8) (21.2)
Other, Net ... ... . i i (1.1) 111.0 25.6
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES........................ (128.5) 21.9 22.4
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from Sales of Fixed Maturities. ................. 332.6 191.7 229.2
Proceeds from Maturities of Fixed Maturities . ............ 41.0 44.6 11.9
Proceeds from Sales of Equity Securities . ................ 74.1 117.1 100.4
Purchases of Fixed Maturities . .......................... (648.3) (12.5) (195.3)
Purchases of Equity Securities .......................... (7.6) (26.8) (81.1)
Decrease (Increase) in Short Term Investments, Net ... ... (685.5) 4.1 149.8
Capital Contributions to Consolidated Subsidiaries ........ (865.0) (1,040.0) (750.5)
Dividends Received from Consolidated Insurance
Subsidiaries ...... ... ... . 270.0 240.0 240.0
Distributions Received from Consolidated Non-Insurance
Subsidiaries .......... . . — 363.9 145.9
Other, NEt . ... (16.8) (70.6) (33.2)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES . . .... (1,505.5) (188.5) (182.9)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Increase (Decrease) in Short Term Debt Issued by a

Consolidated Subsidiary .............................. —_— (199.0) 199.0
Proceeds from Issuance of Long Term Debt ........... ... 960.0 600.0 600.0
Proceeds from Common Stock Offering .............. . ... 886.8 — —_
Proceeds from Issuance of Common Stock Under

Incentive and Purchase Plans ......................... 43.8 106.0 146.8
Repurchase of Shares ............................... ... — (99.4) (555.6)
Dividends Paid to Shareholders ...................... ... (251.1) (237.6) (234.8)
Other, Net ... ... (5.6) (3.3) 5.0

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES 1,633.9 166.7 160.4
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash.......................... (.1) 1 (.1)
Cash at Beginning of Year ............ ... ... ... ... ..., 1 — 1

CASHATENDOFYEAR ......... ... ... .. $ — $ N $ —

The condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto.

In 2002, Chubb contributed $131.9 million of property, consisting of land and office buildings in
Whitehouse Station, New Jersey, to a consolidated insurance subsidiary and another consolidated
insurance subsidiary distributed its $259.1 million investment in a partially owned company, Allied
World Assurance Holdings, Ltd., to Chubb. These noncash transactions have been excluded from the
statement of cash flows.
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THE CHUBB CORPORATION
Schedule IV

CONSOLIDATED REINSURANCE
(in millions)

Years Ended December 31

Property and Casualty Insurance Premiums Earned

Percentage of

Ceded Assumed Amount

Direct to Other from Other Net Assumed

Amount Companies Companies Amount to Net

2003 ... $10,720.0 $1,631.9 $1,094.4 $10,182.5 10.7
2002 ... $ 8,743.8 $1,420.3 $ 761.8 $ 8,085.3 9.4

2000 ... $ 71258 81,003.3 $ 5339 § 66564 8.0

THE CHUBB CORPORATION
Schedule VI

CONSOLIDATED SUPPLEMENTARY PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE INFORMATION

(in millions)

Years Ended December 31

Losses and Loss

Adjustment
Expenses Incurred
Related to Paid Losses and
Current Prior Loss Adjustment
Year Years Expenses
2003 . $6,469.9 $ 397.3 $4,987.6
2002 . . $5,274.9 § 789.7 $4,432.7
2001 . $5,552.9 $(195.5) $4,399.0
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THE CHUBB CORPORATION
EXHIBITS INDEX
(Ttem 15(a))

Description

(2) — Plan of acquisition, reorganization, arrangement, liquidation or succession

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of February 6, 1999 among Executive
Risk Inc., the registrant and Excalibur Acquisition, Inc. incorporated by
reference to Exhibit (99.2) of the registrant’s Report to the Securities and
Exchange Commission on Form 8-K dated February 6, 1999.

(3) — Articles of incorporation and by-laws

Restated Certificate of Incorporation. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit (3)
of the registrant’s Report to the Securities and Exchange Commission on
Form 10-Q for the six months ended June 30, 1996.

Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation. Incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit (3) of the registrant’s Report to the Securities
and Exchange Commission on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1998.

Certificate of Correction of Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate
of Incorporation. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit (3) of the registrant’s
Report to the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-X for the year
ended December 31, 1998.

By-Laws. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit (3.1) of the registrant’s Report to
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 8-K filed on December 9,
2003.

(4) — Instruments defining the rights of security holders, including indentures

The registrant is not filing any instruments evidencing any indebtedness since
the total amount of securities authorized under any single instrument does not
exceed 10% of the total assets of the registrant and its subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis. Copies of such instruments will be furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.

Purchase Contract Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2003, between The Chubb
Corporation and Bank One Trust Company, N.A., as Purchase Contract Agent.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the registrant’s Report to the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 8-K filed on June 25, 2003.

Pledge Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2003, between The Chubb Corporation,
BNY Midwest Trust Company, as Collateral Agent, Custodial Agent and
Securities Intermediary, and Bank One Trust Company, N.A., as Purchase
Contract Agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the registrant’s
Report to the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 8-K filed on
June 25, 2003.

Warrant Agreement, dated as of December 2, 2002, between The Chubb
Corporation and Bank One Trust Company, N.A., as Warrant Agent. Incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit (4.1) of the registrant’s Report to the Securities
and Exchange Commission on Form 8-K filed on December 13, 2002.
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Description

Pledge Agreement, dated as of December 2, 2002, between The Chubb Corpora-
tion, BNY Midwest Trust Company, as Collateral Agent, Custodial Agent and
Securities Intermediary, and Bank One Trust Company, N.A., as Warrant
Agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit (4.2) of the registrant’s Report to
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 8-K filed on December 13,
2002.

Rights Agreement dated as of March 12, 1999 between The Chubb Corporation
and First Chicago Trust Company of New York, as Rights Agent. Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the registrant’s Report to the Securities and
Exchange Commission on Form 8-K filed on March 30, 1999.

(10) — Material contracts ’

The Chubb Corporation 2003 Producer Stock Incentive Plan incorporated by
reference to Annex B of the registrant’s definitive proxy statement for the
Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on April 29, 2003.

The Chubb Corporation Producer Stock Incentive Program incorporated by
reference to Exhibit (4.3) of the registrant’s Report to the Securities and
Exchange Commission on Amendment No. 2 to Form S-3 No. 333-67445 dated
January 25, 1999.

Executive Compensation Plans and Arrangements.

The Chubb Corporation Annual Incentive Compensation Plan (2001) incor-
porated by reference to Exhibit B of the registrant’s definitive proxy
statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on April 24, 2001.

The Chubb Corporation Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors
(2001) incorporated by reference to Exhibit C of the registrant’s definitive
proxy statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on April 24,
2001.

The Chubb Corporation Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (2000) incorporated
by reference to Exhibit A of the registrant’s definitive proxy statement for
the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on April 25, 2000.

The Chubb Corporation Annual Incentive Compensation Plan (1996) incor-
porated by reference to Exhibit A of the registrant’s definitive proxy
statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on April 23, 1996,

The Chubb Corporation Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (1996), as amended,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit (10) of the registrant’s Report to the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1998.

The Chubb Corporation Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors
(1996), as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit (10) of the
registrant’s Report to the Securities and Exchange Commission on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998.

The Chubb Corporation Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (1992), as amended,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit (10) of the registrant’s Report to the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1998.

The Chubb Corporation Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors
(1992), as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit (10) of the
registrant’s Report to the Securities and Exchange Commission on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998.
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Description

Non-Employee Director Special Stock Option Agreement, dated as of Decem-
ber 5, 2002, between The Chubb Corporation and Joel J. Cohen, incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit (10.1) of the registrant’s Report to the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 8-K filed on December 9,
2002.

Non-Employee Director Special Stock Option Agreement, dated as of Decem-
ber 5, 2002, between The Chubb Corporation and David H. Hoag, incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit (10.2) of the registrant’s Report to the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 8-K filed on December 9,
2002.

Non-Employee Director Special Stock Option Agreement, dated as of Decem-
ber 5, 2002, between The Chubb Corporation and Lawrence M. Small,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit (10.3) of the registrant’s Report to the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 8-K filed on December 9,
2002.

The Chubb Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors, as
amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit (10) of the registrant’s
Report to the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1998,

The Chubb Corporation Executive Deferred Compensation Plan incorporated
by reference to Exhibit (10) of the registrant’s Report to the Securities and
Exchange Commission on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998.

The Chubb Corporation Estate Enhancement Program incorporated by refer-
ence to Exhibit (10) of the registrant’s Report to the Securities and
Exchange Commission on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1999.

The Chubb Corporation Estate Enhancement Program for Non-Employee
Directors incorporated by reference to Exhibit (10) of the registrant’s
Report to the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 1999,

Executive Severance Agreement, dated as of November 16, 1998, between The
Chubb Corporation and Thomas F. Motamed, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit (10) of the registrant’s Report to the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Form 10-K for the vear ended December 31, 1998.

Executive Severance Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1997, between The
Chubb Corporation and Michael O’'Reilly, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit (10) of the registrant’s Report to the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997.

Executive Severance Agreement, dated as of December 8, 1995, between The
Chubb Corporation and John J. Degnan, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit (10) of the registrant’s Report to the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1995.

Change in Control Employment Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2002,
between The Chubb Corporation and John D. Finnegan, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit (10) of the registrant’s Report to the Securities and
Exchange Commission on Form 8-K filed on January 21, 2003.

Amendment, dated as of December 1, 2003, to Change in Control Employment
Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2002, between The Chubb Corporation
and John D. Finnegan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the
registrant’s Report to the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 8-K
filed on December 2, 2003. - o
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Description

Employment Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2002, between The Chubb
Corporation and John D. Finnegan, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit (10) of the registrant’s Report to the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Form 8-K filed on January 21, 2003.

Amendment, dated as of December 1, 2003, to Employment Agreement, dated
as of December 1, 2002, between The Chubb Corporation and John D.
Finnegan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit (10.1) of the registrant’s
Report to the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 8-K filed on
December 2, 2003.

Retirement Agreement, dated as of September 18, 2002, between The Chubb
Corporation and Dean R. O'Hare, incorporated by reference to Exhibit (10)
of the registrant’s Report to the Securities and Exchange Commission on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002,

— Computation of earnings per share included in Note (17) of the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements.

— Subsidiaries of the registrant filed herewith.
— Consent of Independent Auditors filed herewith.
— Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications.

Certification by John D. Finnegan filed herewith.
-Certification by Michael O’Reilly filed herewith.

— Section 1350 Certifications.

Certification by John D. Finnegan filed herewith.
Certification by Michael O'Reilly filed herewith.
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THE CHUBB CORPORATION

Exhibit 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Significant subsidiaries at December 31, 2003 of The Chubb Corporation, a New Jersey Corpora-
tion, and their subsidiaries (indented), together with the percentages of ownership, are set forth

below.
Place of of Securities

Company Incorporation Owned

Federal Insurance Company ........... ..t iriiannnnnnnn. Indiana 100%
Vigilant Insurance Company ......... ..., New York 100
Pacific Indemnity Company.............. .. ..., Wisconsin 100
Northwestern Pacific Indemnity Company.................. Oregon 100
Texas Pacific Indemnity Company ......................... Texas 100
Great Northern Insurance Company ..............coviiinannin. Minnesota 100
Chubb Insurance Company of New Jersey ..................... New Jersey 100
Chubb Custom Insurance Company .............c.oooiiinaannn. Delaware 100
Chubb National Insurance Company..............c.ccviienn... Indiana 100
Chubb Indemnity Insurance Company ..............coovuivnnn. New York 100
Executive Risk Indemnity Inc. ...... ... . ... . ... ... ... Delaware 100
Executive Risk Specialty Insurance Company ............... Connecticut 100
Quadrant Indemnity Company ............................ Connecticut 100
CC Canada Holdings Ltd. ......... ... oo i i, Canada 100
Chubb Insurance Company of Canada ..................... Canada 100
Chubb Insurance Company of Europe, S.A. .................... Belgium 100
Chubb Insurance Company of Australia Limited ................ Australia 100
) Chubb Argentina de Seguros, SA. ................. e .. Argentina 100
Chubb Atlantic Indemmity Ltd. ...... " o “ .( ..................... o Be?muda V lOMO
DHC Corporation ........ S R Delaware 100
Chubb do Brasil Companhia de Seguros.................... Brazil 99
Bellemead Development Corporation ............... v, Delaware 100
Chubb Capital Corporation ............. ... i, New Jersey 100
Chubb Financial Solutions, Inc. ......... ... ... ... ... ... ......... Delaware 100

Certain other subsidiaries of Chubb and its consolidated subsidiaries have been omitted since, in

the aggregate, they would not constitute a significant subsidiary.



THE CHUBB CORPORATION
Exhibit 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-3: No. 333-
67445, No. 333-74912, No. 333-101460, No. 333-104310, and Form S-8: No. 33-29185, No. 33-30020,
No. 33-49230, No. 33-49232, No. 333-09273, No. 333-09275, No. 333-58157, No. 333-67347, No. 333-36530
No. 333-85462, No. 333-90140 and Post-Effective Amendment No. 2 to Form S-4 on Form S-8 No. 333-
73073) of The Chubb Corporation and in the related Prospectuses of our report dated February 27,
2004, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedules included in this Annual
Report (Form 10-K) for the vear ended December 31, 2003.

/s/  ErNsT & Young LLP
New York, New York

March 11, 2004




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
I, John D. Finnegan, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The Chubb Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for
the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(¢) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and '

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 11, 2004

/s/  JOHN D. FINNEGAN

John D. Finnegan
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION
I, Michael O’Reilly, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The Chubb Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing. and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for
the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared,;

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

() disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 11, 2004

{s{ MiCHAEL O'REILLY

Michael O'Reilly
Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT

1, John D. Finnegan, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of The Chubb Corporation (the
“Corporation”), certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Corporation for the annual period ended Decem-
ber 31, 2003 (the “Report™) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)): and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Corporation.

Dated: March 11, 2004

/s/ JoHN D. FINNEGAN

John D. Finnegan
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT

I, Michael O’Reilly, Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer of The Chubb Corporation (the
“Corporation”), certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Corporation for the annual period ended Decem-
ber 31, 2003 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Corporation.

Dated: March 11, 2004

{5/ MicHAEL O’'REILLY

Michael O’Reilly
Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer
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